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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Annual Report") contains forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, in the sections captioned “Business,” “Risk
Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and elsewhere. Any and all statements contained in this Annual
Report that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed forward-looking statements. Terms such as “may,” “might,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “project,”
“estimate,” “pro-forma,” “predict,” “potential,” “strategy,” “anticipate,” “attempt,” “develop,” “plan,” “help,” “believe,” ”

” ” 2 <. 2 <, ” < .

continue,” “intend,” “expect,” “future,” and terms
of similar import (including the negative of any of the foregoing) may be intended to identify forward-looking statements. However, not all forward-looking statements may
contain one or more of these identifying terms. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report may include, without limitation, statements regarding (i) the plans and
objectives of management for future operations, including those relating to the design, development and commercialization of exoskeleton products for humans, (ii) the
manufacturing of our products and strengthening of our supply chain, and potential opportunities for strategic partnerships, (iii) beliefs regarding the regulatory path for our
products, including potential approvals required and timing of approvals, (iv) our future financial performance, including any such statement contained in a discussion and
analysis of our financial condition by management or in our results of operations, (v) our beliefs regarding the potential for commercial opportunities, including for
exoskeleton technology and our exoskeleton products, and for strategic partnerships, (vi) our beliefs regarding potential clinical and other health benefits of our medical
devices, (vii) the actions we will take in seeking reimbursements from Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") and the success of such actions, (viii) the
timing and amounts of CMS reimbursement, (ix) our ability to grow and expand our Ekso Indego Personal Health market as we work to grow revenue in light of Medicare
reimbursement from CMS of the Ekso Indego Personal, (x) our ability to obtain insurance coverage beyond CMS, (xi) our ability to obtain additional indications for
products that cover the Ekso Indego Personal, (xii) our ability to obtain CE certificates for our Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal devices, (xiii) our ability to
regain compliance with the Nasdaq continued listing requirements, specifically the minimum bid price requirement, (xiv) the impact and effects of the other risk factors on
our business, results of operations or prospects, and (xv) the assumptions underlying or relating to any statement described in points (i) through (xiv) above.

The forward-looking statements are not meant to predict or guarantee actual results, performance, events or circumstances and may not be realized because they are based
upon our current projections, plans, objectives, beliefs, expectations, estimates and assumptions and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties and other influences,
many of which we have no control over. Actual results and the timing of certain events and circumstances may differ materially from those described by the forward-
looking statements as a result of these risks and uncertainties. Factors that may influence or contribute to the inaccuracy of the forward-looking statements or cause actual
results to differ materially from expected or desired results may include, without limitation, the Company's ability to obtain reimbursement from CMS on a timely basis and
at acceptable levels or at all, changes in CMS reimbursement processes, delays or errors in our insurance reimbursement submissions, including to CMS, the highly
competitive markets in which the Company’s products are sold, the Company's significant losses to date and anticipated future losses, the new and unproven nature of the
market for the Company’s products, the significant length of time and resources associated with the development of the Company’s products, the long, cyclical and variable
sales cycles for the Company’s products, the factors outside the Company’s control that affect the production and sales of its products, which include but are not limited to
disruptions in the global supply chain, the costs related to and impacts of potential failure of the Company to obtain or maintain protection for the Company's intellectual
property rights, the inability to successfully consummate and integrate acquisitions, the failure of the Company to obtain or maintain regulatory approval to market the
Company's medical devices, adverse results in future clinical studies of the Company's medical device products, risks related to product liability, recall and warranty claims,
and the volatility of the market price of and limited trading in our common stock. A description of some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to
differ materially from those described by the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report appears in the section captioned “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements because of the risks and uncertainties related to them and to the risk factors. We disclaim
any obligation to update the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report to reflect any new information or future events or circumstances or otherwise,
except as required by law.

Readers should read this Annual Report in conjunction with the discussion under the caption “Risk Factors,” our financial statements and the related notes thereto in this
Annual Report, and other documents that we may file from time to time with the SEC.

Notes regarding references to Ekso Bionics

In this Annual Report, the “Company”, “we”, “its” and “our” refers to Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Ekso®, Ekso Bionics®, EksoNR™,
EVO™, EksoPulse™, Indego®, and Nomad® are registered and unregistered trademarks of the Company. All other trademarks that may appear in this Annual Report are
the property of their respective owners.
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PART 1
Item 1. BUSINESS
Company Background

Founded in 2005, we are a Nevada corporation that designs, develops, and markets exoskeleton products that augment human strength, endurance and mobility. The primary
end market for our exoskeleton technology is healthcare, where our technology primarily serves people with physical disabilities or impairments in both physical
rehabilitation and mobility.

We continue to explore business development initiatives to fuel growth and long-term value and are committed to helping people improve mobility and live healthier lives
through combining the use of technology with advanced rehabilitative programs.

Products

EksoNR

EksoNR is a wearable robotic exoskeleton specifically designed to be used in a rehabilitation setting to assist individuals recovering from both acute and chronic conditions.
A trained clinician typically uses the EksoNR to provide adjustable levels of assistance to the wearer's legs to promote proper gait, active engagement, and higher dosage.
EksoNR is cleared by the Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA") for use in a clinical setting with individuals with a spinal cord injury ("SCI"), acquired brain injury
("ABI") - including stroke and traumatic brain injuries ("TBI") - and multiple sclerosis ("MS").

Ekso Indego Therapy
Ekso Indego Therapy is a modular, adjustable, lightweight, lower-limb powered exoskeleton that can be custom-sized and fitted to patients for use in rehabilitation and
wellness applications. Ekso Indego Therapy is cleared by the FDA for use with individuals with stroke or SCI.

Ekso Indego Personal
Ekso Indego Personal is a lightweight powered lower limb orthosis that enables people with mobility impairments the opportunity to walk independently. Ekso Indego
Personal is cleared by the FDA for use with individuals with SCI levels from T3 to L5 in community or home settings.

Ekso Nomad
Ekso Nomad ("Nomad") is a power Knee Ankle Foot Orthosis, or KAFO. We expect that Nomad will continue to be available in limited volumes for non-Company-
sponsored clinical studies in 2025.

Ekso EVO

Ekso EVO ("EVOQ") is a wearable upper body exoskeleton that elevates and supports a worker's arms to assist them with tasks from chest height to overhead. EVO is
intended to reduce worker fatigue and reduce on-site injuries while boosting productivity. EVO is intended primarily for use with able-bodied individuals and has not been
registered with or evaluated by the FDA.

Services

EksoCare

For most of our products, we offer extended warranty and premium service options under our EksoCare program. EksoCare includes a comprehensive warranty, loaner
devices to minimize downtime, clinical support, access to our EksoPulse online portal to view statistics and device information gathered and transmitted during EksoNR
walking sessions, and other benefits to customers.

Device servicing and repair
For devices not covered under warranty, we offer fee-for-service repairs and maintenance. Customers may also rent loaner devices on a short-term basis if the time required
to service their device will interrupt their ongoing business.

Training
We offer a range of training programs that are aimed at demonstrating to customers how to use our products safely and effectively. Training is delivered as an online service,

in-person, or as a combination of the two. Training is often included with the purchase of a new device, but training can also be purchased separately.
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Segments

We operate as one operating and reportable segment with two markets: Enterprise Health and Personal Health. Our revenues are primarily generated through the sale and
subscription of our EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy, and Ekso Indego Personal devices, along with the sale of support and maintenance contracts. For additional information,
please refer to Note 16. Segment Disclosures in our notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Markets and Distribution

Enterprise Health Market

Our sales priority for Enterprise Health customers involves the education of clinical and executive stakeholders on the economic and clinical value of our robotic
exoskeleton portfolio, including the EksoNR and the Ekso Indego Therapy devices. In tandem, we continue to leverage our EksoNR and Ekso Indego Therapy customer
base to educate and mentor strategic target centers that specialize in stroke, TBI, MS, and SCI rehabilitation and treatment in specific geographies.

Rehabilitation treatments that can benefit from the use of our EksoNR and Ekso Indego Therapy products take place in a range of different types of facilities. These include
inpatient rehabilitation facilities ("IRF"), long-term acute care hospitals ("LTACH"), skilled nursing facilities, and outpatient rehabilitation clinics, among others. The
primary facility types we currently serve are IRFs. Among these facilities, ownership structures also vary from small independent rehabilitation centers to larger networks of
providers. Our current market focus is on the larger network providers, referred to as integrated delivery networks ("IDN"). Sales to IDNs typically involve multi-unit
transactions that can benefit from lower selling costs, better pipeline visibility, and better economies of scale.

We also market our Ekso Indego Therapy product to Enterprise Health customers to be used as a training device for users of our Ekso Indego Personal device. In such cases,
the Ekso Indego Therapy product may be offered at a discount contingent on future Ekso Indego Personal device trainings volume at that center. See "Personal Health
Market" below for additional information.

Within our Enterprise Health market we also sell our EVO product to commercial and industrial companies that are focused on solving ergonomic challenges for their
workers. These challenges range from injury prevention, fatigue reduction, and/or improved worker productivity. Sales of EVO are focused on applications that involve
repetitive work at shoulder height and above. While EVO is a general-purpose product, we currently target specific vertical markets, including aerospace, automotive,
general manufacturing, and certain construction trades.

The sales cycle in the Enterprise Health market varies but typically takes from approximately eight to 12 months for a first device and six to eight months for subsequent
devices. The typical sale of our EksoNR and Ekso Indego Therapy is a complete package, which includes the device and all relevant components, batteries for continuous
run-time, training, and certification. Some customers also purchase EksoCare at the time of a new device purchase for up to four years of coverage. The purchase rate of
EksoCare varies by country, with U.S. customers typically preferring to include it in their initial purchase. Other regions have lower rates of purchase.

In the Enterprise Health market, we offer a range of purchase options. In most cases and when capital is available, the product is sold outright to the customer as a capital
sale and the full price is invoiced to the customer after title transfers. For customers who prefer to finance the purchase of their device, we have finance partners who
facilitate such transactions. These arrangements are generally marketed as a subscription product to the end customer. Typically, in a subscription arrangement we sell the
device to the third-party financing partner who then contracts with the end customer for payment terms. In certain circumstances, we elect to maintain ownership of a
product sold as a subscription in lieu of selling it to a third-party financing partner. Subscription arrangements typically last for 12 months to 36 months.
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We distribute our products to the Enterprise Health market in all of our geographic regions through a combination of direct and indirect (distributor) channels. In the
Americas geographic region, sales are primarily made through our direct salesforce. In the Europe, the Middle East, and Africa region (“EMEA”), we sell through a
combination of direct and indirect channels, with German speaking countries handled direct, and other countries and regions served through distributors. In the Asia Pacific
region (“APAC”) we also use a combination of direct and indirect channels depending on the country.

Personal Health Market

Within the Personal Health market, we serve individual users with the Ekso Indego Personal, which is intended to provide overground ambulation in community and home
settings. The primary use case for Ekso Indego Personal is for users with SCI. Specifically, according to the National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, an estimated
305,000 individuals are currently living with SCI and another 18,000 suffer from new SCI injuries each year. For this user population, confinement to a wheelchair can
cause severe physical and psychological deterioration. As a result, the secondary medical consequences of paralysis can include difficulty with bowel and urinary tract
function, osteoporosis, loss of lean mass, gain in fat mass, insulin resistance, diabetes, and heart disease. The cost of treating these conditions is substantial. The Ekso Indego
Personal device is regulated by the FDA and the patient must have an injury level of T3 to L5 and have a support person when utilizing the device.

The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (the "VA") has an active program to provide products like Ekso Indego Personal to U.S. veterans with SCI. With 25 VA
SCI centers, the VA has the largest single network of SCI care in the United States.

Veterans who receive our products through the VA complete a screening, in-clinic training and a home trial prior to the VA purchasing a device for each eligible Veteran. We
provide products to the VA through distributors classified as Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Small Businesses (SDVOSB).

In April 2024, CMS approved a payment level of approximately $91,000 for Medicare reimbursement of the Ekso Indego Personal, which took effect on April 1, 2024. This
regulatory change has the potential to put this technology within reach of thousands of Medicare enrollees currently living with a SCI. In the short-term, with the recent
approval of CMS lump sum reimbursement for Ekso Indego Personal, there is a possibility that we will see increased demand for this device as we are able to more
economically serve the larger U.S. patient population suffering from SCI. According to the National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, approximately 57% of individuals
with SCI are enrolled in Medicare or Medicaid within five years post-injury. With Medicare reimbursement recently approved, we have begun selling products to
individuals in this market through Durable Medical Equipment suppliers ("DMEs"). DMEs typically resell products from DME manufacturers to individual users. DMEs are
responsible for the Medicare reimbursement process, which requires a physician’s prescription and evidence of medical necessity to be submitted to and approved by
Medicare before reimbursement is provided. The Company is developing a scalable go-to-market strategy through establishing and building upon relationships with national
and regional DMEs and engaging with recognized third parties who specialize in market access process refinement and claims support. Additionally, we work closely with
our extensive network of neurorehabilitation partners across the country, focusing on education efforts on appropriate patient selection and process for patients prescribed an
Ekso Indego Personal for the home and community setting. Another key part of our growth strategy is seeking insurance coverage beyond CMS and seeking additional
indications of use for our products. We believe that sales of our Personal Health products have the potential to be a significant growth driver for us as we work to gain
coverage by other insurance providers, expand the products' indications of use beyond SCI and optimize our reimbursement submission processes. See “Part —Item 1A.
Risk Factors,” specifically the risk titled “Coverage policies and reimbursement levels of third-party payers, including Medicare or Medicaid, may impact sales of our
products” for more information.

Outside of the VA and Medicare, we sell Ekso Indego Personal to individuals who pay out-of-pocket or have obtained coverage through a worker’s compensation claim. We
believe there is additional potential in EMEA and APAC for future sales to private individuals and through government-funded healthcare systems.

The sales cycle for the Ekso Indego Personal device averages eight to 12 months from the first interaction we have with the potential Ekso Indego Personal device user.

Nomad is currently for sale in limited volumes in the Personal Health market for use in a non-Company-sponsored single clinical study. Subject to clinical and patient
feedback, we expect Nomad to be more broadly available starting in 2026.

Third-Party Coverage and Payment

In our Enterprise Health and Personal Health markets, third-party payers are often involved either to pay for procedures in which our products are used or to purchase our
devices on behalf of an individual. These payment mechanisms vary by product line and are described below. Third-party payers are typically not involved in the purchase
of our EVO product.

Enterprise Health

Our customers, including inpatient and outpatient rehabilitation facilities, typically bill third-party payors for the costs and fees associated with the procedures in which our
products are used. In the U.S., in order to receive payment for the procedures performed using our products, our customers must report codes that describe the services
provided and determine the medical necessity of the service or whether the service is included in the payors’ policy. Codes used for reimbursement for procedures that
utilize our products are generic in nature and do not reference our products specifically. In the U.S. and most markets globally where we sell our products, payment for
medical services provided by our customers (collectively “providers”) is determined by the government, commercial payors (insurers), or both.
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Personal Health

Within the Personal Health market, the VA provides our products to qualified veterans for individual use. CMS and its fiscal intermediaries (Medicare Administrative
Contractors) and state Medicaid programs establish reimbursement policies for medical and surgical services at the state and federal level for the Medicare and Medicaid
programs.

In April 2024, CMS made a final pricing determination setting the reimbursement rate for the product code applicable to our Ekso Indego Personal product. This
determination allows individual users who meet the FDA approved indications, along with other criteria, to purchase a device through an authorized DME provider and be
reimbursed for 80% of the reimbursable rate.

Private third-party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own coverage and payment policies but also have their own
methods and approval processes. In some cases, individuals covered under worker’s compensation insurance have also purchased our products.

Government Regulation
U.S. Medical Device Regulation

The U.S. government regulates the medical device industry through various agencies, including but not limited to the FDA, which administers the Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act ("FDCA"). The design, testing, manufacturing, storage, labeling, distribution, advertising, and marketing of medical devices are subject to extensive
regulation by federal, state, and local governmental authorities in the United States, including the FDA, and by similar agencies in other countries. Any medical device
product that we develop must receive all requisite regulatory approvals or clearances, as the case may be, before it may be marketed in a particular country.

Our establishments in California and Ohio are registered with the FDA as a medical device manufacturer or specification developer, and all of our products, with the
exception of EVO, are listed in the FDA database as medical devices. Our bipedal lower extremity exoskeletons - EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy, and Ekso Indego Personal
- are regulated as Class II devices and thus are covered under our 510(k) clearances. Nomad is listed as a Class I device with the FDA and is exempt from premarket
notification.

In the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no reports of adverse events made to the FDA under the Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Database
relating to any of our products.

Device Classification

Unless otherwise specified by the FDA, under the FDCA, medical devices are classified into one of three classes-Class I, Class II or Class III-depending on the degree of
risk associated with each medical device and the extent of control needed to provide reasonable assurances with respect to safety and effectiveness.

Class I includes devices with the lowest risk to the patient and are those for which safety and effectiveness can be reasonably assured by adherence to a set of FDA
regulations, referred to as the General Controls for Medical Devices, which require compliance with the applicable portions of the Quality System Regulation (“QSR”),
facility registration and product listing, reporting of adverse medical events and malfunctions, and appropriate, truthful and non-misleading labeling, and promotional
materials. The FDA has issued a final rule replacing the QSR with a new regulation referred to as the Quality Management System Regulation (“QMSR”), though this final
rule is not scheduled to go into effect until February 2026. Most Class I products are exempt from the premarket notification requirements.

Class II devices are those that are subject to the General Controls, and special controls as deemed necessary by the FDA to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the device.
These special controls can include performance standards, patient registries, FDA guidance documents and post-market surveillance. Most Class II devices are subject to
premarket review and clearance by the FDA. Premarket review and clearance by the FDA for Class II devices is accomplished through the 510(k) premarket notification
process, in which the device manufacturer must demonstrate substantial equivalence to a previously cleared device, known as a predicate device. In certain cases, where no
predicate device exists, Class II devices may come to market through the de novo authorization process.

Establishments that manufacture any class of device, including manufacturers, contract manufacturers, sterilizers, repackagers and relabelers, specification developers,
reprocessors of single-use devices, remanufacturers, initial importers, and U.S. manufacturers of export-only devices, are required to register their establishments with the
FDA and provide FDA a list of the devices that they handle at their facilities.

After a device is authorized for marketing, numerous regulatory requirements continue to apply. Manufacturing processes for medical devices are required to comply with
the applicable portions of the QSR, which cover the methods and the facilities and controls for the design, manufacture, testing, production, processes, controls, quality
assurance, labeling, packaging, distribution, installation and servicing of finished devices intended for human use. The QSR also requires, among other things, maintenance
of a device master file, device history file, and complaint files. Medical device manufacturers are subject to periodic scheduled or unannounced inspections by the FDA and
other state and federal authorities, to determine compliance with the QSR and other regulations, and these inspections may include the manufacturing facilities of suppliers.
The FDA issued a final rule in February 2024 replacing the QSR with the QMSR, which now incorporates by reference the quality management system requirements of ISO
13485:2016. The FDA has stated that the standards contained in ISO 13485:216 are substantially similar to those set forth in the existing QSR. This final rule does not go
into effect until February 2026, such that presently manufacturers must comply with the QSR while they prepare to ensure compliance with the QMSR once it becomes
effective.

Failure to maintain compliance with the QSR requirements could result in the shutdown of, or restrictions on, manufacturing operations and the recall or seizure of marketed
products. The discovery of previously unknown problems with marketed medical devices, including unanticipated adverse events or adverse events of increasing severity or
frequency, whether resulting from the use of the device within the scope of its marketing authorization or off-label by a physician in the practice of medicine, could result in
restrictions on the device, including the removal of the product from the market or voluntary or mandatory device recalls.

The FDA has broad regulatory compliance and enforcement powers. Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements can result in compliance or enforcement
action by FDA, which may include any or all of the following sanctions, including warning letters, untitled letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees, and civil penalties;
repair, replacement, withdrawal, administrative detention, refunds, recall or seizure of products; operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
refusing or delaying requests for 510(k) clearance of new products or modified products; withdrawing 510(k) clearance or other authorizations; refusal to grant export
approvals; or criminal prosecution.

Other U.S. regulatory matters

Medical device companies are subject to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal government and by authorities in the states and foreign
jurisdictions in which they conduct their business, including the FDA, CMS, other divisions of the Department of Health and Human Services, the Department of Justice,
the Consumer Product Safety Commission, the Federal Trade Commission, the Occupational Safety & Health Administration, the Environmental Protection Agency, and
state and local governments.



In the United States, sales, marketing and scientific and educational programs also must comply with state and federal fraud and abuse, anti-kickback false claims,
transparency, government price reporting, anti-corruption, and health information privacy and security laws and regulations. Internationally, other governments also impose
regulations in connection with their healthcare reimbursement programs and the delivery of healthcare items and services. These laws include the following:

. the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which makes it illegal for any person, including a medical device manufacturer and DME
suppliers (or a party acting on its behalf), to knowingly and willfully solicit, receive, offer or pay any remuneration (including any
kickback, bribe or certain rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, or in return for, that is intended to
induce or reward referrals, including the purchase, recommendation, order of a medical device or DME for which payment may be
made under a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare or Medicaid. Violations are subject to civil and criminal fines and
penalties for each violation, plus imprisonment and exclusion from government healthcare programs. In addition, the government
may assert that a claim that includes items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a
false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act (“FCA”);

. the federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the FCA, which prohibit individuals or entities from, among other things,
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment or approval that are false, fictitious
or fraudulent; knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false statement or record material to a false or fraudulent
claim or obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government; or knowingly concealing or knowingly and
improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. Manufacturers can be held liable under
the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payers if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false
or fraudulent claims. DME companies that submit claims directly to payers may also be liable under the FCA for the direct
submission of such claims. The FCA also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of the
federal government alleging violations of the FCA and to share in any monetary recovery. When an entity is determined to have
violated the FCA, the government may impose civil fines and penalties for each false claim, plus treble damages, and exclude the
entity from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs;

. the federal civil monetary penalties laws, which impose civil fines for, among other things, the offering or transfer or remuneration
to a Medicare or state healthcare program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to influence the beneficiary’s
selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or supplier of services reimbursable by Medicare or a state health care program,
unless an exception applies;

. the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), which created additional federal criminal statutes that prohibit
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by
means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or
control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payer (e.g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying,
concealing or covering up by any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the
delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback
Statute, a person or entity can be found guilty of violating HIPAA without actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to
violate it;

. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“the HITECH Act”), and their
respective implementing regulations, impose requirements on certain covered healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare
clearinghouses as well as their respective business associates that perform services for them that involve the use, or disclosure of,
individually identifiable health information, relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health
information. The HITECH Act also created tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties
directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or
injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal
civil actions;

. the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act and its implementing regulations require manufacturers of drugs, devices, biological
and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with
certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS, under the Open Payments Program, information related to payments or other
transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), physician
assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, certified registered nurse anesthetists, and teaching hospitals, as well as
ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members; and

. analogous state and foreign law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws which
may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payer, including commercial insurers or patients; state laws that
require device companies to comply with the industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the applicable compliance guidance
promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential
referral sources; state and local laws that require the licensure of sales representatives; state laws that require device manufacturers
to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing
expenditures and pricing information; data privacy and security laws and regulations in foreign jurisdictions that may be more
stringent than those in the United States (such as the European Union, which adopted the General Data Protection Regulation, which
became effective in May 2018); state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many
of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts; and
state laws related to insurance fraud in the case of claims involving private insurers.

Because of the breadth of these laws, it is possible that some of our business activities could, despite efforts to comply, be subject to challenge under one or more of such
laws. Moreover, efforts to ensure that our business arrangements comply with applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental and
enforcement authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable fraud and
abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those
actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement,
monetary fines, exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, integrity and oversight agreements to resolve allegations of non-
compliance, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. In addition, the commercialization of any of our products outside the United States will also
likely subject us to foreign equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws.

United States health care reform

The commercial success of our products will depend in part on the extent to which governmental payor programs at the federal and state levels, including Medicare and
Medicaid, private health insurers, and other third-party payors provide coverage for and establish adequate reimbursement levels for our products. In the United States,
private health insurers and other third-party payors often provide reimbursement for products and services based on the level at which the government provides
reimbursement through the Medicare or Medicaid programs for such products and services. The cost containment measures that payers and providers are instituting and the
effect of any healthcare reform initiative implemented in the future could significantly reduce our revenues from the sale of our products.



Changes in healthcare policy, including changes in the implementation or the repeal of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “ACA”) in the United States,
could increase our costs, decrease our revenue and impact sales of and reimbursement and coverage for our current and future products. Since its enactment, there have been
judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. For example, in June 2021 the U.S. Supreme Court held that Texas and other challengers had no legal
standing to challenge the ACA, dismissing the case on procedural grounds without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Thus, the ACA will remain in
effect in its current form. It is possible that the ACA will be subject to judicial or Congressional challenges in the future. It is unclear how any such challenges and
healthcare measures promulgated by the Trump administration will impact the ACA, our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Federal programs also impose price controls through mandatory ceiling prices on purchases by federal agencies and federally funded hospitals and clinics. These restrictions
and limitations influence the purchase of healthcare services and products. Private payors often rely on the lead of the governmental payors in rendering coverage and
reimbursement determinations. Therefore, achieving favorable CMS coverage and reimbursement is usually a significant gating issue for successful introduction of a new
product.

Further, the increased emphasis on managed healthcare in the United States and on country and regional pricing and reimbursement controls in the European Union will put
additional pressure on product pricing, reimbursement, and utilization, which may adversely affect our future product sales and results of operations. These pressures can
arise from rules and practices of managed care groups, competition from other products, judicial decisions and governmental laws and regulations related to Medicare,
Medicaid, and healthcare reform, and pricing in general. Sales of our product candidates will depend substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the
costs of our products will be paid by health maintenance, managed care, and similar healthcare management organizations, or reimbursed by government health
administration authorities, such as Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers, and other third-party payors. Adequate third-party reimbursement may not be available to
enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment. Legislative proposals to reform healthcare or reduce costs under government
insurance programs may result in lower reimbursement for our products or exclusion of our products from coverage.

Foreign Medical Device Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we are subject to a variety of foreign regulations governing clinical trials and commercial sales and distribution of our
products in foreign countries. Regardless of the FDA’s approval requirements for a particular product, we must obtain approval of a product by the comparable regulatory
authorities of foreign countries before we can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. The requirements governing the conduct of clinical
trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from country to country.

European Union

The European Union requires that manufacturers of medical devices obtain the right to bear the “CE” conformity marking which designates compliance with existing
directives and standards regulating the design, manufacture and distribution of medical devices in member countries of the European Union. The rules for CE marking a
product are set forth in the EU Medical Device Regulation (the “EU MDR”), which replaces the EU Medical Device Directive (the “EU MDD”). The EU MDR regulations
were adopted with transitional periods that allow some products to rely on EU MDD certificates for a period of time. As a result of the EU MDR transition, some of our
products are currently CE marked with EU MDD certificates.

On February 10, 2025, we received our CE certificate from our notified body for our Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal products, finalizing our transition to
EU MDR. We currently have no regulatory restrictions on importation of our Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal products into Europe.

As of December 31, 2024, our EksoNR products continue to bear a CE mark and certificates which were obtained under EU MDD regulations. Under EU MDR rules, we
can continue to place these products on the market until December 31, 2028, provided that we adhere to certain restrictions. These restrictions include: (i) not making any
substantial changes to the products prior to EU MDR certification, (ii) implementing certain EU MDR requirements immediately, and (iii) applying for an EU MDR
conformity assessment and having a quality management system in place by May 26, 2024 and signing a written agreement with a notified body by September 26, 2024. As
of December 31, 2024, all of those conditions have been met. Our application for EU MDR with our notified body is currently pending technical review.
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Regulatory requirements in the United Kingdom (“UK”) are also changing as a result of Brexit (the UK’s withdrawal from the EU), and regulatory requirements in
Switzerland are changing as a result of the country’s withdrawal from its Mutual Recognition Agreement with the EU Commission. Complying with the EU MDR and the
evolving regulatory regimes in the UK and Switzerland require modifications to our quality management systems, additional resources in certain functions and updates to
technical files, among other changes.

Other countries

Regulations in other countries, including the requirements for approvals, certification, or clearance and the time required for regulatory review, vary by country. Certain
countries, such as Australia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, Canada, and others have their own regulatory agencies. These countries typically require regulatory approvals
and compliance that we comply with either directly or through distribution partners. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in any foreign country in which we market our
products, or failure to comply with any regulation in any foreign country in which we market our products, may negatively impact our ability to generate revenue and harm
our business.

The policies of the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted which could prevent or delay regulatory
approval of our products and could also increase the cost of regulatory compliance. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse governmental regulation
that might arise from future legislative or administrative action, either in the U.S. or abroad.

Competition

The medical technology and industrial robotics industries are characterized by intense competition and rapid technological change. Specifically, exoskeleton technology
remains in its early stages. As this field develops, we believe that we will face increased competition on the basis of product features, critical outcomes, price, services and
other factors. Our competitive position will depend on multiple, complex factors, including our ability to achieve market acceptance for our products, develop new products,
implement production and marketing plans, secure regulatory approvals for products under development and protect our intellectual property. There are a number of other
companies that are developing competitive technology and devices related to our Enterprise Health and Personal Health products.

Enterprise Health

For our Enterprise Health products, we face competition from products that target lower extremity gait therapy, ambulation, and rehabilitation in IRF, LTACH, skilled
nursing facility, and outpatient rehabilitation clinic settings. While there are multiple ways to perform lower extremity rehabilitation in these settings, the primary
competitive alternative to our products remains traditional, non-robotic therapy by a licensed physical therapist. There are also other mechanical or robotic therapy devices,
including treadmills, track-based weight support systems, end-effector devices and other exoskeletons. We believe the clinical evidence supports our claims that using Ekso
devices for lower extremity rehabilitation can result in better clinical outcomes for the patient and can help avoid or prevent fatigue and injuries to physical therapists.

Personal Health

For our Personal Health products, which are intended to provide overground mobility for physically impaired users in a home and community setting, we face competition
primarily from manual or powered wheelchairs and other traditional mobility aids. We also face competition from other lower extremity exoskeleton devices, although we
believe that few of these devices have been cleared by the FDA or other regulators for home and/or community use. Clinical evidence shows that compared to traditional
mobility aids, exoskeleton solutions, including our devices, can provide better outcomes for certain SCI users by reducing comorbidities. Comorbidities that have been
shown to benefit from exoskeleton use include improved bowl and bladder function, cardiorespiratory health, pain and spasticity, among others. Compared to other
exoskeletons in this market, we believe that our products have several advantages, including low weight, modularity, wheelchair compatibility and potentially faster
maximum walking speeds.

Supply of Components

Our EksoNR device is currently manufactured at our facility in San Rafael, California. Our Ekso Indego Therapy, Ekso Indego Personal and Ekso Nomad devices are
currently manufactured at our facility in Brecksville, Ohio, though by the end of the second quarter of 2025, we expect to complete the transfer of all final assembly of such
devices at our facility in San Rafael, California as well. We currently run one shift per day at both of our facilities and believe we have the capacity to eventually run

additional shifts should we deem it appropriate.

By the end of the first quarter of 2025, we expect to complete the transfer of partial production of our Ekso Indego Personal and Ekso Indego Therapy products to a third-
party contract manufacturing partner located in the USA.

EVO products are manufactured by a third-party contract manufacturing partner in Malaysia.
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As part of our manufacturing process, we purchase both custom and off-the-shelf components from a large number of suppliers and subject them to stringent quality
specifications and processes. Whenever possible, we seek to secure dual source suppliers for our components. Some of the components necessary for the assembly of our
products are currently provided to us by single-sourced suppliers (the only approved supply source for us among other sources). We purchase the majority of our
components and major assemblies through purchase orders rather than long-term supply agreements and do not generally plan to hold finished goods inventory in excess of
our anticipated demand.

Research and Development

We focus our engineering and research and development efforts on both improvement to existing products and services and new products and services that align with our
strategy. We believe that by investing in innovation we can expand the number of individuals whose lives are improved by the use of our products. We subscribe to a
customer-focused approach to new product development, wherein we use customer feedback and suggestions to inform development plans. Areas our engineering and

research and development teams target for improvement include enhanced functionality, improved reliability and uptime, and lower cost, among others.

Intellectual Property

We have established an extensive intellectual property portfolio that includes various U.S. patents and patent applications. The table below provides a summary of U.S.
patents by issuing status and ownership status as of December 31, 2024.

Issuing Status

Issued Pending

License Status Patents Applications
Non-Exclusively licensed to the Company 3 —
Exclusively licensed to the Company 14
Co-owned with a third party, exclusively licensed to the Company 4 —
Co-owned with a third party 3 —
Sole ownership by the Company 53 4

Total 77 5

Pending applications mean a complete application has been filed with the applicable patent authority and additional action is pending.

Many of these applications have also been filed internationally as appropriate for their respective subject matter. As of December 31, 2024, 277 applications have issued or
have been allowed as patents internationally. Our patent portfolio contains 282 cases that have issued or are in prosecution in 22 countries outside the U.S.

Our patent portfolio includes product and method type claims, since the devices that we produce and the processes performed by those devices are patentable. Our patents
encompass technologies relevant to our devices, including medical exoskeletons, commercial exoskeletons, actuators, and strength-enhancing exoskeletons. The earliest

priority date of the portfolio reaches back to 2003, and new applications may continue to be filed from time-to-time.
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Licensors include the Regents of the University of California, or UC Berkeley, and Vanderbilt University.

The license with UC Berkeley consists of two agreements and one amendment to the agreement covering ten patent cases exclusively licensed to us, nine of which have
issued and one of which remains in prosecution. Inventions covered by a further three patent applications are co-owned by us and UC Berkeley, with no license agreement
between us and UC Berkeley. As a result, UC Berkeley may license its rights in these patents to a third party. With respect to two of these co-owned patent applications, UC
Berkeley has licensed their rights in the U.S. to an unrelated third party. The third patent application will need to be fully prosecuted before it can be determined which
claims are exclusive to us (through a previous license) and which claims UC Berkeley may license to other entities.

Pursuant to the UC Berkeley License Agreements, we are required to pay a 1% royalty on sales, including sales generated by sublicenses. In addition, the UC Berkeley
License Agreements call for minimum annual payments of $50,000. We do not pay royalties to UC Berkeley on products sold or to be resold to the U.S. government.

As part of the acquisition from Parker Hannifin Corporation of certain assets related to Parker Hannifin Corporation's Human Motion Control (“HMC”) business, and
software applications, support services and cloud

environments related to such business in December 2022 (the "HMC Acquisition"), we are acquired and assumed certain intangible assets including license agreements with
Vanderbilt University.

On October 15, 2012, Parker entered a license agreement (“Exoskeleton License Agreement”) with Vanderbilt University and was granted exclusive license within the HMC
field of use to specific licensed patents and licensed software by paying a non-refundable, non-creditable license issue fee and running royalties. Subsequently, Parker
entered three amendments with Vanderbilt University and was granted license to additional patents and software from 2014 to 2019 by paying license issue fee and running
royalties. The royalties were set to be calculated at 6% of Net Sales for Licensed Patent Products (or a minimum of $250,000) and 3% of Net Sales for Licensed Software
products.

On March 1, 2022, Parker entered a license agreement (“P-H Knee License Agreement”) with Vanderbilt University and was granted exclusive license to specific licensed
patents, licensed software and copyrightable technical information by paying a non-refundable, non-creditable license issue fee and running royalties. Included in this
agreement was the right to sublicense beginning in March 2024. We will pay Vanderbilt $100,000 as the second of two payments due April 30, 2023. In addition, royalties
were set to be calculated at 3.75% of net sales of the licensed product. Beginning July 1, 2027, minimum annual royalties will be set at $75,000 (for the 12 month period
through June 30, 2028) and $100,000 for each 12 month period thereafter.

In addition to the aforementioned agreements, various other subsidized research and development agreements have been entered into with Vanderbilt covering specific work
product as articulated in those documents.

In some cases, as a result of government funding we receive, our patents have a government use license, granting the U.S. government a non-exclusive, non-transferable,
irrevocable, paid-up license for use of the inventions for or on behalf of the U.S. government, as is typical in the case of government sponsored research.

In addition, we entered into a license agreement in December of 2021 with a third party that develops technologies having utility in robotic exoskeletons from research and
development activities associated with a specific set of government funded research projects. Commencing in January 2022, we assisted with research and development
activities in exchange for access to a worldwide, royalty free, transferable, sublicensable, exclusive license to design and market products that use or incorporate the jointly-
developed technology within our target market segments.

Intellectual Property Out-Licensing

In June 2020, we entered into a non-exclusive license agreement with HAWE Hydraulik of Germany ("HAWE") for rights to develop hydraulic pumps covered by a family
of our patents. The agreement additionally includes an exclusivity option. In January 2025, HAWE notified us that they are not moving forward with the technology and
therefore were terminating the license agreement. We did not receive any royalty revenue from this license in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and do not
expect to receive any royalty revenue from this license in the future.

Clinical Evidence

Numerous research studies have been conducted focusing on safety and feasibility of exoskeletons and robotics in rehabilitation. As of February 28, 2025, a search for
“robotic exoskeleton” on PubMed, a search engine for biomedical literature and life science journal articles, garners approximately 367 unique publications. The full
portfolio of currently available and legacy Ekso exoskeletons (EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal) have been utilized in many of these protocols. The
body of research examines a wide variety of diagnoses including ABI, SCI, stroke, MS, and others. The findings of this research are overall positive and promote use of an
Ekso exoskeleton in rehabilitation to provide patient outcomes that are equal to or superior to traditional physical therapy in both the inpatient and outpatient setting. Some
of these outcomes include faster gait speed, increased gait endurance, improvements in cardiometabolic responses, enhanced quality of life, more typical gait kinematics,
increased function, and therapy session duration.

Human Capital Resources and Management

As of February 28, 2025, we had 61 full-time employees and five part-time employees, including 55 employees in the United States, nine employees in Europe, and two in
Singapore. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement and we consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

‘We endeavor to maintain a workplace that is free from discrimination or harassment on the basis of color, race, sex, national origin, ethnicity, religion, age, disability, sexual
orientation, gender identification or expression or any other status protected by applicable law. We conduct annual training to prevent harassment and discrimination and
monitor employee conduct year-round, including by providing employees with access to an anonymous whistleblower hotline to report any violations. The basis for
recruitment, hiring, development, training, compensation and advancement at the Company includes qualifications, performance, skills, and experience. We believe our
employees are fairly compensated, without regard to gender, race and ethnicity, and routinely recognized for outstanding performance and are offered training and
professional development opportunities. Our compensation program is designed to attract and retain talent. We continually assess and strive to enhance employee
satisfaction and engagement.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive office is located at 101 Glacier Point, Suite A, San Rafael, California, 94901 and our telephone number is (510) 984-1761.

We make available free of charge on or through our website our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Our internet address is

www.eksobionics.com. This website address is intended to be an inactive, textual reference only; none of the material on this website is part of this Annual Report. Copies
of our annual reports on Form 10-K will be furnished without charge to any person who submits a written request directed to the attention of our Secretary, at our offices



located at 101 Glacier Point, Suite A, San Rafael, California, 94901. The SEC maintains an internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before making a decision to invest in our common stock. Our business, results of operations, financial condition or
prospects could also be harmed by risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to us or that we currently believe are not material. If any of the risks actually occur,
our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose
all or part of your investment.

Summary of Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should consider before investing in our company, as fully described below. The principal factors and
uncertainties that make investing in our company risky include, among others:

. If we fail to manage the complex and lengthy reimbursement process, our business and operating results could be adversely
affected.

. The markets in which our products are sold are highly competitive and continue to develop, and important assumptions about the
potential market for our current and future products may be inaccurate.

. If we or our third-party manufacturers are unable to produce our products at a satisfactory quality, in a timely manner, in sufficient
quantities or at an acceptable cost, our business could be negatively impacted.

. Shortages in the materials used to manufacture our products and supply chain disruptions, including as a result of changes in trade
policies, could impact our future results.

. Coverage policies and reimbursement levels of third-party payers, including Medicare or Medicaid, may impact sales of our
products.

. The acquisition and integration of other companies, businesses, or technologies could result in operating difficulties, dilution, and
other harmful consequences.

. ‘We may not be able to enhance our product offerings through our research and development efforts.

. We have incurred significant losses to date and anticipate continuing to incur losses in the future, and we may not achieve or
maintain profitability.

. Our loan agreement imposes certain financial and operational restrictions on us, limiting the discretion of our management in
operating our business.

. Protecting our intellectual proprietary rights can be costly, and our success in doing so is not certain.

. If we fail to obtain or maintain necessary regulatory clearances or approvals for our medical device products, or if clearances or
approvals for future products or modifications to existing products are delayed or not issued, our commercial operations would be
harmed.

. Modifications to our current and our future products may require new 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals, or may require us
to cease marketing or recall the modified products until clearances are obtained.

. Our failure to meet strict post-market regulatory requirements with respect to our products could require us to pay fines, incur other
costs or even close our facilities.

. If we do not regain compliance with or continue to satisfy the Nasdaq continued listing requirements, our common stock could be
delisted from Nasdagq.

Business and Operational Risks
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If we fail to manage the complex and lengthy reimbursement process, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

The sale of our Personal Health products primarily depends on reimbursements provided by third party payors. We distribute these products to end users through the VA
hospitals. Our products are also distributed through DME suppliers, who will then pursue reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid, or private insurance providers. Our
financial condition and results of operations have been affected by coverage and reimbursement policies of these payors, which are also subject to change over time. The
reimbursement process is complex and can involve lengthy delays between the time that a product is delivered to the consumer and the time that the reimbursement amounts
are settled. Depending on the payor, we or our customers have been required to obtain certain payor-specific documentation from physicians and other healthcare providers
before submitting claims for reimbursement. Certain payors have filing deadlines and they will not pay claims submitted after such time. We have been subject to extensive
pre-payment, and may be subject post-payment, audits by governmental and private payors that have resulted in material delays and may result in refunds of monies
received or denials of claims submitted for payment under such third-party payor programs and contracts.

Operating within the CMS reimbursement environment was new to us. Our DME submitted the first Ekso Indego Personal CMS reimbursement claim in May 2024, which
claim was reimbursed in July 2024. All other ongoing CMS reimbursement claims for our devices are currently being managed through the appeals process. During the
pendency of such appeals, we decided to put a hold on selling devices to DMEs for CMS reimbursement, instead focusing on refining and improving the CMS
reimbursement process for our devices, naming National Seating & Mobility as the Company’s exclusive distributor of the Ekso Indego Personal device within the U.S.
complex rehabilitation technology industry, ramping up pilots and partnerships with both regional and national DME suppliers, and building up a sales backlog for the Ekso
Indego Personal device. At the end of February 2025, we had approximately 25 people who we believe qualify for reimbursement. We anticipate submitting those claims to
CMS over the next six to nine months, though we expect our processes and procedures to continue to be refined as we work to scale up this sales channel over time.

While we believe we have improved the CMS reimbursement processes in respect of the Ekso Indego Personal devices, such efforts may be unsuccessful, as the CMS and
similar reimbursement processes are complex and we have no guarantees of success for any existing or future claims, and any claim, even if successful, may be materially
delayed.

The markets in which our products are sold are highly competitive and continue to develop, and important assumptions about the potential market for our current and
future products may be inaccurate.

We face competition within the medical devices and industrial robotics markets on the basis of product features, clinical outcomes, price, services and other factors. Our
competitive position will depend on multiple, complex factors, including our ability to achieve market acceptance for our products, develop new products, implement
production and marketing plans, secure regulatory approvals for products under development and protect our intellectual property. Competitors may offer, or may attempt to
develop, more efficacious, safer, cheaper, or more convenient alternatives to our products, including alternatives that could make the need for robotic exoskeletons obsolete.
The entry into the market of manufacturers located in low-cost manufacturing locations may also create pricing pressure, particularly in developing markets. Our future
success depends, among other things, upon our ability to compete effectively against current technology, as well as to respond effectively to technological advances, and
upon our ability to successfully implement our marketing strategies and execute our research and development plan. If customers do not perceive our product offerings to be
of value or to be easy and comfortable to use, we may not be able to attract and retain customers. If we are unable to successfully retain existing customers and attract new
customers and achieve volume sales of our products, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results will be materially and adversely affected.

Our business strategy is based, in part, on our estimates of the number of individuals with physical limitations and disability, and it considers the occurrence of strokes,
TBIs, SCIs and MS in our target markets and the percentage of those groups that would be able to use our current and future products. Limited sources exist to obtain
reliable market data with respect to the number of mobility-impaired individuals and the occurrences of ABIs, SCIs and strokes in our target markets. In addition, we are not
aware of any third-party reports or studies regarding the percentage of patients with limited mobility and/or SCIs who are able to use exoskeletons, in general, or our current
or planned future products, in particular. Our assumptions regarding our addressable markets may be inaccurate and may change. If our estimates of our current or future
addressable market are incorrect, our business may not develop as we expect, and the price of our common stock may suffer.

Furthermore, the markets for medical and industrial robotic exoskeletons are continuing to develop. We cannot be certain that the markets for robotic exoskeletons will
continue to develop as we expect, or that robotic exoskeletons for medical or industrial use will achieve widespread market acceptance. Additionally, the development of
new or improved products, processes or technologies by other companies may render our products or proposed products less competitive or obsolete. The use of robotic
devices is not universally accepted in the rehabilitation community and may never be. Current or future clinical trials and studies may not provide sufficient data that the
rehabilitation community interprets to support the use of exoskeletons in rehabilitation. Any of these outcomes could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and operating results and prospects.

If we or our third-party manufacturers are unable to produce our products at a satisfactory quality, in a timely manner, in sufficient quantities or at an acceptable cost,
our business could be negatively impacted.

In order to reduce manufacturing costs, we intend to transition a significant amount of our manufacturing processes to third parties. Reliance on third parties to manufacture
our products presents significant risks to us, including the potential that manufacturing costs may be higher than if we had kept manufacturing in house, as well as risks of
reduced control over delivery schedules and product reliability, manufacturing deviations from internal and regulatory specifications, failure of a manufacturer to perform its
obligations to us for technical, market or other reasons, misappropriation of our intellectual property, and other risks in meeting schedules and satisfying requirements of our
customers.
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We have not entered into any long-term manufacturing or supply agreements for any of our products, and we may need to enter into additional agreements for the
commercial development, manufacturing and sale of our products. There can be no assurance that we can do so on favorable terms, if at all.

Our products have been produced in quantities, and on timelines, sufficient to meet commercial demand and for us to satisfy our delivery schedules. However, our
dependence upon others for the production of a portion of our products, or for a portion of the manufacturing process, may adversely affect our ability to satisfy demand, as
well as to develop and commercialize new products, on a timely and competitive basis. If manufacturing capacity is reduced or eliminated at one or more of our third-party
manufacturers’ facilities, we could have difficulties fulfilling our customer orders, which could adversely affect customer relationships, and our net revenues and results of
operations could decline.

Shortages in the materials used to manufacture our products and supply chain disruptions, including as a result of changes in trade policies, could impact our future
results.

Due to a variety of factors, various materials we and the third-party manufacturers we rely on use to manufacture our products are currently, or may in the future, experience
shortages and supply chain disruptions, including from shipping delays. Electronic components in general, battery cells, metals and plastics, all of which we use in our
products, have, in the recent past, been in shorter supply compared to prior periods. Numerous factors, such as conflicts in the Middle East and Europe or further trade
tensions between the United States and China, may prolong or deepen these challenges. Our operating results may be negatively impacted if global supply chains of
semiconductors and other important commodities recur in the future.

Additionally, we may experience shortages and supply chain disruptions as a result of changes in domestic and international trade policies, including the imposition of
higher tariffs on imports from various countries from which we procure raw materials and components to support the manufacturing and sale of our products, as well as
retaliatory tariffs imposed by other countries. These tariffs could lead to increased costs for raw materials and components, which may not be fully passed on to our
customers, thereby reducing our profit margins. Additionally, retaliatory tariffs could adversely affect our export sales. Such changes in trade policies may lead to supply
chain disruptions and material shortages, which could adversely affect our financial results.

The uncertainty surrounding future trade policies and potential further tariff increases could also impact our strategic planning and investment decisions. We may need to
adjust our sourcing strategies, explore alternative suppliers or consider other international contract manufacturer partners, all of which could cause us to incur substantial
costs and face operational challenges. Furthermore, prolonged trade tensions and the potential for a trade war could lead to broader economic instability, affecting consumer
confidence and demand for our products. We are actively monitoring developments in trade policies and are prepared to take necessary actions to mitigate these risks, but
there can be no assurance that our efforts will be successful.

Coverage policies and reimbursement levels of third-party payers, including Medicare or Medicaid, may impact sales of our products.

To the extent that the adoption of our products by our customers is dependent in the future on their ability to obtain adequate reimbursement for the products or treatments
provided using our product from third-party payers, including government payors such as Medicare and Medicaid, managed care organizations and commercial payors, the
coverage policies and reimbursement levels of these third-party payers may impact the decisions of healthcare providers, facilities, or end users to purchase our products or
the prices they would be willing to pay for those products. Reimbursement rates could also affect the acceptance rates of new technologies. We have no control over these
factors.

In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medical products are typically made by CMS. CMS decides whether and to what extent a new
product will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree. Because there is no uniform policy of coverage and
reimbursement in the United States, each payor generally determines for its own enrollees or insured patients whether to cover or otherwise establish a policy to reimburse
our diagnostic tests, and seeking payor approvals is a time-consuming and costly process. Our business plan related to our Ekso Indego Personal product depends in a large
part on sales of our Ekso Indego Personal product to individuals with SCI who are covered by third-party payers, including Medicare or Medicaid.

If CMS delays or cancels reimbursement decisions, or materially changes the reimbursement level it has set, our ability to sell into this market may be diminished. In
addition, the policies affecting the implementation of individual reimbursement decisions are made by regional DME MACs. Certain policies are not yet known to us and
may affect the number of individual purchases that are approved to receive reimbursement in the future. In addition, we may not be able to obtain insurance coverage
beyond CMS. We cannot be certain that coverage for our current and our planned future products will be provided in the future by additional payors or that existing
agreements, policy decisions or reimbursement levels will remain in place, remain adequate, or be fulfilled under existing terms and provisions. If we cannot obtain
coverage and adequate reimbursement from private and governmental payors such as Medicare and Medicaid for our current products or new products that we may develop
in the future, demand for such products may decline or may not grow as we expect, which could limit our ability to generate revenue and have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

The coverage and reimbursement market may be additionally impacted by future legislative changes. There are increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors in
the United States and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare costs which may cause such organizations to limit both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly
approved products and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our products. Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. presidential executive
orders, Congressional inquiries, and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug and medical device
pricing, reduce the cost under Medicare, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement
methodologies. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our products due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing
influence of health maintenance organizations, cost containment initiatives and additional legislative changes.

The acquisition and integration of other companies, businesses, or technologies could result in operating difficulties, dilution, and other harmful consequences.

We may selectively pursue strategic acquisitions, any of which could be material to our business, operating results, and financial condition. Future acquisitions could divert
management’s time and focus from operating our business. In addition, integrating an acquired company, business or technology is risky and may result in unforeseen
operating difficulties and expenditures associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization and integrating each company’s accounting,
management information, human resources and other administrative systems to permit effective management. The anticipated benefits of future acquisitions may not
materialize, including our ability to expand our product offerings as a result of overlap in the addressable market for our existing products and the addressable market for
products we may acquire. Future acquisitions or dispositions could result in potentially dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent
liabilities, amortization expenses, or write-offs of goodwill and intangible assets, any of which could harm our financial condition. Future acquisitions may also require us to
obtain additional financing, which may not be available on favorable terms or at all.
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We may not be able to enhance our product offerings through our research and development efforts.

In order to increase our sales and our market share in the exoskeleton market, we continue to invest in our research and development efforts and product offerings in
response to the evolving demands of people with lower extremity impairment, other medical conditions and healthcare providers, as well as competitive technologies. We
may decide to invest our business development resources in partnerships, licensing agreements, business acquisition, distribution arrangements, and other ways that will
provide us new product offerings without significant research and development activities. We may not be successful in developing, obtaining regulatory approval for, or
marketing our currently proposed products, or our approved products for additional indications, products proposed to be created in the future or products that will be
available for us through business acquisitions and distribution arrangements. In addition, notwithstanding our market research efforts, our future products may not be
accepted by consumers, their caregivers, healthcare providers or third-party payors who reimburse consumers for our products. The success of any proposed product
offerings will depend on numerous factors, including our ability to:

. identify the product features that people with lower extremity impairment, their caregivers, and healthcare providers are seeking in a medical device that restores
mobility and successfully incorporate those features into our products;

. identify the product features that people with lower extremity impairment or other similar indications require while the products are used at home as well as what
items are valuable to the clinics that provide them rehabilitation;

. develop and introduce proposed products in sufficient quantities and in a timely manner;

. adequately protect our intellectual property and avoid infringing upon the intellectual property rights of third-parties;

. demonstrate the safety, efficacy, and health benefits of proposed products; and

. obtain the necessary regulatory clearances and approvals for proposed products.

If we fail to generate demand by developing products that incorporate features desired by consumers, their caregivers or healthcare providers, or if we do not obtain
regulatory clearance or approval for proposed products in time to meet market demand, we may fail to generate sales sufficient to achieve or maintain profitability. We have
in the past experienced, and we may in the future experience, delays in various phases of product development, including during research and development, manufacturing,
limited release testing, marketing, and customer education efforts. Such delays could cause customers to delay or forgo purchases of our products, or to purchase our
competitors’ products. Even if we are able to successfully develop proposed products when anticipated, these products may not produce sales in excess of the costs of
development, and they may be quickly rendered obsolete by changing consumer preferences or the introduction by our competitors of products embodying new
technologies or features.

We will experience long and variable sales cycles.

The EksoNR and Ekso Indego Therapy products have a lengthy sale and purchase order cycle because it is a major capital expenditure item and generally requires the
approval of senior management at purchasing institutions. Ekso Indego Personal likewise can have a long sales cycle due to the complexity of the sales channel and lengthy
approval process by CMS contractors. Such delays may contribute to substantial fluctuations in our quarterly operating results.

International sales of our products are subject to factors outside of our control.

Our business currently depends in part on our activities in the EMEA, APAC, and other foreign markets. Our international activities are subject to a number of risks inherent
in selling and operating abroad, including failure of local laws to provide the same degree of protection against infringement of our intellectual property rights; protectionist
laws and business practices that favor local competitors, which could slow our growth in international markets; the expense of establishing facilities and operations in new
foreign markets; building an organization capable of supporting geographically dispersed operations; challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences;
challenges caused by differences in legal regulations, markets, and customer preferences, which may limit our ability to adapt our products or succeed in other regions;
multiple, conflicting, and changing laws and regulations, including complications due to unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, foreign laws, tax schemes,
international import and export legislation, trading and investment policies, exchange controls and tariff and other trade barriers; foreign tax consequences; fluctuations in
currency exchange rates and foreign currency translation adjustments; foreign exchange controls that might prevent us from repatriating income earned outside the United
States; imposition of public sector controls; differing payer reimbursement regimes, governmental payers or patient self-pay systems and price controls; political, economic
and social instability; and restrictions on the export or import of technology.

In addition, policy changes that result in increased international sales may not continue or may increase cyclicality of our sales cycles. For example, [due to local policy
changes,] we saw increased sales in France in 2024. Such increased sales are expected to be limited to 2024 and future periods when such devices may be replaced in the
future, to the extent [such policy changes] remain in effect.

We may never complete the development of any of our proposed products or product improvements into marketable products.

We do not know when or whether we will successfully complete the development of the planned development-stage or next generation exoskeletal technologies, or any
other proposed, developmental, or contemplated product for any of our target markets. We continue to seek to improve our technologies before we are able to produce a
commercially viable product. For example, we have developed and are continuing to evaluate our Nomad product in the clinical setting. While we expect to begin broadly
selling the Nomad product beginning in 2026, we may be unsuccessful in our clinical efforts or receive negative patient feedback, which may delay such rollout or result in
us abandoning the Nomad product altogether.

Failure to improve any of our technologies could delay or prevent their successful development for any of our target markets. Developing any technology into a marketable
product is a risky, time-consuming and expensive process. You should anticipate that we will encounter setbacks, discrepancies requiring time-consuming and costly
redesigns and changes and that there is the possibility of outright failure. We may not meet our product development, manufacturing, regulatory, commercialization and
other milestones.

We have historically relied, and in the future may rely, on sales of our EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal for a significant portion of our
revenue.

We currently rely, and in the future will rely, on sales of our EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal for a large portion of our revenue. These products are
relatively new, and market acceptance and adoption depends on educating people with lower extremity impairment, physical therapists and other clinicians as to the distinct
features, ease-of-use, improved quality of life and other benefits when compared to alternative therapies. These products may not be perceived to have sufficient potential
benefits compared with their alternatives. In addition, physical therapists and other clinicians may be slow to change their treatment practices because of perceived liability
risks arising from the use of new products. Accordingly, physical therapists and other clinicians may not recommend these products until there is sufficient evidence to
convince them to alter the treatment methods they typically recommend. Such evidence may include endorsements from prominent healthcare providers or other key leaders
in the lower extremity impairment and neurological impairment communities attesting to the effectiveness of these products in providing identifiable immediate and long-
term quality of life benefits, and the publication of peer-reviewed clinical studies demonstrating their value. Any factors that negatively impact sales of these products would
adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
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We rely on independent distributors for the sale and marketing of our products in certain geographies.

In non-German-speaking countries in Europe, other countries in EMEA, and countries in APAC except Singapore, we rely on independent distributors to distribute and
assist us with the marketing and sale of our products. These distributors are our principal customers, and revenue growth will depend in large part on our success in
establishing and maintaining this sales and distribution channel. If any of our key independent distributors were to cease to distribute our products, our sales could be
adversely affected. Further, our independent distributors fail to comply with their regulatory requirements, that could prevent them from marketing and selling our products.
In such situations, we may need to seek alternative independent distributors or increase our reliance on our other independent distributors or our direct sales representatives,
which may not prevent our sales from being adversely affected.

Our success depends on our g t team, and on our ability to hire, train, retain, and motivate employees.

Our success depends on our management team and on our ability to identify, hire, train and retain highly qualified managerial, technical and sales and marketing personnel.
Any significant leadership change and accompanying senior management transition, and the hiring of other new leaders in key roles, involves inherent risk and any failure
to ensure a smooth transition could hinder our strategic planning, execution and future performance. In addition, as we introduce new products or services, we will need to
hire additional personnel. Competition for personnel with the required knowledge, skill and experiences has, from time to time, been intense, particularly in the San
Francisco Bay area, where we are headquartered, and we may not be able to attract, assimilate or retain such personnel. The inability to attract and retain the necessary
managerial, technical and sales and marketing personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Shutdowns of the U.S. federal government could materially impair our business and financial condition.

Development of our product candidates or regulatory approval may be delayed for reasons beyond our control. For example, in 2018 and 2019 the U.S. government shut
down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, had to furlough critical FDA, SEC, and other government employees and stop critical
activities. [Also, if the U.S. government cannot reach a new spending agreement by March 14, 2025, the U.S. government will shut down again.] If a prolonged government
shutdown or budget sequestration occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business. In addition, while CMS reimbursement is considered an essential service and is thus less likely to be affected, other administrative
functions within CMS could be affected, including as a result of the executive and congressional branches of the U.S. government being unable to reach a resolution on the
deployment of the federal government’s funds]. Further, in our operations as a public company, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public
markets, such as through the declaration of effectiveness of registration statements and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

Damage to our brand and reputation could have an adverse effect on our business and financial performance.

One of our largest assets is the value of our brands, which is directly linked to our reputation. We must protect our reputation in order to continue to be successful and to
grow the value of our brands. Negative publicity directed at any of our brands, regardless of factual basis, such as, relating to product quality, service quality, customer
complaints or litigation alleging deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture of our products, adverse events made to the FDA under the Manufacturer and User Facility
Device Experience Database relating to any of our products, or any other adverse event involving our products, any failure to comply with applicable regulations or
standards, allegations of harassment, or other negative publicity, could damage our reputation. Negative publicity about us could harm our reputation and damage the value
of our brands, which could materially and adversely affect our financial performance.

We may not be able to reduce the cost to manufacture or service our products as planned.

Our business plan assumes that exoskeletons can be manufactured more inexpensively than they are currently being manufactured. However, we have not yet found a way
to significantly reduce the manufacturing cost of our products and doing so may prove more difficult than expected or even impossible. For example, if expectations for
greater functionality of the products drive costs up as other factors drive costs down, the result may be that the overall cost of manufacturing the product stays the same or
even increases. Likewise, we currently provide service and support of our products for our customers at a high standard (both in and out of warranty), and plan on
continuing to do so. Our business plan also assumes that as we continue to improve our product, we achieve improved levels of product reliability and decreased service
cost and frequency, which also may prove more difficult than expected.

Financial & Accounting Risks
We have incurred significant losses to date and anticipate continuing to incur losses in the future, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability.

We have thus far been largely dependent on capital raised through the sale of equity securities in various public and private offerings, and we have incurred losses in each
fiscal year since our incorporation in 2005. Our net losses were $11.3 million and $15.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $250.5 million and $239.2 million, respectively.

The operation of our business and our growth efforts will require significant cash outlays to support our operations. We believe we have sufficient resources to operate for
the foreseeable future based upon our current cash resources, expected rate of cash to be used for operations assuming modest increases in current revenue and operating
expenses remaining flat, and cash required to satisfy debt obligations. However, unless we are able to generate significant revenues from sales, we will not be able to
achieve or maintain profitability in the near future or at all, and we will remain largely dependent on capital raised from past and future financings to implement our
business plan, support our operations and service our debt obligations. Our lack of profitability may depress our stock price, and if we are unable to become profitable, we
may be required to reduce the scope of our business development activities, which could harm our business plans, financial condition and operating results, or to cease our
operations entirely.

Our loan agreement imposes certain financial and operational restrictions on us, limiting the discretion of our management in operating our business.

Our loan agreement with Banc of California, which we entered into in August 2020 (the "BoC Loan Agreement"), contains, subject to certain carve-outs, various restrictive
covenants that limit our management's discretion in operating our business. In particular, these instruments limit our ability to, among other things, hold cash outside Banc
of California, incur additional debt, grant liens on assets, sell or acquire assets outside the ordinary course of business, pay dividends and make certain fundamental business
changes. Our obligations, which become due in August 2026, are also secured by a security interest in all of our assets, exclusive of intellectual property. As a result, we
may need to use our capital resources to repay the BoC Loan in order to undertake certain financing or strategic transactions.

We may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to service our debt obligations and operate our business.

As described in Note 9. Notes Payable, net to the consolidated financial statements, we have material near-term indebtedness due to the BoC Loan Agreement and the $5
million unsecured, subordinated promissory note (the “Promissory Note””) we delivered to Parker Hannifin Corporation in connection with the HMC Acquisition.

Servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash. While we anticipate that we will have adequate cash resources to fund our operations and satisty our debt
obligations, our ability to generate sufficient cash depends on numerous factors beyond our control and our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operating
activities. Our ability to make payments on, and refinance, our debt and fund planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. To some
extent, this is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control, including rising interest rates.
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We cannot assure our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to fund our liquidity
needs.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to service our indebtedness, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell assets or product lines,
seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt
service obligations. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any
refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations.

We might not be able to continue as a going concern.

Our audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024 have been prepared under the assumption that we will continue as a going concern for the next
twelve months. As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and restricted cash of $6.5 million and an accumulated deficit of $250.5 million. We do not believe that our cash and
restricted cash are sufficient to fund our operations for the next 12 months. We will need to increase revenues substantially beyond levels that we have attained in the past in
order to generate sustainable operating profit and sufficient cash flows to continue doing business without raising additional capital from time to time. As a result of our
expected operating losses and cash burn for the foreseeable future and recurring losses from operations, if we are unable to raise sufficient capital through additional debt or
equity arrangements, there will be uncertainty regarding our ability to maintain liquidity sufficient to operate our business effectively, which raises substantial doubt as to
our ability to continue as a going concern. If we cannot continue as a viable entity, our stockholders would likely lose most or all of their investment in us.

If we are unable to generate sustainable operating profit and sufficient cash flows, then our future success will depend on our ability to raise capital. We are seeking
additional financing and evaluating financing alternatives in order to meet our cash requirements for the next 12 months. We cannot be certain that raising additional capital,
whether through selling additional debt or equity securities or obtaining a line of credit or other loan, will be available to us or, if available, will be on terms acceptable to us.
If we issue additional securities to raise funds, these securities may have rights, preferences, or privileges senior to those of our common stock, and our current stockholders
may experience dilution. If we are unable to obtain funds when needed or on acceptable terms, we may be required to curtail our current product development programs, cut
operating costs, forego future development and other opportunities or even terminate our operations.

We may not be able to leverage our cost structure or achieve better margins.

Due to the early-stage customer adoption of our products, our current sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative expenses are each a
higher percentage of sales than they will need to be for us to reach profitability. While we do expect these expenses to grow as our business grows, we also expect these
expenses to decline as a percentage of revenues over time. If we are unable to leverage these costs and grow revenues at a greater pace than these operating expenses as we
expect, we will not be able to achieve viable operating margins and profitability.

We could fail to maintain effective internal control over our financial reporting.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to include in our annual reports on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q an assessment by
management of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. While we believe that the policies, processes and procedures we have put in place will be
sufficient to maintain the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, our initiatives may not prove successful. If so, management may not be able to
conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. This could result in a loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which in
turn could negatively affect the price of our common stock. In addition, we must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial
reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404. Our compliance with Section 404
may require that we incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant management efforts.
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Intellectual Property Risks
Protecting our intellectual proprietary rights can be costly, and our success in doing so is not certain.

Our long-term success largely depends on our ability to market technologically competitive products. Failure to protect or to obtain, maintain or extend adequate patent and
other intellectual property rights could have a material adverse impact on our competitive advantage and impair our business. Our issued patents may not be sufficient to
protect our intellectual property and our patent applications may not result in issued patents. Even if our patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form
that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors
may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner or may challenge the validity of our patents.
Our attempts to prevent third parties from circumventing our intellectual property and other rights ultimately may be unsuccessful. We may also fail to take the required
actions or pay the necessary fees to maintain any of our patents that issue.

Furthermore, we have not filed applications for all of our inventions internationally and may not be able to prevent third parties from using our proprietary technologies or
may lose access to technologies critical to our products in other countries. These include, in some cases, countries in which we are currently selling products and countries
in which we intend to sell products in the future.

Intellectual property litigation and infringement claims could cause us to incur significant expenses or prevent us from selling certain of our products.

The industries in which we operate, including, in particular, the medical device industry, are characterized by extensive intellectual property litigation and, from time to
time, we might be the subject of claims by third parties of potential infringement or misappropriation. Regardless of outcome, such claims are expensive to defend and
divert the time and effort of our management and operating personnel from other business issues. A successful claim or claims of patent or other intellectual property
infringement against us could result in our payment of significant monetary damages and/or royalty payments or negatively impact our ability to sell current or future
products in the affected category and could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition or results of operations.

Because competition in our industry is intense, competitors may infringe or otherwise violate our issued patents, patents of our licensors or other intellectual property. To
counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. Any claims we assert against
perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents. In addition, in a patent infringement proceeding, a
court may decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, construe the patent’s claims narrowly, or refuse to stop the other party from using the
technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our
patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. We may also elect to enter into license agreements in order to settle patent infringement claims or to resolve
disputes prior to litigation, and any such license agreements may require us to pay royalties and other fees that could be significant. Furthermore, because of the substantial
amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by
disclosure.

Some of the patents and patent applications in the intellectual property portfolio are not within our complete control, which could reduce the value of such patents.

Some of our U.S. patents (which have associated international patents and applications) that cover our commercial products are co-owned by UC Berkeley. UC Berkeley
has exclusively licensed its rights under many of these patents to us, but we do not have an exclusive license to UC Berkeley’s rights under three of these patents.

UC Berkeley has licensed their U.S. rights in two of these three co-owned patents to an unrelated third-party.

The third patent is a continuation-in-part of a patent that UC Berkeley has licensed to us. Under the terms of the relevant license agreement between us and UC Berkeley, we
have exclusive rights to any claims that are fully supported by the specification in the parent application. However, any claims that are not based on the specification in the
parent application are co-owned by UC Berkeley and us, and UC Berkeley’s rights in respect of such claims are not exclusively licensed to us. There is no assurance that we
will be able to obtain a license to UC Berkeley’s rights in any such claims on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and UC Berkeley may choose to license its rights to
third parties instead of us.
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If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license intellectual property rights from third-parties or otherwise experience disruptions to
our business relationships with our licensors, we could lose intellectual property rights that are important to our business.

We are a party to two exclusive license agreements with UC Berkeley, covering ten patents exclusively licensed to us. In addition, we are party to two license agreements
with Vanderbilt University. We may also need to obtain additional licenses from others to advance our research and development activities or allow the commercialization of
our devices or any other devices we may identify and pursue. Our license agreements with UC Berkeley and Vanderbilt University impose various development, diligence,
commercialization, and other obligations on us, and any future license agreements may impose similar or other obligations on us. For example, under our license agreements
with UC Berkeley and Vanderbilt University, we must satisfy specified minimum annual royalty payment obligations. In spite of our efforts, our licensors might conclude
that we have materially breached our obligations under such license agreements and might therefore terminate the license agreements, thereby removing or limiting our
ability to develop and commercialize products and technology covered by these license agreements. If our license agreements with UC Berkeley or Vanderbilt University are
terminated, competitors or other third parties would have the freedom to seek regulatory approval of, and to market, products that may be identical or functionally similar to
our devices and we may be required to cease our development and commercialization of such devices. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our
competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects.

Moreover, disputes may arise between us and our counterparties, including with our non-Company-sponsored single clinical study partner for our Nomad product, regarding
intellectual property subject to a licensing agreement, including the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues; the extent to
which our devices, technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement; the sublicensing of patent and
other rights under our collaborative research and development relationships; our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence
obligations; the ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us and our partners; and the
priority of invention of patented or patentable technology. In addition, certain provisions in our license agreements with UC Berkeley and Vanderbilt University may be
susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights
to the relevant intellectual property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the agreement, either of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreover, if disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed
prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements on commercially acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and
commercialize the affected devices, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our devices for an adequate amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its earliest U.S. non-
provisional filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering our devices are
obtained, once the patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and
regulatory review of new devices, patents protecting such devices might expire before or shortly after such devices are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed
patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance Risks

If we fail to obtain or maintain necessary regulatory clearances or approvals for our medical device products, or if clearances or approvals for future products or
modifications to existing products are delayed or not issued, our commercial operations would be harmed.

Our EksoNR, Ekso Indego, and Nomad products are medical devices and are regulated by the FDA, the European Union and other governmental authorities both inside and
outside of the United States. These agencies enforce laws and regulations that govern the development, testing, clinical trials, manufacturing, labeling, advertising,
marketing and distribution, recordkeeping, recalls and field safety corrective actions, and market surveillance of our medical products. Our failure to comply with these
complex laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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In the United States, before we can market a new medical device, or a new use of, new claim for or significant modification to an existing product, we must first receive
either clearance under Section 510(k) of the FDCA or approval of a premarket approval ("PMA") application from the FDA, unless an exemption applies. Both the PMA
and the 510(k) clearance process can be expensive, lengthy and uncertain. The FDA’s 510(k) clearance process may take anywhere from several months to over a year. The
process of obtaining a PMA is much more costly and uncertain than the 510(k) clearance process and generally takes from one to three years, or even longer, from the time
the application is filed with the FDA. In addition, PMA generally requires the performance of one or more clinical trials.

The FDA also has substantial discretion in the medical device review process. Despite the time, effort and cost, we cannot assure you that any particular device will be
approved or cleared by the FDA. Any delay or failure to obtain necessary regulatory approvals could harm our business. Failure can occur at any stage, and we could
encounter problems that cause us to repeat or perform additional development, standardized testing, pre-clinical studies and clinical trials. Any delay or failure to obtain
necessary regulatory approvals could harm our business.

The FDA or other non-U.S. regulatory authorities can delay, limit or deny clearance or approval of a medical device candidate for many reasons, including a medical device
candidate may not be deemed to be substantially equivalent to a device lawfully marketed either as a grandfathered device or one that was cleared through the 510(k)
premarket notification process; a medical device candidate may not be deemed to be substantially equivalent to a device lawfully marketed either as a grandfathered device
or one that was cleared through the 510(k) premarket notification process; a medical device candidate may not be deemed to be in conformance with applicable standards
and regulations; FDA or other regulatory officials may not find the data from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials or other product testing date to be sufficient; other non-
U.S. regulatory authorities may not approve our processes or facilities or those of any of our third-party manufacturers, thereby restricting export; or the FDA or other non-
U.S. regulatory authorities may change clearance or approval policies or adopt new regulations.

Even after regulatory clearance or approval has been granted, a cleared or approved product and its manufacturer are subject to extensive regulatory requirements relating to
manufacturing, labeling, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising and promotion, recordkeeping, and recalls and field safety corrective actions of the
product. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements of the FDA or other non-U.S. regulatory authorities, or if previously unknown problems with our products or
manufacturing processes are discovered, we could be subject to administrative or judicially imposed sanctions, including restrictions on the products, manufacturers or
manufacturing process; adverse publicity; adverse inspectional observations (Form 483), warning letters, non-warning letters incorporating inspectional observations;
consent decrees; civil or criminal penalties or fines; injunctions; product seizures, detentions or import bans; voluntary or mandatory product recalls and publicity
requirements; suspension or withdrawal of regulatory clearances or approvals; total or partial suspension of production; imposition of restrictions on operations, including
costly new manufacturing requirements; refusal to clear or approve pending applications or premarket notifications; and import and export restrictions.

If imposed on us, any of these sanctions could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our products and operations are subject to extensive government regulation and oversight in the United States and other countries where we commercialize our
medical devices.

Medical devices regulated by the FDA are subject to “general controls” which include: registration with the FDA; listing commercially distributed products with the FDA;
complying with all applicable requirements under the QSR, or QSMR when its goes into effect in February 2026; filing reports with the FDA of and keeping records
relative to certain types of adverse events associated with devices under the medical device reporting regulation; assuring that device labeling complies with device labeling
requirements; reporting certain device field removals and corrections to the FDA; and obtaining pre-market notification 510(k) clearance for devices prior to marketing.
Some devices known as “510(k)-exempt” devices can be marketed without prior marketing-clearance or approval from the FDA. In addition to the “general controls,” some
Class II medical devices are also subject to “special controls,” including adherence to a particular guidance document and compliance with the performance standard.
Instead of obtaining 510(k) clearance, most Class III devices are subject to PMA.

Although our Class II medical devices have received regulatory clearance from FDA in the United States for a particular patient population, they will be subject to ongoing
regulatory requirements for manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, sampling, record-keeping, conduct of post-marketing studies and
submission of safety, effectiveness and other post-market information, including both federal and state requirements in the United States and requirements of comparable
non-U.S. regulatory authorities in any international markets we choose to enter.

Any regulatory clearances that we have received for our products will be subject to limitations on the cleared or approved indicated uses for which the product may be
marketed and promoted, will be subject to the conditions of approval, or will contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing testing. We are required to report
certain adverse events and production problems, if any, to the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Any new legislation addressing product safety issues
could result in increased costs to assure compliance. The FDA and other agencies, including the DOJ, closely regulate and monitor the post-clearance or approval marketing
and promotion of products to ensure that they are marketed and distributed only for the cleared or approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the cleared
or approved labeling. We have to comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for our products.

Promotional communications with respect to devices are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the information in the products’
cleared or approved labeling. As such, we may not promote our products for indications or uses for which they do not have clearance. If the FDA determines that our
promotional, reimbursement or training materials for sales representatives or doctors constitute promotion of an oftf-label use, the FDA could request that we modify our
training, promotional or reimbursement materials and/or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of an untitled letter, a warning letter,
injunction, seizure, disgorgement of profits, significant penalties, including civil fines and criminal penalties. Other federal, state or foreign governmental authorities also
might take action if they consider our promotion, reimbursement or training materials to constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant fines or
penalties under other statutory authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement. Although we train our sales force not to promote our products for off-
label uses, and our instructions for use in all markets specify that our products are not intended for use outside of those indications cleared or approved for use, the FDA or
another regulatory agency could conclude that we have engaged in off-label promotion. For example, the government may take the position that off-label promotion resulted
in inappropriate reimbursement for an off-label use in violation of the federal civil False Claims Act for which it might impose significant civil fines and even pursue
criminal action. In those possible events, our reputation could be damaged, and adoption of the products would be impaired.

If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with our facility
where the product is manufactured or disagrees with the promotion, marketing or labeling of a product, such regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product or

us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market.

If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency or enforcement authority may, among other things:

. subject our facility to an adverse inspectional finding or Form 483, or other compliance or enforcement notice, communication or correspondence;
. issue warning or untitled letters that would result in adverse publicity or may require corrective advertising;

. impose civil or criminal penalties;

. suspend or withdraw regulatory clearances or approvals;

. refuse to clear or approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications submitted by us;

. impose restrictions on our operations, including closing our sub-assembly suppliers’ facilities;

. seize or detain products; or



. require a product recall.

In addition, violations of the FDCA relating to the promotion of approved products may lead to investigations alleging violations of federal and state healthcare fraud and
abuse and other laws, as well as state consumer protection laws.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response and could generate negative publicity. Any
failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affect our ability to commercialize and generate revenue from our products. If
regulatory sanctions are applied or if regulatory clearance or approval is withdrawn, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

In addition, FDA and other regulatory authorities may change their policies, issue additional regulations or revise existing regulations, any of which could delay our ability
to obtain new marketing authorizations and increase the costs of compliance or restrict our ability to maintain any regulatory authorizations we may have obtained. In June
2024, the U.S. Supreme Court overruled the Chevron doctrine, which gives deference to regulatory agencies' statutory interpretations in litigation against federal
government agencies, such as the FDA where the law is ambiguous. This Supreme Court decision may invite more stakeholders to bring lawsuits against the FDA to
challenge longstanding decisions and policies of the FDA, which could undermine the FDA's authority, lead to uncertainties in the industry, and disrupt the FDA's normal
operations, any of which could delay the FDA's review of pending submissions. We cannot predict the full impact of this decision on us or the medical device industry in
general. Further, changes in the leadership of the FDA and other federal agencies under the new Trump administration can result in changes in the agencies’ operations and
policies, which may impact our product development plans and timelines.

Modifications to our current and our future products may require new 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals, or may require us to cease marketing or recall the
modified products until clearances are obtained.

An element of our strategy is to continue to upgrade our robotic exoskeleton platform to incorporate new software and hardware enhancements. Any modification to a
510(k)-cleared device, including our EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy, and Ekso Indego Personal, that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would
constitute a major change in its intended use, design, or manufacture, requires a new 510(k) clearance or, possibly, a PMA. The FDA requires every manufacturer to make
this determination in the first instance based on the final guidance document issued by the FDA in October 2017 addressing when to submit a new 510(k) application due to
modifications to 510(k)-cleared devices and a separate guidance document on when to submit a new 510(k) application due to software changes to 510(k)-cleared devices.
Although largely aligned with the FDA’s longstanding guidance document issued in 1997, the 2017 guidance includes targeted changes intended to provide additional
clarity on when a new 510(k) application is needed. The FDA may review our determinations regarding whether new clearances or approvals are necessary, and may not
agree with our decisions. If the FDA disagrees with our determinations for any future changes, or prior changes to previously marketed products, as the case may be, we
may be required to cease marketing or to recall the modified products until we obtain clearance or approval, and we may be subject to significant regulatory fines or
penalties.
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We may introduce new products with enhanced features and extended capabilities from time to time. The products may be subject to various regulatory processes, and we
may need to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals in order to sell our new products. If a potential purchaser of our products believes that we plan to introduce a new
product in the near future or if a potential purchaser is located in a country where a new product that we have introduced has not yet received regulatory approval, planned
purchases may be deferred or delayed. As a result, new product introductions may adversely impact our financial results.

We must obtain certain regulatory approvals in the EU, which could be costly and time-consuming and subject us to unanticipated delays or prevent us from marketing
certain devices.

In the EU, we are required to comply with the EU MDR and obtain CE Certificates of Conformity in order to affix the CE Mark and market medical devices. As of
December 31, 2024, our EksoNR product had yet been approved under the EU MDR. We have submitted an application to obtain CE Certificates of Conformity in order to
affix the CE Mark to EksoNR. Such application may be delayed or denied. Specifically, changes in regulatory policy for the approval or CE marking of a medical device
during the period of product development and regulatory agency review or notified body review of each submitted new application may cause delays or rejections. In March
2023, the European Commission extended the original compliance dates for the EU MDR. As a result, the EU MDR transitional period deadline for our products was set to
December 31, 2028. Failure to comply with the EU MDR requirements by the EU MDR transitional period deadline would prevent us from generating revenue from sales
of our products in the EU, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our failure to meet strict post-market regulatory requirements with respect to our products could require us to pay fines, incur other costs or even close our facilities.

If we, or our suppliers, fail to comply with the FDA’s QSR or QSMR when it goes into effect in February 2026, or other applicable foreign regulations, our manufacturing
or distribution operations could be delayed or shut down and our revenue could suffer. Our manufacturing and design processes and those of our third-party component
suppliers are required to comply with the FDA’s QSR, which covers procedures and documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling,
packaging, storage and shipping of our products in the United States.

We are also subject to similar state requirements and licenses, and to ongoing ISO 13485 compliance in our operations, including design, manufacturing, and service. In
addition, we must engage in extensive recordkeeping and reporting and must make available our facilities and records for periodic unannounced inspections by
governmental agencies, including the FDA, state authorities, and applicable agencies in other countries. These regulatory requirements and changes to the requirements may
significantly increase our production costs and may even prevent us from making our products in amounts sufficient to meet market demand. If we change our approved
manufacturing process, the FDA may need to review the process before it may be used. The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic announced and unannounced
inspections of manufacturing facilities. Failure to comply with regulatory requirements such as QSR may result in changes to labeling, restrictions on such products or
manufacturing processes, withdrawal of the products from the market, voluntary or mandatory recalls, a requirement to repair, replace or refund the cost of any medical
device we manufacture or distribute, fines, suspension of regulatory approvals, product seizures, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties which would
adversely affect our business, operating results and prospects.

The FDA issued a final rule in February 2024 replacing the QSR with QMSR, which incorporates by reference the quality management system requirements of ISO
13485:2016. The FDA has stated that the standards contained in ISO 13485:216 are substantially similar to those set forth in the existing QSR. The FDA will begin to
enforce the QMSR requirements upon the effective date, February 2, 2026. If we or any of our suppliers or contractors fail to meet the regulatory requirements or a
regulatory inspection, our operations could be disrupted and our manufacturing interrupted. Failure to take timely and adequate corrective action in response to an adverse
regulatory inspection could result in, among other things, a shutdown of our manufacturing or product distribution operations, significant fines, suspension of marketing
clearances and approvals, seizures or recalls of our device, operating

restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which would cause our business to suffer.

Federal, state and non-U.S. regulations regarding the manufacture and sale of medical devices are subject to future changes. The complexity, timeframes and costs
associated with obtaining marketing clearances are unknown. Although we cannot predict the impact, if any, these changes might have on our business, the impact could be
material.

We can provide no assurance that we will continue to remain in material compliance with the QSR, or QSMR when it goes into effect in February 2026. If the FDA or any
applicable agencies inspect any of our facilities and discover compliance problems, we may have to cease manufacturing and product distribution until we can take the
appropriate remedial steps to correct the audit findings. Taking corrective action may be expensive, time consuming and a distraction for management and if we experience
a delay at our manufacturing facility, we may be unable to produce our products, which would harm our business.

We may be subject to fines, penalties or injunctions if we are determined to be promoting the use of our products for unapproved or * off-label” uses.

Any cleared or approved product may be promoted only for its indicated uses and our promotional materials must comply with FDA and other applicable laws and
regulations. We believe that the specific use for which our products are marketed fall within the scope of the indications for use that have been cleared by the FDA.
However, if the FDA determines that our promotional materials or training constitutes promotion of an unapproved use, it could request that we modify our promotional
materials or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of an untitled letter, a warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine and criminal penalties.
It is also possible that other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities might take action if they consider our promotional or training materials to constitute promotion
of an unapproved use, which could result in significant fines or penalties under other statutory authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement. In that
event, our reputation could be damaged and adoption of the products would be impaired.
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We may be subject to adverse medical device reporting obligations, voluntary corrective actions or agency enforcement actions.

Under the FDA’s medical device reporting or EU MDR regulations, we are required to report to the FDA any incident in which our product may have caused or contributed
to a death or serious injury or in which our product malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury. For
example, we have been informed of a limited number of events with respect to our EksoNR device that have been determined to be reportable pursuant to the EU MDR
regulations. In each case, the required EU MDR report was filed with the FDA.

In addition, all manufacturers bringing medical devices to market in the European Economic Area are legally bound to report any incident that led or might have led to the
death or serious deterioration in the state of health of a patient, user or other person, and which the manufacturer’s device is suspected to have caused, to the competent
authority in whose jurisdiction the incident occurred. In such case, the manufacturer must file an initial report with the relevant competent authority, which would be
followed by further evaluation or investigation of the incident and a final report indicating whether further action is required. The events described above that were reported
to the FDA were also reported to the relevant EU regulatory authorities.

We are also required to follow detailed recordkeeping requirements for all Company-initiated medical device corrections and removals, and to report such corrective and
removal actions to the FDA if they are carried out in response to a risk to health and have not otherwise been reported under the MDR regulations. The FDA and similar
foreign governmental authorities also have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in design, labeling
or manufacture of a product or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. Depending on the corrective action we take to redress a product’s
deficiencies or defects, the FDA may require, or we may decide, that we will need to obtain new approvals or clearances for the device before we may market or distribute
the corrected device. Seeking such approvals or clearances may delay our ability to replace the recalled devices in a timely manner. Moreover, if we do not adequately
address problems associated with our devices, we may face additional regulatory enforcement action, including adverse publicity, FDA warning letters, product seizure,
injunctions, administrative penalties, or civil or criminal fines. We may also be required to bear other costs or take other actions that may have a negative impact on our
sales as well as face significant adverse publicity or regulatory consequences, which could harm our business, including our ability to market our products in the future.

Any adverse event involving our products could result in future voluntary corrective actions, such as recalls or customer notifications, or agency action, such as inspection
or enforcement action. Recalls of our products, or agency actions relating to our failure to comply with our reporting or recordkeeping obligations, could harm our
reputation and financial results.

Failure to comply with anti-kickback and fraud regulations could result in substantial penalties and changes in our business operations.

Although we do not provide healthcare services, submit claims for third-party reimbursement, or receive payments directly from Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party
payers for our products, we are subject to healthcare fraud and abuse regulation and enforcement by federal, state and foreign governments, which could significantly
impact our business. These laws may constrain the business and financial arrangements and relationships through which we conduct our operations, including how we
research, market, sell and distribute any product for which we have obtained regulatory approval, or for which we obtain regulatory approval in the future. The principal
U.S. federal laws implicated include, but are not limited to, those that prohibit, among other things, (i) filing, or causing to be filed, false or improper claims for federal
payment, known as the false claims laws, (ii) payment, solicitation or receipt of unlawful inducements, directly or indirectly, for the referral of business reimbursable under
federally-funded health care programs, known as the anti-kickback laws, and (iii) health care service providers from seeking reimbursement for providing certain services to
a patient who was referred by a physician who has certain types of direct or indirect financial relationships with the service provider, known as the Stark law. Many states
have similar laws that apply to reimbursement by state Medicaid and other government funded programs as well as in some cases to all payers.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. We are subject to the risk that a
person or government could allege we have engaged in fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. It is possible that governmental and enforcement authorities will
conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws
and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us now or in the future,
we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from governmental health care programs, additional integrity
oversight and reporting obligations, contractual damages, reputational harm and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our financial results.
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Changes in law or regulation could make it more difficult and costly for us to manufacture, market and distribute our products or obtain or maintain regulatory
approval of new or modified products.

From time to time, legislation is drafted and introduced in Congress that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the regulatory approval, manufacture
and marketing of regulated devices. In addition, FDA regulations and guidance are often revised or reinterpreted by the FDA in ways that may significantly affect our
business and our products. Any new regulations or revisions or reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose additional costs or lengthen review times of future
products. In addition, FDA regulations and guidance are often revised or reinterpreted by the agency in ways that may significantly affect our business and our products.
Elections could result in significant changes in, and uncertainty with respect to, legislation, regulation and government policy that could significantly impact our business
and the health care industry. It is impossible to predict whether legislative changes will be enacted or FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations changed, and what the
impact of such changes, if any, may be. For example, recent changes in FDA leadership and policies under President Trump's administration, including potential reforms
and shifts in regulatory focus, may adversely impact our business and compliance requirements.

Any change in the laws or regulations that govern the clearance and approval processes relating to our current and future products could make it more difficult and costly to
obtain clearance or approval for new products, or to produce, market, and distribute existing products. Significant delays in receiving clearance or approval, or the failure to
receive clearance or approval, for any new products would have an adverse effect on our ability to expand our business.

Healthcare changes in the United States and other countries, including recently enacted legislation reforming the U.S. healthcare system, could have a negative impact
on our future operating resullts.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the health care system in ways that could
affect our ability to sell our products profitably. For example, in 2010, the ACA was enacted into law. The legislation seeks to reform the United States healthcare system. It
is far-reaching and is intended to expand access to health insurance coverage, improve quality and reduce costs over time. We expect the law will have a significant impact
upon various aspects of our business operations. The ACA reduces Medicare and Medicaid payments to hospitals, clinical laboratories and pharmaceutical companies, and
could otherwise reduce the volume of medical procedures. These factors, in turn, could result in reduced demand for our products and increased downward pricing pressure.
It is also possible that the ACA will result in lower reimbursements. While the ACA is intended to expand health insurance coverage to uninsured persons in the United
States, the impact of any overall increase in access to healthcare on sales of our products remains uncertain.

Since its enactment, there have been numerous judicial, administrative, executive, and legislative challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, and we expect there will be
additional challenges in the future. In June 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court held that Texas and other challengers had no legal standing to challenge the ACA, dismissing the
case on procedural grounds without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Thus, the ACA will remain in effect in its current form. It is possible that the
ACA will be subject to judicial or Congressional challenges in the future. It is unclear how any such challenges and healthcare measures promulgated by the new Trump
administration will impact the ACA, our business, financial condition and results of operations.

However, it is possible that such initiatives could have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain approval and/or successfully commercialize products in the United States in
the future. For example, any changes that reduce, or impede the ability to obtain, reimbursement for the type of products we intend to commercialize in the United States (or
our products more specifically, if approved) could adversely affect our business plan to introduce our products in the United States.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. For example, in August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011,
among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeted deficit
reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2012 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several
government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in April 2013 and will
remain in effect through 2030 unless additional Congressional action is taken.

In June 2024, the U.S. Supreme Court overruled the Chevron doctrine, which gave deference to regulatory agencies' statutory interpretations in litigation against federal
government agencies, such as the FDA where the law is ambiguous. This Supreme Court decision may invite more stakeholders to bring lawsuits against the FDA to
challenge longstanding decisions and policies of the FDA and other federal agencies, which could undermine the FDA's or any other U.S. government agency’s authority,
lead to uncertainties in the industry, and disrupt the FDA's and other U.S. government agencies’ normal operations, any of which could impact our business or the medical
device industry in general. Further, changes in the leadership of the FDA and other federal agencies under the new Trump administration can result in changes in the
agencies’ operations and policies, which may impact our product development plans.

Government payers, such as CMS as well as insurers, have increased their efforts to control the cost, utilization and delivery of healthcare services. From time to time, the
United States Congress has considered and implemented changes in the CMS fee schedules in conjunction with budgetary legislation. Reductions of reimbursement by
Medicare or Medicaid for our products or changes in coverage policies, such as adding requirements for payment, or prior authorizations, may be implemented from time to
time. Reductions in the reimbursement rates and changes in payment policies of other third-party payers may occur as well. Changes in federal, state, local and third-party
payer regulations or policies may have a material adverse impact on the demand for our products and on our business. Actions by agencies regulating insurance or changes
in other laws, regulations, or policies may also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Legislative or regulatory reforms
may make it more difficult and costly for us to obtain regulatory authorizations for our planned or future products and to manufacture, market and distribute our products
after authorization is obtained.
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Additional changes may affect our business, including those governing enrollment in federal healthcare programs, reimbursement changes, fraud and abuse enforcement,
and expansion of new programs, such as Medicare payment for performance initiatives.

These initiatives, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and additional downward
pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar
reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms could result in reduced demand for our product
candidates or additional pricing pressures and may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our products.

Finally, future elections in the United States could result in significant changes in, and uncertainty with respect to, legislation, regulation, implementation of Medicare
and/or Medicaid, and government policy that could significantly impact our business and the healthcare industry. The President and the executive branch of the federal
government have a significant impact on the implementation of the provisions of the ACA, and the current or future administrations could make changes impacting the
implementation and enforcement of the ACA, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. If we are slow or unable to adapt to any such
changes, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Failure to comply with HIPAA or the HITECH Act and implementing regulations could result in significant penalties.

Numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including HIPAA and the HITECH Act, govern the collection, dissemination, security, use and confidentiality of patient-
identifiable health information. HIPAA and the HITECH Act require us to comply with standards for the use and disclosure of such protected health information within our
company and with third parties. The Privacy Standards and Security Standards under HIPAA establish a set of basic national privacy and security standards for the
protection of individually identifiable health information by health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and certain healthcare providers, referred to as covered entities, and the
business associates with whom such covered entities contract for services. Notably, whereas HIPAA previously directly regulated only these covered entities, the HITECH
Act, which was signed into law in 2009, makes certain of HIPAA’s privacy and security standards directly applicable to covered entities’ business associates. Both covered
entities and business associates are subject to significant civil and criminal penalties for failure to comply with the Privacy Standards and Security Standards under HIPAA.

HIPAA requires healthcare providers like us to develop and maintain policies and procedures with respect to protected health information that is used or disclosed, including
the adoption of administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect such information from unauthorized disclosure. The HITECH Act expanded the notification
requirement for breaches of patient-identifiable health information, restricts certain disclosures and sales of patient-identifiable health information and provides a tiered
system for civil monetary penalties for HIPAA violations. The HITECH Act also increased the civil and criminal penalties that may be imposed against covered entities,
business associates and possibly other persons and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the
federal HIPAA laws and seek attorney fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. The 2013 final HITECH omnibus rule modified the breach reporting
standard in a manner that made more data security incidents qualify as reportable breaches. Additionally, certain states have adopted comparable privacy and security laws
and regulations, some of which may be more stringent than HIPAA.

If we are determined to be out of compliance with existing or new laws and regulations related to patient health information, we could be subject to criminal or civil
sanctions. New health information standards, whether implemented pursuant to HIPAA, the HITECH Act, congressional action or otherwise, could have a significant effect

on the manner in which we handle healthcare related data and communicate with payors, and the cost of complying with these standards could be significant.
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Any liability from a failure to comply with the requirements of HIPAA or the HITECH Act could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. The
costs of complying with privacy and security related legal and regulatory requirements are burdensome and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Regulations requiring the use of “standard transactions” for healthcare services issued under HIPAA may negatively affect our profitability and cash flows.

Pursuant to HIPAA, final regulations have been implemented to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the healthcare system by facilitating the electronic exchange of
information in certain financial and administrative transactions while protecting the privacy and security of the information exchanged.

The HIPAA transaction standards are complex, and subject to differences in interpretation by third-party payors. For instance, some third-party payors may interpret the
standards to require us to provide certain types of information, including demographic information not usually provided to us by physicians. As a result of inconsistent
application of transaction standards by third-party payors or our inability to obtain certain billing information not usually provided to us by physicians, we could face
increased costs and complexity, a temporary disruption in accounts receivable and ongoing reductions in reimbursements and net revenue. Changes and updates to HIPAA
transaction standards could prove technically difficult, time-consuming or expensive to implement, all of which could harm our business.

We are subject to evolving laws, regulations, and other obligations related to privacy, data protection, and information security, and our actual or perceived failure to
comply with such obligations could harm our reputation, subject us to significant fines and liability or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
operating results.

The regulatory frameworks for privacy, data protection, and information security issues worldwide are rapidly evolving and likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable
future. The U.S. federal and various state, local, and foreign government bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws and regulations governing the
collection, distribution, use, disclosure, storage, security, and other processing of information relating to individuals.

For example, California adopted the California Consumer Privacy Act (the "CCPA"), which became effective in January 2020. The CCPA established a privacy framework
for covered businesses, including an expansive definition of personal information and data privacy rights for California residents. The CCPA includes a framework with
potentially severe statutory damages and private rights of action. Additionally, the California Privacy Rights Act (the "CPRA"), was approved by California voters in the
November 2020 election and went into effect on January 1, 2023. The CPRA significantly modifies the CCPA, potentially resulting in further uncertainty. Other states have
begun to propose and enact laws relating to privacy and information security matters, many of which are comprehensive privacy statutes similar to the CCPA. Further, other
states have enacted laws that cover specific topics, such as the use and collection of biometric information or the collection, use, disclosure, and/or other processing of
health-related information. The U.S. federal government also is contemplating federal privacy legislation.

The collection and use of health data and other personal data is governed in the EU by the General Data Protection Regulation (the "GDPR"), which imposes substantial
obligations upon companies and rights for individuals, and by certain EU member state-level legislation. Failure to comply with the GDPR may result in fines up to the
greater of €20,000,000 or 4% of the total worldwide annual turnover of the preceding financial year. The UK has implemented legislation similar to the GDPR, referred to
as the UK GDPR, which provides for fines of up to the greater of £17.5 million or 4% of global turnover. Many other jurisdictions globally are considering or have enacted
legislation providing for local storage of data or otherwise imposing privacy, data protection, and information security obligations in connection with the collection, use, and
other processing of personal data. As a general matter, compliance with laws, regulations, contractual obligations, and other actual and asserted obligations, such as industry
standards, and any rules or guidance from self-regulatory organizations, relating to privacy, data protection, and data security that apply, or are asserted to apply, to our
operations can be rigorous and time-intensive, may result in substantial costs, and may necessitate changes to our policies and practices, which may compromise our growth
strategy, adversely affect our ability to acquire customers, and otherwise adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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With laws, regulations, and other obligations relating to privacy, data protection, and information security imposing new and relatively burdensome obligations, and with
substantial uncertainty over the interpretation and application of these and other obligations, we may face challenges in addressing their requirements and making necessary
changes to our policies and practices. We also may incur significant costs and expenses in an effort to do so. Additionally, if third parties we work with, such as contractors
or service providers, violate applicable laws or regulations or our policies, such violations may also put our data at risk and could in turn have an adverse effect on our
business. Any failure or perceived failure by us or our contractors or service providers to comply with our applicable policies or notices, our contractual or other obligations
to third parties, or any of our other actual or asserted legal obligations relating to privacy, data protection, or information security, may result in governmental investigations
or enforcement actions, litigation, claims, and other proceedings, harm our reputation, and could result in significant liability. Any such event may adversely affect our
business, operating results, and financial condition.

We are subject to cybersecurity risks to our systems, infrastructure, and technology, and data processed by us or third-party vendors.

Our business and operations involve the collection, storage, transmission, and other processing of personal data and certain other sensitive and proprietary data. Numerous
organizations have disclosed breaches of their information security systems and other information security incidents, some of which have involved sophisticated and highly
targeted attacks. We have been and may in the future be a target for cybersecurity attacks designed to disrupt our operations or to attempt to gain access to our systems, data
processed or maintained in our business, trade secrets, or other proprietary information or financial resources. Many of our personnel work remotely all or part of the time,
which increases certain security risks. In addition, certain attacks may be state-sponsored or supported by significant financial and technological resources, making them
even more difficult to detect, remediate and otherwise respond to. The risk of state-supported and geopolitical-related cybersecurity attacks is believed to be heightened in
connection with the conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East and any related political or economic responses and counter-responses.

We are at risk for interruptions, outages, and breaches of our operational systems, including business, financial, accounting, product development, data processing or
production processes, as well as our security systems, in-product software and technology, and customer data. We use third parties to process some data on our behalf, and
they face similar security risks. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or to sabotage information systems change frequently and may not be known until
launched against a target, we and the third parties on which we rely may be unable to anticipate or prevent these attacks, react in a timely manner or implement adequate
preventive measures, and we may face delays in our detection or remediation of, or other responses to, security breaches and other privacy-and security-related incidents.
Such incidents could materially disrupt our systems, result in loss of intellectual property and misappropriation of trade secrets or other proprietary or competitively
sensitive information, compromise the confidentiality, security, and integrity of our information, including employees’ personal information, and information of customers
or others, jeopardize the security of our facilities, or affect the performance of our products. The loss, corruption, or unavailability of clinical trial data from completed or
future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the impacted data.

Although we have implemented and are in the process of implementing additional systems and processes that are designed to protect our data and systems within our
control, prevent data loss, and prevent other security breaches and incidents, these measures cannot guarantee security. The systems and infrastructure used in our business
may be vulnerable to cyberattacks or security breaches or incidents, and third parties may be able to access data, including personal data and other sensitive and proprietary
data or other sensitive and proprietary data, or such data otherwise may be subject to unauthorized use, disclosure, unavailability, modification, or other processing.
Employee error, malfeasance or other errors in the storage, use or transmission of any of these types of data could result in an actual or perceived privacy or security breach
or other security incident.

Any security breach or security incident impacting our systems or infrastructure, or data we or third parties on which we rely maintain or otherwise process, or any outages
or other disruptions to systems used in our business, could interrupt our operations and result in the loss of or improper access to, or acquisition or disclosure of, data or a
loss of intellectual property protection. Any such breach or incident, or the perception it has occurred, also may harm our reputation and competitive position, harm our
product development and regulatory approval efforts, reduce demand for our products, damage our relationships with customers, partners, collaborators or others, and result
in claims, demands, litigation, regulatory investigations and proceedings and significant legal, regulatory and financial exposure. Any such event may adversely affect our
business, operating results, and financial condition. We expect to incur significant costs in an effort to detect and prevent privacy and security breaches and other privacy-
and security-related incidents, and may face increased costs and requirements to expend substantial resources in the event of an actual or perceived privacy or security
breach or other incident.
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While we maintain insurance that may cover certain liabilities in connection with certain disruptions, security breaches, and incidents, our insurance policies may not be
adequate to compensate us for the potential losses arising from any disruption in or, failure or security breach or incident of or impacting our systems or third-party systems
where information important to our operations or product development is stored or processed. In addition, such insurance may not be available to us in the future on
economically reasonable terms, or at all. Further, our insurance may not cover all claims made against us and could have high deductibles in any event, and defending a suit,
regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management attention.

Product Liability Risks
Our products may become subject to voluntary or involuntary recall.

The FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in
design or manufacture or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. In addition, manufacturers may, under their own initiative, recall a product if any
material deficiency in a device is found. A government-mandated or voluntary recall by us could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component failures,
manufacturing errors, design or labeling defects or other deficiencies and issues.

When a medical human exoskeleton is used by a paralyzed individual to walk, the individual relies completely on the exoskeleton to hold them upright. There are many
exoskeleton components that, if they were to fail catastrophically, could cause a fall resulting in severe injury or death of the patient. Certain of our competitors have
reported injuries caused by the malfunction of human exoskeleton devices (in at least one case to the FDA). Injuries caused by the malfunction or misuse of human
exoskeleton devices, even where such malfunction or misuse occurs with respect to one of our competitor’s products, could cause regulatory agencies to implement more
conservative regulations on the medical human exoskeleton industry, which could significantly increase our operating costs.

Similarly, when an industrial exoskeleton is used by a healthy individual - for example to operate heavy machinery overhead - malfunction of the device at an inopportune
moment could result in severe injury or death of the person using the device. Such occurrences could result in regulatory action on the part of OSHA or its foreign
counterparts.

Any future recalls of any of our products could divert managerial and financial resources, impair our ability to manufacture our products in a cost-effective and timely
manner, and have an adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations and financial condition. In some circumstances, such adverse events could also cause delays in
new product approvals. We may also be required to bear other costs or take other actions that may have a negative impact on our future sales and our ability to generate
profits.

In addition, personal injuries relating to the use of our products could also result in product liability claims being brought against us. Any product liability claim brought
against us, with or without merit, could result in substantial damages, be costly and time-consuming to defend and could increase our insurance rates or prevent us from
securing insurance coverage in the future.

Our product liability insurance may not adequately cover potential claims or recalls.

The testing, manufacture, marketing and sale of medical devices and industrial products entail the inherent risk of liability claims or product recalls. Although we maintain
product liability insurance, the coverage is subject to deductibles and limitations, and may not be adequate to cover future claims. A successful product liability claim or
product recall could inhibit or prevent the successful commercialization of our products, cause a significant financial burden on us, or both, which in either case could have
a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Warranty claims and our accelerated maintenance program results in additional operating costs to us.

Sales of our EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal products generally include a one-year warranty for parts and services in the United States and a one-
to three-year warranty in EMEA and APAC. We also generally provide customers with an option to purchase an extended warranty for up to an additional four years. The
costs associated with such warranties, including any warranty-related legal proceedings, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and
liquidity. As we enhance our product and in an effort to build our brand and drive adoption, we have elected to incur increased service expenses related to an accelerated
maintenance program, field corrections and the implementation of technological improvements developed subsequent to many of our units being placed into service,
sometimes outside of its warranty and contractual obligations. Continuation of these activities could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows
and liquidity.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Common Stock

You may be diluted from future issuances of our equity securities, including in future financings or strategic transactions, from compensatory equity awards and
exercises of outstanding warrants, and such issuances, or perception that such issuances may occur, could depress the market price of our common stock.

Future operating or business decisions may cause dilution to our stockholders. For example, we may sell equity securities or issue securities exercisable or convertible into
shares of our common stock in connection with strategic transactions or for financing purposes, including under our At The Market Offering Agreement (the "ATM
Agreement") or otherwise through registered or unregistered offerings. As of December 31, 2024, we have $4.1 million available for future offerings under the prospectus
filed with respect to the ATM Agreement. Furthermore, a substantial majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock are freely tradable without restriction or
further registration under the Securities Act so long as we are generally current on our reporting obligations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”), unless these shares are owned or purchased by “affiliates” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. We may also make equity grants under one or
more employee equity incentive plan or our employee stock purchase plan or issue common stock as matching contributions to our employees under our 401(k) Plan. You
may also be subject to dilution from the exercise or settlement of outstanding options or restricted stock units under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan,
and from the exercise of our warrants, including the exercise of any pre-funded warrants. In addition, sales or issuances of a substantial number of shares of our common
stock, or other equity-related securities in the public markets, or the perception that such sales or issuances could occur, could depress the market price of our common
stock.

We may not achieve profitability in the near term or at all, and historically we have not been profitable. Management has historically financed the Company’s operations
through external financings, from both equity and debt financings, like issuances under our ATM Agreement, our registered direct offering in January 2024 (the "January
2024 Offering"), and our underwritten public offering in September 2024 (the "September 2024 Offering"), for example. To the extent our cash on hand does not provide
sufficient capital for us to achieve profitability, or we are unable to maintain profitability once initially achieved, we expect we will need to raise additional capital through
future financings. To the extent we decide to conduct a financing in the future, the form of such financing may include one or more of the following: (i) underwritten
offerings of shares of our common stock, (ii) sales of shares of our common stock under an "at the market" offering program, (iii) issuing shares of our common stock upon
the exercise of warrants at reduced exercise prices, (iv) incurring indebtedness with one or more financial institutions, (v) sale of product line or technology, and (vi) the
factoring of trade receivables. Additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all, or we may be required to seek other more costly or time-
consuming methods. Any failure to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on our financial condition and on our ability to pursue our business plans
and strategies.

The ability of our Board of Directors to issue additional stock may prevent us from making more difficult transactions, including a sale or merger.

Our Board of Directors is authorized to issue up to 10 million shares of preferred stock with powers, rights and preferences designated by it. Shares of voting or convertible
preferred stock could be issued, or rights to purchase such shares could be issued, to create voting impediments or to frustrate persons seeking to effect a takeover or
otherwise gain control of us. The ability of the Board of Directors to issue such additional shares of preferred stock, with rights and preferences it deems advisable, could
discourage an attempt by a party to acquire control of us by tender offer or other means. Such issuances could therefore deprive stockholders of benefits that could result
from such an attempt, such as the realization of a premium over the market price for their shares in a tender offer or the temporary increase in market price that such an
attempt could cause. Moreover, the issuance of such additional shares of preferred stock to persons friendly to the Board of Directors could make it more difficult to remove
incumbent officers and directors from office even if such change were to be favorable to stockholders generally.

We have never paid and do not intend to pay cash dividends.

Cash dividends have never been declared or paid on our common stock, and we do not anticipate such a declaration or payment for the foreseeable future. We expect to use
future earnings, if any, to fund business growth. Therefore, stockholders will not receive any funds absent a sale of their shares of common stock. If we do not pay
dividends, our common stock may be less valuable because a return on investment will only occur if our stock price appreciates

The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, highly volatile.

During the period from our initial listing on Nasdaq on August 9, 2016 through December 31, 2024, the closing price of our common stock fluctuated from a high of $93.15
per share to a low of $0.57 per share (on a split-adjusted basis), and our stock price continues to fluctuate. The market price of our common stock may continue to fluctuate
significantly in response to numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control, such as our ability to grow our revenue and customer base; the announcement of new
products or product enhancements by us or our competitors; developments concerning regulatory oversight and approvals; variations in our and our competitors’ results of
operations; changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if our common stock is covered by analysts; successes or challenges in our
collaborative arrangements or alternative funding sources; developments in the rehabilitation and industrial robotics markets; the results of product liability or intellectual
property lawsuits; future issuances of common stock or other securities; the addition or departure of key personnel; announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions
or divestments, investments or strategic alliances; and general market conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to our operating performance or otherwise
disclosed herein.
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Trading of our common stock is limited, which may affect our stock price.

Trading of our common stock is currently conducted on Nasdaq. The liquidity of our common stock is limited, not only in terms of the number of shares that can be bought
and sold at a given price, but also as it may be adversely affected by delays in the timing of transactions and low coverage by research analysts and the media, if at all. These
factors may result in different prices for our common stock than might otherwise be obtained in a more liquid market and could also result in a larger spread between the bid
and asked prices for our common stock. In addition, without a large public float, our common stock is less liquid than the stock of companies with broader public
ownership, and, as a result, the trading prices of our common stock may be more volatile. In the absence of an active public trading market, an investor may be unable to
liquidate his or her investment in our common stock. Trading of a relatively small volume of our common stock may have a greater impact on the trading price of our stock
than would be the case if our public float were larger. Additionally, sales by stockholders of substantial amounts of our shares of common stock, the issuance of new shares
of common stock by us or the perception that these sales may occur in the future could materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock, and you may
lose all or a portion of your investment in our common stock.

If we do not regain compliance with or continue to satisfy the Nasdaq continued listing requirements, our common stock could be delisted from Nasdaq.

The listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market is contingent on our compliance with Nasdaq’s conditions for continued listing, including a rule requiring
our common stock to maintain a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share. On December 12, 2024, we received a written notice (the “Notice”) from the Nasdaq Listing
Qualifications staff of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) indicating that, for the last 31 consecutive business days, the minimum bid price of our common stock
had been below the $1.00 per share minimum requirement for continued listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (the “Minimum Bid
Price Requirement”). In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we have been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until June 10, 2025, to regain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement. The Notice has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of our common stock.

In the event we do not regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement by June 10, 2025, we may be eligible for additional time to regain compliance. To
qualify, we will be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for the Nasdaq Capital
Market, with the exception of the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, and will need to provide written notice of our intention to cure the deficiency during the second
compliance period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. If we meet these requirements, we will be granted an additional 180 calendar days to regain compliance.
If we do not qualify for or fail to regain compliance during the second compliance period, then the Nasdaq staff will provide written notification to us that our common
stock will be subject to delisting.

In the event our common stock is no longer listed for trading on Nasdagq, our trading volume and share price may decrease and we may experience further difficulties in
raising capital which could materially affect our operations and financial results. Further, delisting from Nasdaq could also have other negative effects, including potential
loss of confidence by partners, lenders, suppliers and employees and could also trigger various defaults under our financing arrangements and other outstanding agreements.
Finally, delisting could make it harder for us to raise capital and sell securities. You may experience future dilution as a result of future equity offerings. In order to raise
additional capital, we may in the future offer additional shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common stock.

We are a “smaller reporting company” and the reduced reporting requirements applicable to such companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, which allows us to take advantage of certain exemptions from various disclosure
requirements available specifically to smaller reporting companies. For example, we may continue to use reduced executive compensation disclosure obligations, and,
provided we are also a “non-accelerated filer,” we will not be obligated to follow the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We cannot
predict or otherwise determine if investors will find our securities less attractive as a result of our reliance on exemptions as a smaller reporting company and/or non-
accelerated filer. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and the price of our common
stock may be more volatile.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

Item 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

We perform a formal risk assessment each year. As part of the Company's risk assessment, we consider the potential for cybersecurity threats, including but not limited to
interruptions, outages and breaches to its operational and financial systems. We have policies, processes, internal controls and tools to assess, identify, and manage material
risks from potential cybersecurity threats. We utilize a combination of cybersecurity awareness training, manual processes, specialized software and automated tools, and
third-party assessments to build our cybersecurity program. We engage third-party service providers, with significant information technology and cybersecurity experience,
to assist with designing, implementing and managing our information technology infrastructure and cybersecurity program. We are also currently developing a cybersecurity
incident response plan that establishes a formal framework for responding to cybersecurity incidents, including defining what constitutes a reportable cybersecurity incident;
establishing specific escalation and communication channels; identifying parties responsible for managing and responding to each incident; and other preparedness and
response activities.

Governance

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors (the "Audit Committee") provides oversight over our internal control program, including the adequacy and effectiveness of
our information technology infrastructure and cybersecurity program. Each quarter, management provides updates to the Audit Committee regarding its internal control
program, including any significant changes to its information technology infrastructure or cybersecurity program. Management also reports any material risks from
cybersecurity threats to the Audit Committee. Management periodically provides the Audit Committee with updates on cybersecurity risks and/or trends.

Our management team, specifically the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, are responsible for the day-to-day administration of our business operations,
including our risk management of cybersecurity risks. Management is responsible for the design and implementation of policies, processes and internal controls to manage
our cybersecurity risks. Our management team regularly meets with their information technology resources, including its third-party service providers, to ensure that we are
appropriately positioned to manage our cybersecurity risks. Our management team also sponsors periodic cybersecurity awareness training for employees.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not aware of any cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect
us, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. For further discussion of the cybersecurity risks, see "Part [—Item 1A. Risk Factors,"
specifically the risks titled "We are subject to cybersecurity risks to our systems, infrastructure, and technology, and data processed by us or third-party vendors.” No matter
how well designed or implemented our internal controls are, we will not be able to anticipate all cybersecurity threats, and we may not be able to implement effective



preventive or detective measures against cybersecurity threats. While we maintain insurance that may cover certain liabilities in connection with certain disruptions, security
breaches, and incidents, there can be no guarantee that our insurance coverage will be adequate to compensate us for the potential losses.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is currently located at 101 Glacier Point, Suite A, San Rafael, California, 94901, where we lease approximately 17,000 square feet. We
currently lease a manufacturing facility in Brecksville, Ohio to support the production and service of the Ekso Indego Therapy and Ekso Indego Personal product lines.
Outside of the United States, we lease approximately 3,000 square feet of office space at Friesenweg 20, 22763 Hamburg, Germany for our European headquarters.

We do not own any real property.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Based on our current knowledge, we believe that the amount or
range of reasonably possible losses will not, either individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or financial
condition.

The results of any litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution in any legal proceedings could materially affect our future business, results of
operations, or financial condition. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management
resources, and other factors. For additional information, please refer to Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies in our notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information and Dividend Policy
Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “EKSO” since August 9, 2016. Prior to August 9, 2016, our common stock was eligible
for quotation and traded on the OTC Market. The quotation of our common stock on the OTC market began on or about January 16, 2014. The closing price of EKSO stock

as of February 28, 2025 was $0.52.

As of February 28, 2025, we had approximately 175 stockholders of record of our common stock. This number does not include stockholders whose shares are held in
investment accounts by other entities. We believe that the actual number of stockholders is greater than the number of holders of record.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Payment of future dividends, if any,
will be at the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition, operating results, restrictions imposed by
financing arrangements, if any, legal and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends, current and anticipated cash needs and other factors the board of directors
deems relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information
regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.

Item 6. RESERVED
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the consolidated financial statements and the related
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and other parts of this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions, which are based on the beliefs of our management, as well as
assumptions made by, and information currently available to, our management. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in or implied by these
forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K titled “Risk Factors.” For a discussion related to the results of operations for 2023 compared to 2022, refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 4, 2024.

Overview

Our Business

We design, develop, and market exoskeleton products that augment human strength, endurance, and mobility. The primary end market for our exoskeleton technology is
healthcare, where our technology primarily serves people with physical disabilities or impairments in both physical rehabilitation and mobility. The majority of our sales are
generated from our Enterprise Health products, which include the sales of products and services related to neurorehabilitation in clinical settings. We also provide products
and services from our Personal Health market to individual users.

In addition to our current products and services, we continue to explore business development initiatives to fuel growth and long-term value in our existing markets.

Enterprise Health Market

Our sales priority for Enterprise Health customers involves the education of clinical and executive stakeholders on the economic and clinical value of our robotic
exoskeleton portfolio, including the EksoNR and the Ekso Indego Therapy devices. In tandem, we continue to leverage our EksoNR and Ekso Indego customer base to
educate and mentor strategic target centers that specialize in stroke, traumatic brain injury ("TBI"), multiple sclerosis ("MS"), and spinal cord injury ("SCI") rehabilitation
and treatment in specific geographies.

Within our Enterprise Health market we also sell our EVO product to commercial and industrial companies that are focused on solving ergonomic challenges for their
workers. These challenges range from injury prevention, fatigue reduction, and/or improved worker productivity. Sales of EVO are focused on applications that involve
repetitive work at shoulder height and above. While EVO is a general-purpose product, we currently target specific vertical markets, including aerospace, automotive,
general manufacturing, and certain construction trades.

Personal Health Market

Within the Personal Health market, we serve individual users with the Ekso Indego Personal, which is intended to provide overground ambulation in community and home
settings. The primary use case for Ekso Indego Personal is for users with SCI. For this user population, confinement to a wheelchair can cause severe physical and
psychological deterioration. As a result, the secondary medical consequences of paralysis can include difficulty with bowel and urinary tract function, osteoporosis, loss of
lean mass, gain in fat mass, insulin resistance, diabetes, and heart disease. The cost of treating these conditions is substantial.

On April 11, 2024, CMS approved a payment level of approximately $91,000 for Medicare reimbursement of the Ekso Indego Personal, which took effect on April 1, 2024.
CMS reimbursement creates the possibility that we will see increased demand for this device as we are able to more economically serve the larger U.S. patient population
suffering from SCI. Specifically, according to the National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, an estimated 305,000 individuals are currently living with SCI and another
18,000 suffer from new SCI injuries each year. According to the National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, approximately 57% of individuals with SCI are enrolled in
Medicare or Medicaid within five years post-injury.

With Medicare reimbursement recently approved, we have begun selling products to individuals in this market through Durable Medical Equipment suppliers ("DMEs").
DME:s typically resell products from DME manufacturers, like us, to individual users. DMEs are responsible for the Medicare reimbursement process, which requires a
physician’s prescription and evidence of medical necessity to be submitted to and approved by Medicare before reimbursement is provided.

Operating within the CMS reimbursement environment was new to us. Our DME submitted the first Ekso Indego Personal CMS reimbursement claim in May 2024, which
claim was reimbursed in July 2024. All other ongoing CMS reimbursement claims for our devices are currently being managed through the appeals process. During the
pendency of such appeals, we decided to put a hold on selling devices to DMEs for CMS reimbursement, instead focusing on refining and improving the CMS
reimbursement process for our devices, naming National Seating & Mobility as the Company’s exclusive distributor of the Ekso Indego Personal device within the U.S.
complex rehabilitation technology industry, ramping up pilots and partnerships with both regional and national DME suppliers, and building up a sales backlog for the Ekso
Indego Personal device. At the end of February 2025, we had approximately 25 people who we believe qualify for reimbursement. We anticipate submitting those claims to
CMS over the next six to nine months, though we expect our processes and procedures to continue to be refined as we work to scale up this sales channel over time. We
expect the majority of our revenue in 2025 will continue to come from Enterprise Health sales.

Another key part of our growth strategy is seeking insurance coverage beyond CMS and seeking additional indications of use for our products. We believe that sales of our
Personal Health products have the potential to be a significant growth driver for us as we work to gain coverage by other insurance providers, expand the products'
indications of use beyond SCI and optimize our reimbursement submission processes.

Nomad is currently for sale in limited volumes in the Personal Health market for use in a non-Company-sponsored single clinical study. Subject to clinical and patient
feedback from clinical trials, we expect Nomad to be more broadly available starting in 2026.

Economic and Industry Trends

Our revenue is highly dependent on market demand for our exoskeleton products. This market demand is influenced by many factors including the level of awareness of
robotic exoskeleton rehabilitation among the rehabilitation clinics with significant stroke, ABI, and SCI populations, the levels of reimbursements our customers will be able
to receive, the level of reimbursement we will able to receive from Medicare on claims related to our Ekso Indego Personal, as well as conditions relating to overall
economic growth and general business activity. Difficult and challenging economic conditions, including an increasingly inflationary environment, could lead to increased
price-based competition. In particular, the effects of such increasing price-based competition may have an especially significant impact on certain products that we offer,
including the EksoNR and Ekso Indego Therapy, which have a lengthy sale and purchase order cycle because they are major capital expenditure items and generally require
the approval of senior management at purchasing institutions. Furthermore, we do business in the Americas, EMEA and APAC, which results in our business being impacted
by demand changes in each of those regions, as well as changes in the strength of the local currencies relative to the U.S. Dollar.



See “Part [—Item 1A. Risk Factors,” specifically the risk titled “Coverage policies and reimbursement levels of third-party payers, including Medicare or Medicaid, may
impact sales of our products,” for more information.
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Results of Operations
Consolidated Results of Operations: December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 Change % Change
Revenue $ 17,925 § 18,279 § (354) 2)%
Cost of revenue 8,414 9,200 (786) (9)%
Gross profit 9,511 9,079 432 5%
Gross profit % 53% 50%
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 7,308 8,472 (1,164) (14)%
Research and development 3,874 5,025 (1,151) (23)%
General and administrative 8,789 10,694 (1,905) (18)%
Total operating expenses 19,971 24,191 (4,220) (17)%
Loss from operations (10,460) (15,112) 4,652 (BD%
Other (expense) income, net:
Interest expense, net (269) (302) 33 (11)%
Gain (loss) on revaluation of warrant liabilities 474 (133) 607 (456)%
Loss on modification of warrant (109) — (109) .
Unrealized (loss) gain on foreign exchange (965) 412 (1,377) (334)%
Other expense, net (1) (63) 62 (98)%
Total other (expense) income, net (870) (86) (784) 912%
Net loss 3 (11.330) $ (15,198) § 3,868 25)%
(*) Not meaningful
Revenue

Revenue decreased $0.4 million, or 2%, for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023. The decrease in revenue was driven by a decrease in
the average selling price for our Enterprise Health and Personal Health devices on an aggregate basis across all regions and a decrease in the volume of EksoNR
subscriptions, partially offset by an increase in service revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit increased $0.4 million, or 5%, for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023, primarily driven by cost savings in supply chain
and a reduction in service costs.

Gross margin increased to approximately 53% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to a gross margin of 50% for the same period in 2023, primarily driven by
cost savings in supply chain and a reduction in service costs.
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Operating Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $1.2 million, or 14%, for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023. The decrease was primarily due
to lower headcount, discretionary payroll and consultant costs.

Research and development expenses decreased $1.2 million, or 23%, for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023, primarily due to lower
discretionary payroll costs and decreases in the Company's use of product development consultants.

General and administrative expenses decreased $1.9 million, or 18%, for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023, primarily due to lower
discretionary payroll, accounting and legal costs.

Total Other (Expense) Income, Net

Interest expense, net decreased 11% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023, primarily due to lower interest expense related to the
Promissory Note.

Gain on revaluation of warrant liabilities of $0.5 million and loss on revaluation of warrant liabilities of $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December
31, 2023, respectively, were associated with the revaluation of warrants issued in 2019, 2020 and 2021. Gains and losses on revaluation of warrants are primarily driven by
changes in our stock price.

Loss on modification of warrant of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 was due to the reduction of the exercise price of the May 2019 Warrants from $3.52
per share to $1.55 per share, in connection with the January 2024 Offering. There was no comparable amount for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Unrealized loss on foreign exchange was $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to unrealized gain on foreign exchange of $0.4 million for the same
period of 2023, primarily due to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations producing unrealized gains and losses on our inter-company monetary assets and liabilities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, $6.5 million of cash was held domestically and by our foreign subsidiaries. Cash consisted of bank deposits with third-party financial institutions.
As described in Note 9. Notes Payable, net in the notes to our consolidated financial statements, borrowings under our secured term loan agreement with Banc of California
are subject to a liquidity covenant requiring minimum cash on hand equivalent to the current outstanding principal balance, which is due in full in August 2026. As
of December 31, 2024, $2.0 million of cash must remain as restricted. After considering cash restrictions, effective unrestricted cash as of December 31, 2024 was
approximately $4.5 million.

As of December 31, 2024, we had working capital of $11.3 million, compared to working capital of $12.1 million as of December 31, 2023. The decrease in working capital
was primarily due to cash outflows from operations of $9.8 million.

We have funded our operations primarily through the issuance and sale of equity securities and bank debt.

On September 3, 2024, we sold 3,100,000 shares of common stock, a Pre-Funded Warrant to purchase 2,900,000 shares of common stock, Series A Warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 6,000,000 shares of common stock, and Series B Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 6,000,000 shares of common stock in an underwritten public offering
(the "September 2024 Offering"), which generated net proceeds of approximately $5.0 million after deducting the underwriting discount and commissions and offering
expenses paid by the Company. We are using the net proceeds from the September 2024 Offering for general corporate purposes, which may include growth and expansion
of our Personal Health products as we work to increase our revenue following the establishment of Medicare CMS reimbursement of the Ekso Indego Personal device,
research and development activities, selling, general and administrative costs, pursuing strategic initiatives, and meeting our other working capital needs.

On January 16, 2024, we sold an aggregate of 3.0 million shares of common stock in a registered direct offering (the "January 2024 Offering") at a price of $1.55 per share,
which generated net proceeds of approximately $3.9 million after deducting placement agent fees and our estimated offering expenses.
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In October 2020, we entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement (the “ATM Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (the “Agent”), under which we may
issue and sell shares of our common stock, from time to time, to or through the Agent. Offers and sales of shares of common stock by us through the Agent may be made by
any method deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined under SEC Rule 415 or in privately negotiated transactions, subject to certain conditions. Such shares may
be offered pursuant to the registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-272607) (the “Registration Statement”), which was declared effective by the SEC on June 20,
2023, and a related prospectus supplement filed with the SEC on July 28, 2023 (the “ATM Prospectus”). Pursuant to the Registration Statement and the ATM Prospectus,
shares having an aggregate offering price of up to $5.0 million may be offered and sold, subject to certain SEC rules limiting the number of shares of our common stock that
we may sell under the Registration Statement. In June 2023, we entered into an amendment to the ATM Agreement that removed the requirement that shares of our common
stock may not be sold for a price lower than $6.75 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold 105,049 shares of common stock under the ATM
Agreement at an average price of $1.43, for aggregate proceeds of $0.1 million, net of commission and issuance costs. As of December 31, 2024, we had $4.1 million
available for future offerings under the prospectus filed with respect to the ATM Agreement.

Cash and Restricted Cash
The following table summarizes the sources and uses of cash for the periods stated (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
Cash and restricted cash, beginning of year $ 8,638 $ 20,525
Net cash used in operating activities (9,846) (12,054)
Net cash used in investing activities (37 (157)
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,769 348
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (31) (24)
Cash and restricted cash, end of year $ 6,493 % 8,638

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023, primarily due to the absence
of payments related to the acquisition and integration of HMC, cost savings on supply chain, reduction in service costs and other efficiencies in operating activities.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the same period of 2023, primarily due to the reduction
in manufacturing equipment purchases.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities of $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 was related to net proceeds of approximately $5.0 million from the
September 2024 Offering after deducting the underwriting discount and commissions and offering expenses paid by us, net proceeds of approximately $3.9 million from the
January 2024 Offering after deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses, proceeds of approximately $0.1 million from shares of common stock sold under the
ATM Agreement, partially offset by approximately $1.3 million of principal payments towards the Promissory Note. Net cash provided by financing activities of $0.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, was generated from the sale of common stock through our ATM Agreement, which was partially offset by a principal
payment related to our Promissory Note.
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Material Cash Requirements and Going Concern

Our material cash requirements include the following items, some of which are represented in the table of Contractual Obligations and Commitments: (1) employee wages,
benefits and incentives, (2) the procurement of raw materials and components to support the manufacturing and sale of our products, (3) expenditures for the ongoing
improvement and development of existing and new technologies, (4) debt repayments (for additional information see Note 9. Notes Payable, net in the notes to
our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K), (5) operating lease payments (for additional information see Note 10. Lease
Obligations in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K), and (6) pursuing strategic initiatives.

We expect that our operating cash requirements in the near term will continue to exceed cash provided by operations with the significant research and development activities
related to the development of our advanced technology and commercialization of such technology into its medical device business and with the service of our Promissory
Note with Parker Hannifin Corporation. As described in Note 1. Organization: Liquidity and Going Concern of the notes to our consolidated financial statements,
management believes that substantial doubt exists about our ability to meet cash requirements 12 months from the issuance of such financial statements, and such
substantial doubt is not alleviated by our plans.

We do not expect, nor do our historical operating results suggest, that cash flows generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our material cash requirements in the
long term. Management expects that our historical reliance on external financing, from both equity and debt financings, will continue to provide the capital necessary to
meet its material cash requirements in the long term. Management has not yet determined the form such additional financing may take, but management expects that the
most likely forms include one or more of the following: (i) underwritten offerings of shares of our common stock, (ii) sales of shares of our common stock under an "at the
market" offering program, (iii)

issuing shares of our common stock upon the exercise of warrants at reduced exercise prices, (iv) incurring indebtedness with one or more financial institutions, (v) sale of
product line or technology, and (vi) the factoring of trade receivables.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our outstanding contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024, and the effect those obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and
cash flows in future periods (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period
Total Less than one year 1-3 Years
Term loan $ 2,260 $ 156 $ 2,104
Promissory Note 3,437 1,250 2,187
Facility operating leases 953 481 472
Purchase obligations 1,263 1,263 —
Total $ 7913 $ 3,150 $ 4,763

Refer to Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies in our notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding our contractual obligations and
lease commitments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have any significant off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K promulgated under the
Exchange Act.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Our estimates form the basis for our judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Our most critical accounting estimates include:

« the standalone selling prices used to allocate the contract consideration to the individual performance obligations in our device sales arrangements, which
impact revenue recognition;

+ the unobservable inputs and assumptions used by management in estimating the fair value of our warrant liabilities, which impacts net income or loss;

« the provision for credit losses on accounts receivable;

« the valuation of inventory, which impacts gross profit margins;

+ the estimates made regarding the recoverability of our net deferred tax asset, which impacts our financial condition;

« the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in our business combination;

»  future warranty costs;

* accounting for leases; and

« useful lives assigned to long-lived assets.

Standalone Selling Prices

Our device sales arrangements contain multiple products and services, most often including the device(s) and service, both of which we have identified as distinct
performance obligations. Revenue is allocated to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. Standalone selling prices are based on
observable prices at which we separately sell the products or services. If a standalone selling price is not directly observable, then we estimate the standalone selling prices
considering market conditions and entity-specific factors including, but not limited to, features and functionality of the products and services, geographies, type of customer,
and gross margin targets. Changes in the relative standalone selling price between devices and service can have an impact on how transaction prices are allocated between
revenue and deferred revenue.

Warrant Liabilities

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value our warrant liabilities at each reporting period, which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, most
notably the estimated volatility of our common stock over the expected term. We use our historical common stock volatility to estimate expected volatility over the warrant
terms. Management also made uncertain estimates regarding the likelihood and timing of certain future events for application of the Lattice Model for the valuation of
certain warrants. Changes in these assumptions could have potential material impacts on the estimated fair value of warrant liabilities.

Provision for Credit Losses on Accounts Receivable

We carry accounts receivable at invoiced amounts less an allowance (or "provision") for credit losses. We review accounts receivables for collectability and determine an
allowance for credit losses. The allowance for credit losses on accounts receivables reflects the Company’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts
receivable balance based on historical bad debt expense, the aging of the accounts, known troubled accounts, customer payment history, and other currently available
evidence.

Inventory Valuation

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is computed using the standard cost method which approximates actual cost on a first-in, first-out basis.
The cost basis of our inventory is reduced for any products that are considered excessive or obsolete based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If
actual future demand or market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required, which could have a
material adverse effect on the results of our operations.

Deferred Tax Asset

We estimate a valuation allowance in consideration of the realizability of our net deferred tax assets, primarily based on our assessment of the timing, likelihood and
amounts of potential future income during which such items become deductible. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as we must determine the
probability of various possible outcomes and estimate future amounts. Management does not believe it is more likely than not that we will generate future income in a time
frame and amount sufficient to realize our net deferred tax assets. Changes in management's estimate of future income in the timeframe during which the temporary
differences and carryforwards comprising our deferred tax assets become deductible could result in a material impact to our financial position including the recognition of a
net deferred tax asset.
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Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Business Combinations

We allocate the fair value of the purchase price of an acquisition to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values.
Such valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing certain
intangible assets include, but are not limited to, the amount and timing of projected future cash flows based on expected future growth rates and margins, discount rate used
to determine the present value of these cash flows, future changes in technology and royalty for similar brand licenses, and asset lives. Management's estimates of fair value
are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable, and as a result, actual results may differ from estimates.
Allocation of purchase consideration to identifiable assets and liabilities affects our amortization expense, as acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the
useful life, whereas any indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill, are not amortized. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the
acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the
measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are included in the consolidated statement of operations.

Future Warranty Costs

Sales of devices generally include an initial warranty for parts and services for one year in the Americas, two years in EMEA, and one to three years in the APAC region. A
liability for the estimated cost of product warranty is established at the time revenue is recognized based on the historical experience of known product failure rates and
expected material and labor costs to provide warranty services. Specific additional warranty accruals may be made if unforeseen technical problems arise. Alternatively, if
estimates are determined to be greater than the actual amounts necessary, a portion of the liability may be reversed in future periods. At the end of each reporting period, we
estimate our future warranty costs related to products sold during the period. This liability represents our best estimate of the costs we will incur to fulfill warranty
obligations for products sold during the period. At least annually, we review and update our estimates based on actual warranty claims experience.

Accounting for Leases

In accordance with ASC 842, Leases, at the inception of an arrangement, we determine whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and
circumstances present, generally based on whether we have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of an identified asset and whether we
have the right to direct the use of an identified asset in exchange for consideration, which relates to an asset which we do not own. Operating lease liabilities and their
corresponding right-of-use assets are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected lease term. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is
typically not readily determinable. As such, we utilize our incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of the future lease payments, which is a hypothetical
rate based on our understanding of what our credit rating would be to borrow and resulting interest we would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an
amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Certain adjustments to the right-of-use asset may be required for items, such as initial direct costs
paid or incentives received. Lease payments may be fixed or variable; however, only fixed payments are included in our lease liability. Variable lease payments may include
costs such as common area maintenance, utilities, or other costs. Variable lease payments are recognized in operating expenses in the period in which the obligation for
those payments is incurred.

Useful Lives Assigned to Long-Lived Assets

The useful life of an asset represents the period during which the asset is expected to contribute directly or indirectly to future cash flows. We estimate the useful lives of the
Company’s long-lived assets based on various factors, including the expected period of economic benefit of the asset in use, our intended use of the asset, economic factors
such asset obsolescence and technological advances, any limitations imposed by legal, regulatory, or contractual requirements, and industry norms. These assumptions affect
the timing and amount of depreciation expense, which could have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations.

Accounting Policies

An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the
estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur, could materially
impact the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our critical accounting policies reflect the more significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note. 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates in the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates—Recent Accounting Pronouncements in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a
discussion of new accounting pronouncements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Currency Risk

We report our financial results in United States dollars; however, we conduct business in foreign countries. For U.S. reporting purposes, we translate all assets and liabilities
of our non-U.S. subsidiaries at the period-end exchange rate, equity at historical exchange rates, and revenue and expenses at the average exchange rates in effect during the
periods. The net effect of these translation adjustments is shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as a component of stockholders’ equity.

Currently, we sell our products mainly in U.S. dollars, Euros, and Singapore dollars in our company entities in the Americas, EMEA, and APAC regions, respectively. We
generate a portion of our revenue and collect receivables in foreign currencies other than the functional currencies of our company entities and, as such, we have foreign
currency exposure. Future fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates of these currencies can result in foreign exchange gains and losses that may impact our financial results.
In the past, we have not hedged our exposures to foreign currencies or entered into any other derivative instruments and we have no current plans to do so. For the year
ended December 31, 2024, sales denominated in foreign currencies were approximately 43% of total revenue. A hypothetical 10% increase in the United States dollar
exchange rate used would have resulted in a $0.7 million decrease to revenues for 2024.

Interest Rate Risk
Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our term loan. The variable interest rate related to our long-term debt is charged at the
greater of the variable rate of interest announced by the lender as its “prime rate” then in effect or 4.50%. A hypothetical 10% change in the lender's prime rate would have

an immaterial impact on our annualized interest expense.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the entity will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has an accumulated deficit at December 31, 2024 and, since inception, has suffered significant operating losses and negative
cash flows from operations. The Company expects to generate operating losses and negative operating cash flows in the future and will require additional funding to support
the Company's planned operations which raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also
described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts
or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition — Transaction Price Allocation for Contracts with Customers Containing Multiple Performance Obligations

Description of the Matter

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s contracts with customers may contain multiple performance obligations, which are
accounted for separately if they are distinct. In such cases, the transaction price is then allocated to the distinct performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price
basis and revenue is recognized when the distinct performance obligation is satisfied. The Company's device revenue is recognized at the point in time that the customer
takes control of the device, generally upon shipment, and subscription and service revenues are recognized over time as the services are performed.

Auditing the Company’s revenue recognition was challenging, specifically related to the identification and determination of the distinct performance obligations, the
allocation of the transaction price to the identified performance obligations, and the timing of revenue recognition. Certain arrangements required judgment to determine the

distinct performance obligations, how the transaction price was allocated to the identified performance obligations, and the appropriate timing of revenue recognition.
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How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding and evaluated the design of the Company’s process and controls to determine the distinct performance obligations, allocation of the
transaction price to the identified performance obligations, and the timing of revenue recognition.

Among the procedures we performed to test the determination of the distinct performance obligations, allocation of the transaction price to the identified performance
obligations, and the timing of revenue recognition, we read executed contracts and purchase orders to understand the rights and obligations conveyed in the contractual
arrangement, evaluated management’s assessment of the performance obligations and whether they were distinct, determined the reasonableness of the standalone selling
price used by management in the allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations, and tested the timing of revenue recognition for a sample of individual
sales transactions. We evaluated the accuracy of the Company’s accounting conclusions, specifically related to the identification and determination of distinct performance
obligations, allocation of the transaction price to the identified performance obligations, and the timing of revenue recognition.

Impairment Analysis of Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets
Description of the Matter

As described in Notes 2 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually, or as deemed
necessary if potential indicators of impairment exist. The Company also reviews its long-lived assets for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Management makes critical assumptions and estimates in completing impairment
assessments of its indefinite-lived intangible asset and long-lived assets. The Company’s cash flow projections include assumptions such as future sales and operating
margin growth rates, economic conditions, discount rates and the royalty rate. The Company determined no impairment existed for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company’s impairment analysis related to its indefinite-lived intangible asset and long-lived assets requires a high degree of judgment and is subject to change based
on various quantitative and qualitative factors. A high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort were required when performing audit procedures to
evaluate the reasonableness of management’s estimates and assumptions related to the future sales and operating margin growth rates as well as the selection of discount
rates and the royalty rate, which included the need to involve our valuation specialists.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding of and evaluated the design of controls relating to the Company’s impairment review process. We evaluated the significant accounting
policies relating to the Company’s impairment analyses, as well as management’s application of the policies, for appropriateness and reasonableness.

We obtained the Company’s impairment analyses and performed testing procedures on the underlying data and assumptions that were used in management’s analyses. To
test the estimated fair values of the assets, we performed audit procedures that included, among other things, assessing methodologies used to determine the fair values and
testing the significant assumptions discussed above and the accuracy of the underlying data used by the Company. For example, we evaluated management’s forecasted
revenue growth rates used in the fair value estimates by comparing those assumptions to the historical results of the Company and current industry, market and economic
forecasts. Additionally, we involved a valuation specialist to assist in evaluating the valuation methodologies and the significant assumptions such as discount rates and the
royalty rate, as well as testing the mathematical accuracy of the calculations.

/s/ WithumSmith+Brown, PC

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2010.

San Francisco, California
March 3, 2025

PCAOB ID Number 100
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Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value amounts)

December 31,

2024 2023
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and restricted cash $ 6,493 $ 8,638
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $33 and $79, respectively 7,238 5,645
Inventories 4,571 5,050
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 541 875
Total current assets 18,843 20,208
Property and equipment, net 1,577 2,018
Right-of-use assets 788 971
Intangible assets, net 4,580 4,892
Goodwill 431 431
Other assets 433 392
Total assets $ 26,652 $ 28,918
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,552 $ 1,847
Accrued liabilities 2,352 2,664
Deferred revenues, current 1,956 1,993
Notes payable, current 1,250 1,250
Lease liabilities, current 427 363
Total current liabilities 7,537 8,117
Deferred revenues 1,920 2,169
Notes payable, net 3,854 4,832
Lease liabilities 452 723
Warrant liabilities 1 366
Other non-current liabilities 181 105
Total liabilities 13,945 16,312
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholders' equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 141,429 shares authorized; 22,203 and 14,848 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively 22 15
Additional paid-in capital 262,203 251,580
Accumulated other comprehensive income 957 156
Accumulated deficit (250,475) (239,145)
Total stockholders' equity 12,707 12,606
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 26,652 § 28,918

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other (expense) income, net:
Interest expense, net
Gain (loss) on revaluation of warrant liabilities
Loss on modification of warrant
Unrealized (loss) gain on foreign exchange
Other expense, net

Total other (expense) income, net

Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive loss

Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net loss per share applicable to common shareholders, basic and diluted

Weighted average number of shares outstanding, basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
17,925 $ 18,279
8,414 9,200
9,511 9,079
7,308 8,472
3,874 5,025
8,789 10,694
19,971 24,191
(10,460) (15,112)
(269) (302)
474 (133)
(109) —
(965) 412
@ (63)
(870) (86)
(11,330) (15,198)
801 (407)
(10,529) $ (15,605)
0.56) $ (1.10)
20,161 13,867
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Balance as of December 31,
2022
Net loss
Issuance of common stock
under:
Equity financing, net
Equity incentive plan
Matching contribution to
401(k) plan
Stock-based compensation
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Balance as of December 31,
2023
Net loss

Issuance of common stock and

warrants under:
Equity financing, net
Exercise of Pre-Funded
Warrants
Issuance of common stock
under:
Equity incentive plan
Matching contribution to
401(k) plan
Stock-based compensation
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Balance as of December 31,
2024

Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.

(In thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated  Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity

13,203 § 13 § 248813 § 563 $  (223,947) $ 25,442
— — — — (15,198) (15,198)

451 1 660 — — 661

1,033 — — — — —

161 1 249 — — 250

— — 1,858 — — 1,858
— — — (407) — (407)

14,848 15 251,580 156 (239,145) 12,606
— — — — (11,330) (11,330)

6,172 6 9,014 — — 9,020

335 — — — — —

685 1 — — — 1

163 — 237 — — 237

— — 1,372 — — 1,372

— — — 801 — 801
22,203 § 22§ 262203 § 957 $ (250,475) $ 12,707
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Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in provision for credit losses on accounts receivable
Common stock contribution to 401(k) plan
Stock-based compensation expense
(Gain) loss on revaluation of warrant liabilities
Loss on modification of warrant
Unrealized loss (gain) on foreign currency transactions
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets current and noncurrent
Accounts payable
Accrued, lease and other current and noncurrent liabilities
Deferred revenues
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Principal payments under note payable
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net decrease in cash
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of the year

Cash and restricted cash at end of the year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow activities
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities

Share issuance for common stock contribution to 401(k) plan

Transfer of inventory (from) to property and equipment

Initial recognition of (adjustment to) operating lease liabilities and right of use assets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Years ended December 31,

2024 2023

$ (11,330) $ (15,198)
1,608 1,698

171 72

257 378

1373 1,858

(474) 133

109 —
965 (412)
(1,967) (1,208)

257 232
329 (158)
(288) (1,307)
(599) (134)

(257) 1,992
(9,846) (12,054)
37 (157)
(37) (157)
(1,250) 313)

9,019 661

7,769 343

(€2)) 24

(2,145) (11,887)

8,638 20,525

$ 6493 $ 3,638

$ 182§ 191

$ 8 § 45

$ 238§ 250
$ 199§ (82)
$ 180 $ (10)
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1. Organization
Description of Business

Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) designs, develops, and markets exoskeleton products that augment human strength, endurance and mobility. The primary end
market for our exoskeleton technology is healthcare, where our technology primarily serves people with physical disabilities or impairments in both physical rehabilitation
and mobility. The Company has marketed devices that (i) enable individuals with neurological conditions affecting gait, including acquired brain injury ("ABI") and
multiple sclerosis ("MS"), and spinal cord injury ("SCI") to rehabilitate and to stand and walk in neurorehabilitation settings and, for patients with a SCI, for home and
community use, (ii) assist individuals with a broad range of upper extremity impairments, and (iii) allow industrial workers to perform difficult repetitive work for extended
periods. Founded in 2005, the Company is headquartered in the San Francisco Bay area and listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “EKSO”.

Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar and share amounts included in these notes to the consolidated financial statements are in thousands.
Liquidity and Going Concern

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $250,475. Largely as a result of significant research and development activities related to the
development of the Company’s advanced technology and commercialization of such technology into its medical device business, the Company has incurred significant
operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company used $9,846 of cash in its operations.
Cash on hand as of December 31, 2024 was $ 6,493.

As described in Note 9. Notes Payable, net, borrowings under the Company’s secured term loan agreement with Banc of California are subject to a liquidity covenant
requiring minimum cash on hand equivalent to the current outstanding principal balance, which is due in full in August 2026. As of December 31, 2024, $2,000 of cash
must remain as restricted. After considering cash restrictions, effective unrestricted cash as of December 31, 2024 was approximately $4,493.

Our expectation to generate operating losses and negative operating cash flows in the future and the need for additional funding to support our planned operations raise
substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.
Management intends to raise funds through one or more financings. However, due to several factors, including those outside management’s control, there can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to complete such financings on acceptable terms or in amounts sufficient to continue operating the business under the operating
plan. If we are unable to complete sufficient additional financings, management’s plans include delaying or abandoning certain product development projects, cost reduction
efforts for our products, and refocused sales efforts to accelerate revenue growth above historical results. We have concluded the likelihood that our plan to successfully
reduce expenses to align with our available cash, while reasonably possible, is less than probable. Accordingly, we have concluded that substantial doubt exists about our
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months from the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities
in the ordinary course of business. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset
amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of the uncertainties described above.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP").

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassifications

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company reclassified one of its assets presented in the Note 6. Property and Equipment, net in the notes to our consolidated
financial statements. One of the assets have been reclassified to "Machinery and equipment" from "Furniture and office equipment" as applicable. Accordingly, prior period
amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation, in all material respects.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the balance sheet, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. For the Company, these estimates include, but are not limited to, intangible and tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business
combinations, the allocation of contract consideration to the individual performance obligations in our device sales arrangements, which impact revenue recognition
and deferred revenue, the provision for credit losses on accounts receivable, the valuation of warrants and employee equity awards, future warranty costs, accounting for
leases, useful lives assigned to long-lived assets, valuation of inventory, realizability of deferred tax assets, and contingencies. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Foreign Currency

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and equity investments, where the local currency is the functional currency, are translated from their respective functional
currencies into U.S. dollars at the rates in effect at the balance sheet date and revenue and expense amounts are translated at average rates during the period, with resulting
foreign currency translation adjustments recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a component of stockholders’ equity. Gains and losses from the re-
measurement of balances denominated in currencies other than the entities' functional currencies, are recorded in other expense, net in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
The Company's accumulated other comprehensive income consists of the accumulated net unrealized gains or losses on foreign currency translation adjustments. The
change in accumulated other comprehensive income presented on the consolidated balance sheets for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, is reflected in the table

below net of tax:

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive
Income
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 563
Net unrealized loss on foreign currency translation (407)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 156
Net unrealized gain on foreign currency translation 801
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 957

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and accounts receivable.

The Company's cash balances held in domestic banks are deposited into accounts at various financial institutions with each balance under the $250 Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance limit. The Company has significant cash balances at foreign financial institutions that regularly exceed the applicable country
cash deposit insurance limits of approximately $100 at each of the Company's two foreign banks. Any foreign exchange loss incurred or a lack of access to such funds could
have a significant adverse impact on the Company's financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

The Company extends credit to customers in the normal course of business. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable exist to the full extent of
amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements. The Company does not require collateral from its customers to secure accounts receivable. Accounts receivable
are derived from the sale of products shipped and services performed for customers primarily located in the U.S., Europe, Asia, and Australia. Invoices are aged based on
contractual terms with the customer.

Many of the sales contracts with customers outside of the U.S. are settled in a foreign currency other than the U.S. dollar. The Company does not enter into any foreign
currency hedging agreements and is susceptible to gains and losses from foreign currency fluctuations. To date, the Company has not experienced significant gains or losses
upon settling contracts denominated in a foreign currency.

The Company had two customers with an accounts receivable balance totaling 10% or more of the Company's total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2024, as
compared with no customers as of December 31, 2023.

The Company had one customer with sales of 10% or more of the Company’s total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (17% and 15%, respectively).
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company carries accounts receivable at invoiced amounts less an allowance (or "provision") for credit losses. The Company reviews accounts receivables for
collectability and determines an allowance for credit losses. The allowance for credit losses on accounts receivables reflects the Company’s best estimate of probable losses
inherent in the accounts receivable balance based on historical bad debt expense, the aging of the accounts, known troubled accounts, customer payment history, and other
currently available evidence. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 90 days.
Accounts receivables are charged off after all reasonable means to collect the full amount, including litigation where appropriate, have been exhausted. The Company has
not experienced material losses related to accounts receivable during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company's accounts receivable balances, net of
allowances, as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $7,238, $5,645 and $4,625, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is computed using the standard cost method, which approximates actual cost on a first-in, first-out
basis. Materials from vendors are received and recorded as raw materials. Once the raw materials are incorporated in the fabrication of the product, the related value of the
component is recorded as work in progress ("WIP"). Direct and indirect labor and applicable overhead costs are also allocated and recorded to WIP inventory. Finished
goods are comprised of completed products that are ready for customer shipment. The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of inventory on hand for potential
excess amounts over sales and forecasted demand. Excess and obsolete inventories identified, if any, are recorded as an inventory impairment charge within the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company's estimate of write-downs for excess and obsolete inventory is based on a detailed analysis which includes
on-hand inventory and purchase commitments in excess of forecasted demand. Subsequent disposals of inventories are recorded as a reduction of inventory.

48




Table of Contents
Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Inventories consisted of the following:

December 31,

2024 2023
Raw materials $ 3,551 $ 4,298
Work in progress 177 290
Finished goods 843 462
Inventories $ 4571 § 5,050

Leases

The Company records its leases in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 842, Leases. At
the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances present. Operating
lease liabilities and their corresponding right-of-use assets are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected lease term. The interest rate implicit
in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable. As such, the Company utilizes its incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate incurred to borrow on a collateralized
basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Certain adjustments to the right-of-use asset may be required for items,
such as initial direct costs paid or incentives received.

Lease expense is recognized over the expected lease term on a straight-line basis. Operating leases are recognized on the balance sheet as right-of-use assets, lease liabilities
current and lease liabilities non-current.

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. The Company recognizes the lease expense for such leases on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally
ranging from three to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the related term of the lease. The costs of repairs and
maintenance are expensed when incurred, while expenditures for refurbishments and improvements that significantly add to the productive capacity or extend the useful life
of an asset are capitalized.

The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable from the
estimated future cash flows expected to result from the Company’s use or eventual disposition. If estimates of future undiscounted net cash flows are insufficient to recover
the carrying value of the assets, the Company will record an impairment loss in the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value. If the assets are
determined to be recoverable, but the useful lives are shorter than originally estimated, the Company will depreciate or amortize the net book value of the assets over the
newly determined remaining useful lives. None of the Company’s property and equipment were impaired as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. No impairment loss has been
recognized in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Goodwill

The Company records goodwill when the purchase price of an acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired. The Company
performs an annual impairment assessment, or more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist, which includes evaluating qualitative and quantitative factors to
assess the likelihood of an impairment of goodwill. Such indicators include, among others, material departures from projected sales volume, deteriorating gross margins,
and uncertainties regarding continued commercialization as a result of changing business strategies.

The Company determined no impairment existed for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
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Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets include developed technology, acquired intellectual property, and customer relationships, in the case of finite-lived intangibles, and trade names in
the case of indefinite-lived intangibles. Finite-lived intangibles are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are tested for impairment at least annually or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually, or as deemed necessary if potential indicators of impairment exist.

The Company determined no impairment existed for the year ended December 31,2024 and December 31, 2023.
Warrant Valuation

The Company generally accounts for warrants issued in connection with debt and equity financings as a component of equity, unless the warrants include a conditional
obligation to issue a variable number of shares or there is a deemed possibility that it may need to settle the warrants in cash.

Where there is a possibility that the Company may have to settle warrants in cash, it estimates the fair value of the issued warrants as a liability at each reporting date and
records changes in the estimated fair value as a non-cash gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The fair values of these warrants
have been determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (the “Black-Scholes Model”) and the Binomial Lattice model (the "Lattice Model"). The Black-Scholes
Model requires inputs, such as the expected volatility, expected term, exercise price, risk-free interest rate, and the value of the underlying security. The Lattice Model
provides for assumptions regarding expected volatility, expected term, exercise price, risk-free interest rates, the value of the underlying security, and the probability of and
likely timing of a specific event within the period to maturity. These values are subject to a significant degree of the Company's judgment. The Company’s common stock
price represents a significant input that affects the valuation of the warrants.

Going Concern

The Company assesses its ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ASC 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements — Going Concern. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern.

Revenue Recognition

The Company records its revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised
products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products or services. The Company
enters into contracts that can include various combinations of products and services, which when capable of being distinct, are accounted for as separate performance
obligations. Revenue recognition is evaluated based on the following five steps: (i) identification of the contract with the customer; (ii) identification of the performance
obligations in the contract; (iii) determination of the transaction price; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v)
recognition of revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied.

For multiple-element arrangements, revenue is allocated to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. Standalone selling prices are
determined based on observable prices at which the Company separately sells its products or services. If a standalone selling price is not directly observable, judgment is
made to estimate the selling price based on market conditions and entity-specific factors including cost plus analyses, features and functionality of the product and/or
services, the geography of the Company’s customers, and type of customer. Any discounts or other reductions to the transaction price are allocated proportionately to all
performance obligations within the multiple-element arrangement. The Company periodically validates the stand-alone selling price for performance obligations by
evaluating whether changes in the key assumptions used to determine the stand-alone selling prices will have a significant effect on the allocation of transaction price
between multiple performance obligations.

The Company generally does not grant a right of return for its products. The Company exercised judgement to determine that a product return reserve was not required as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, as historical returns activity have not been material and the Company's expectations and estimates regarding future returns have not changed.
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Research and Development

Research and development costs consist of costs incurred for internal research and development activities. These costs primarily include salaries and other personnel-related
expenses, contractor fees, prototype materials, facility costs, supplies, and depreciation of equipment associated with the design and development of new products prior to
the establishment of their technological feasibility. Such costs are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, income tax expense or benefit is recognized for the amount of taxes
payable or refundable for the current year and for deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's
consolidated financial statements or tax returns. The Company accounts for any income tax contingencies in accordance with accounting guidance for income taxes. The
measurement of current and deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on provisions of currently enacted tax laws. The effects of any future changes in tax laws or rates have
not been considered.

For the preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements included herein, the Company estimates its income taxes and tax contingencies in each of the tax
jurisdictions in which it operates prior to the completion and filing of its tax returns. This process involves estimating actual current tax expense together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as deferred revenue, for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in net deferred tax
assets and liabilities. The Company must then assess the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be realizable, and to the extent they believe that realizability is not likely,
the Company must establish a valuation allowance. In assessing the need for any additional valuation allowance, the Company considers all the evidence available to it, both
positive and negative, including historical levels of income, legislative developments, expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income, and ongoing
prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

Stock-based Compensation
The Company measures stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance stock units ("PSUs") made to employees and directors
based on the Company’s closing stock price on the date of grant and recognizes the value on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards.

The Company records compensation expense for service-based awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the
award. For awards with performance-based conditions, at the point that it becomes probable that the performance conditions will be met, the Company records a cumulative
catch-up of the expense from the grant date to the current date, and then amortizes the remainder of the expense over the remaining service period. Management evaluates
when the achievement of a performance-based condition is probable based on the expected satisfaction of the performance conditions as of the reporting date. The amount
of stock-based compensation expense recognized during a period is based on the value of the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. The Company
accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

The Company measures stock-based compensation expense for stock options granted to employees and directors based on the estimated fair value of the award on the date
of grant and recognizes the fair value on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards. The Company determines the fair value of stock options on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes Model, which is affected by the Company’s stock price and assumptions regarding a number of subjective variables. These variables
include, but are not limited to, the Company’s stock price, volatility over the term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Due to
the lack of sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term, the Company adopted the simplified method of estimating
the expected term pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 14. On this basis, the Company estimated the expected term of options granted by taking the average of
the vesting term and the contractual term of the option.

The Company has, from time to time, modified the terms of its stock options and RSUs to certain employees and directors. The Company accounts for the incremental
compensation cost, which is the excess of the fair value of the modified award on the date of modification over the fair value of the original award immediately before the
modification, as an expense for vested awards or over the remaining service (vesting) period for unvested awards.
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Accounting Pronouncements Adopted in 2024

In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures ("ASU 2023-07"). ASU 2023-07 looks to provide improvements to the segment disclosure by providing users with more decision-useful information about
reportable segments in a public entity, which requires expanded annual and interim disclosures for significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss. Public entities that have a single reportable segment are required to apply the
disclosure requirements. ASU 2023-07 is to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements with an effective date for all public entities
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. This standard is applicable to the Company
due to the single reportable segment requirement. The Company has included all required disclosures within its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. As this
standard only impacts disclosures, it did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. For additional information, refer to Note 16.
Segment Disclosures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures ("ASU 2023-09"), to enhance income tax
reporting disclosures and require disclosure of specific categories in the tabular rate reconciliation. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024, on a prospective basis. Early adoption and retrospective application are permitted. The Company is not early adopting ASU 2023-09 and is currently evaluating the
impact of this pronouncement on the Company's related consolidated disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40):
Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“ASU 2024-03”), which requires disclosure about the types of costs and expenses included in certain expense captions
presented on the income statement. The new disclosure requirements are effective for the Company’s fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its related
consolidated disclosures.

3. Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock
Basic net loss per share of common stock is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per
share is computed, when applicable, using the weighted average number of shares of common stock, adjusted to include conversion of "in-the-money" stock options and

warrants for common stock and release of common stock in connection with restricted stock units during the period, net of tax as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023

Numerator
Adjusted net loss used for dilution calculation $ (11,330) 8 (15,198)
Denominator
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding(1) 20,161 13,867

Effect of potential dilutive shares — —
Dilutive weighted-average number of shares outstanding 20,161 13,867
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ 0.56) $ (1.10)

(1) Includes the weighted average effect of the Pre-Funded Warrant, the exercise of which requires nominal consideration for the delivery of the shares of common stock.
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The following table sets forth potential shares of common stock that are not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per common share because to do so would be anti-
dilutive as of the end of each period presented:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
Options to purchase common stock 183 252
Restricted stock units 1,025 1,305
Warrants for common stock(1) 12,995 1,240
Total common stock equivalents 14,203 2,797

( 1) Represents the number of shares of common stock underlying our outstanding warrants as of such dates, except for the 2,900 shares of common stock underlying the
Pre-Funded Warrant issued during the year ended December 31, 2024. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding, used in the basic and diluted Net
loss per share as of December 31, 2024, includes the weighted average effect of the Pre-Funded Warrant issued in connection with the September 2024 firm commitment
underwritten public offering, the exercise of which requires nominal consideration for the delivery of the shares of common stock. Refer to Note 12. Capitalization and
Equity Structure — Warrants for additional information regarding the warrants.
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4. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use
of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, may be
used to measure fair value which are the following:

*  Level 1-—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The Company considers a market to be active when transactions for the asset occur with
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

*  Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that
are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

*  Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. The valuation of
Level 3 investments requires the use of significant management judgments or estimation.

The Company’s fair value hierarchies for its financial assets and liabilities which require fair value measurement on a recurring basis are as follows:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2024

Liabilities

Warrant liabilities $ 1 3 — 3 — 3 1
December 31, 2023

Liabilities

Warrant liabilities $ 366 $ — 3 — 3 366

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 assets or liabilities reported at fair value on a recurring
basis and the valuation techniques used did not change compared to the Company’s established practice.

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of Company’s Level 3 financial liabilities during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
which were measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Warrant

Liability
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 233
Loss on revaluation of warrants issued in 2021, June 2020, December 2019, and May 2019 equity financings 133
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 366
Gain on revaluation of warrants issued in 2021, June 2020, December 2019, and May 2019 equity financings $ (474)
Loss on modification of warrant 109
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 1

See Note 12 in the notes to consolidated financial statements under the caption Capitalization and Equity Structure — Warrants for a description of the warrants accounted
for as a liability, including the method and inputs used to estimate their fair value.
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5. Revenue

The Company’s revenue is primarily generated through the sale and subscription of the EksoNR, Ekso Indego Therapy, and Ekso Indego Personal devices, along with the
sale of support and maintenance contracts. Revenue from device product sales is recognized at the point in time when control of the product transfers to the customer.
Transfer of control generally occurs upon shipment from the Company’s facility for sales of these devices. Support and maintenance contracts extend coverage beyond the
Company’s standard warranty agreements ranging from 12 to 48 months. Revenue is recognized evenly over the term of the contracts. Revenue from medical device
subscriptions is recognized evenly over the contract term, typically over 24 months.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue is comprised mainly of unearned revenue related to extended support and maintenance contracts, but also includes other offerings for which the Company
has been paid in advance and earns revenue when the Company transfers control of the product or service.

Deferred revenue consisted of the following:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Deferred extended maintenance and support $ 3,669 $ 3,993
Deferred device and advances 207 169
Total deferred revenues 3,876 4,162
Less current portion (1,956) (1,993)
Deferred revenues, non-current $ 1,920 8 2,169

On September 25, 2023, the Company entered into a warranty claim lump-sum agreement with Parker Hannifin Corporation ("Parker"), pursuant to which, among other
things, Parker paid the Company $700 for the release of Parker's obligation to reimburse the Company for its costs and expenses associated with servicing certain product
warranty obligations. The Company recorded the lump sum payment as deferred revenue and recognizes revenue as services are performed.

Deferred revenue activity consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Beginning balance $ 4,162 § 2,153
Deferral of revenue 3,331 4,727
Recognition of deferred revenue (3,617) (2,718)
Ending balance $ 3,876 $ 4,162

The Company expects to recognize approximately $1,956 of the deferred revenue during 2025, $1,023 in 2026, and $897 thereafter.
In addition to deferred revenue, the Company has a non-cancellable backlog of $3,364, which includes customer orders received but not fulfilled and other ancillary
products and services of $2,951, expected to be recognized across 2025 and 2026, and contracts for subscription units of $413, expected to be recognized across 2025 and

2026.
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Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue by major source for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Device revenue
Service and support
Subscriptions

Parts and other

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue by major source for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Device revenue
Service and support
Subscriptions

Parts and other

Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Total

13,323
3,121
527
954

17,925

Total

14,132
2,821
967
359

18,279

The Company operates in the following regions: (1) Americas, (2) Europe, the Middle East, and Africa region ("EMEA"), and (3) Asia Pacific region ("APAC"). Individual
countries with revenue greater than 10% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are disclosed separately from the regional totals. Geographic

information for revenue based on location of customers is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023
United States 9,712 $ 12,500
Other 421 495
Americas 10,133 12,995
France 3,006 181
Other 2,936 3,584
EMEA 5,942 3,765
APAC 1,850 1,519
17,925 § 18,279
6. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
Estimated December 31,
Life (Years) 2024 2023
Company-owned device fleet 1-5 2,572 $ 2,828
Molds and other tools 5-7 1,424 1,418
Machinery and equipment 3-7 380 401
Software 3-5 234 234
Leasehold improvement 1-3 194 178
Furniture and office equipment 3-7 114 114
4,918 5,174
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,341) (3,156)
Property and equipment, net 1,577 % 2,018

Depreciation expense of Property and equipment, net totaled $658 and $726 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31,

2024 2023
Salaries, benefits and related expenses $ 1,684 $ 2,058
Device warranty 474 461
Other 194 145
Total $ 2,352 $ 2,664

Warranty

Sales of devices generally include an initial warranty for parts and services for one year in the Americas, two years in the EMEA, and one to three years in the APAC.
Warranty costs are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as a component of costs of revenue. The current portion of the device
warranty liability is classified as a component of Accrued liabilities, while the long-term portion of the device warranty liability is classified as a component of Other non-
current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. A reconciliation of the changes in the device warranty liability for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as
follows:

Warranty
2024 2023
Balance at beginning of the period $ 566 § 413
Additions for estimated future expense 730 619
Incurred costs (641) (466)
Balance at end of the period $ 655 § 566
Current portion $ 474§ 461
Long-term portion 181 105
Total $ 655 § 566

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

On December 5, 2022, the Company acquired the Human Motion Control ("HMC") business unit from Parker (the "HMC Acquisition"). The assets acquired from the
business unit included intellectual property rights associated with the Ekso Indego Personal, Ekso Indego Therapy, Nomad, and future potential products in the orthotics and
prosthetics space.

Goodwill

The Company accounted for the acquisition as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, by applying the acquisition method, and
accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price
over the net assets acquired of $431 was recorded as goodwill. The goodwill recognized is attributed primarily to expected synergies of HMC with the Company.

The Company determined no impairment existed for goodwill in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the components of gross intangible assets, accumulated amortization, and net carrying values for definite- and indefinite-lived intangible
asset balances as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Developed technology $ 2,310 $ (598) $ 1,712 $ 2310 $ 310) $ 2,000
Trade name 2,310 N/A 2,310 2,310 N/A 2,310
Intellectual property 460 (6) 454 460 — 460
Customer relationships 140 (36) 104 140 (18) 122
Below market lease = — — 20 (20) —
Total intangible assets $ 5,220 $ (640) $ 4,580 $ 5,240 $ (348) $ 4,892

Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated lives using the straight-line method, which is estimated as eight years for developed technology, 12 years
for intellectual property and eight years for customer relationships. The acquired trade name was estimated to have an indefinite life, and consequently, no amortization
expense was recorded. The Company determined no impairment existed for intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The estimated future amortization expenses related to definite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2024 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount

2025 $ 345

2026 345

2027 345

2028 345

Thereafter 890
Total $ 2,270

Amortization expense related to the acquired definite-lived intangible assets was $312 and $325 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and was
included as a component of operating expenses and cost of revenue in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

9. Notes Payable, net
BoC Term Loan

In August 2020, the Company entered into a loan agreement (the "BoC Loan Agreement") with Pacific Western Bank, which merged with the Banc of California (the
"Lender") in 2024. The Company received a loan in the principal amount of $2,000 (the "BoC Term Loan") that bore interest on the outstanding daily balance at a rate equal
to the greater of: (a) 0.50% above the variable rate of interest announced by the Lender as its “prime rate” then in effect; or (b) 4.50%. The BoC Loan Agreement created a
first priority security interest with respect to substantially all assets of the Company, including proceeds of intellectual property, but expressly excluding intellectual property
itself.

The Company was required to pay accrued interest on the current loan on the 13th day of each month through and including August 13, 2023, at which time the unpaid
principal and accrued and unpaid interest was due and payable in full. On August 17, 2023, the Company entered into an amendment to the BoC Loan Agreement, extending
the maturity date to August 13, 2026 with interest-only payments until such date, having daily borrowings bearing interest at a variable annual rate equal to the greater of the
Lender's "prime rate" then in effect and 4.50%, and caused the Company to maintain all of its depository, operating, and investment accounts with the Lender. The Company
determined this amendment constituted a loan modification under ASC 470, and used the updated imputed interest rate to recalculate debt discounts, debt issuance costs and

final payment to be amortized over the new term.

The BoC Loan Agreement contains a liquidity covenant, which requires that the Company maintain cash in accounts of the Lender or subject to control agreements in favor
of the Lender in an amount equal to at least the outstanding balance of the BoC Term Loan, which was $2,000 as of December 31, 2024. It also contains a primary
depository covenant, which restricts the Company from having more than $1,000 held in subsidiary accounts outside of the United States. As of December 31, 2024, the
Company was compliant with all covenants.

The interest rate of the BoC Term Loan is subject to increase in the event of late payment and after occurrence of and during the continuation of an event of default. The
Company may elect to prepay the BoC Term Loan at any time, in whole or in part, without penalty or premium.
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The debt issuance costs and debt discounts combined with the stated interest resulted in an effective interest rate of 8.55% and 8.81% for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively. The debt issuance costs and debt discounts are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the loan.

Interest expense for the BoC Term Loan totaled $171 and $176 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The following table presents scheduled principal payments of the Company's BoC Term Loan as of December 31, 2024:

Period Amount
2026 $ 2,000
Total principal payments 2,000
Less debt discount and issuance costs 3)
Note payable, net $ 1,997
Current portion $ —
Long-term portion 1,997
Note payable, net $ 1,997

Parker Hannifin Promissory Note

In connection with the HMC Acquisition, on December 5, 2022, the Company delivered a $5,000 unsecured, subordinated promissory note (the "Promissory Note") to
Parker. The Promissory Note, subordinate to the BoC Term Loan, bears no interest with principal payable in sixteen equal installments due on the last day of each quarter,
which commenced on December 31, 2023 and matures on September 30, 2027.

The Promissory Note, upon the occurrence of an event of default, allows for the levying of interest equal to the lesser of (a) 5% per annum and (b) the maximum interest
rate permitted under applicable law on the then entire outstanding principal balance, and also for the acceleration of all outstanding liabilities and obligations, making them
immediately payable. Under the terms of the Promissory Note, the following occurrences constitute a default, and could, upon written notice or declaration by Parker, allow
for the levying of interest and or the acceleration of principal outstanding: (i) failure to pay any amount of the principal when due and payable, (ii) the dissolution of the
Company (including the declaration of bankruptcy), and (iii) the acquisition of the Company by another entity or the sale of substantially all of its assets to another entity.

The Company recorded the Promissory Note of $4,055 in its consolidated balance sheets under the captions Notes payable, current and Notes payable, net, estimating an
implicit discount rate of 7.5% via reference to the interest charged on the Company's BoC Term Loan and other relevant economic factors present at the execution date of
the Promissory Note. The amortization of debt discounts resulted in an effective interest rate of 7.79% and 7.18% for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The debt discount is amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the loan. Interest expense on the Promissory Note was
$271 and $320 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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The following table presents scheduled principal payments of the Promissory Note as of December 31, 2024:

Period Amount

2025 $ 1,250
2026 1,250
2027 937
Total principal payments 3,437

Less debt discount (330)

Note payable, net $ 3,107
Current portion 1,250
Long-term portion 1,857
Note payable, net $ 3,107

10. Lease Obligations

The Company's operating lease agreement for its headquarters and manufacturing facility in San Rafael, California (the "San Rafael Lease") commenced in July 2022 and
expires in November 2026, and it provides the Company with the option to renew for an additional three-year period at the prevailing market rate at the time of extension.

The San Rafael Lease constitutes an operating lease under ASC 842, and the Company estimates the lease term as July 2022 through November 2026. The option to extend
for a three-year period lacks significant economic incentives and disincentives, which would make exercise reasonably certain. Fixed lease payments for identified lease
components over the identified term have been discounted at the Company's estimated incremental borrowing rate as of the date of contract execution and are reflected in
the consolidated balance sheets under the captions Lease liabilities, current and Lease liabilities, and the corresponding right of use asset is reflected in the consolidated
balance sheets under the caption Right-of-use assets. Non-lease components, such as common area maintenance costs, are excluded from the lease liability calculation and
expensed as incurred. The Company records a straight-line monthly rent expense for the San Rafael Lease equal to the sum of all fixed lease payments divided by the
number of months in the lease term.

The Company's operating lease agreement for its office in Hamburg, Germany (the "Hamburg Lease") commenced in May 2022 and expires in June 2025, and it provides
the Company with an option to renew for one five-year period.

The Hamburg Lease constitutes a lease under ASC 842, and the Company estimates the lease term as May 2022 through June 2025. The option to extend for a five-year
period lacks significant economic incentives and disincentives which would make exercise reasonably certain. Fixed lease payments for identified lease components over
the identified term have been discounted at the Company's estimated incremental borrowing rate and are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets under the captions
Lease liabilities, current and Lease liabilities, and the corresponding right of use asset is reflected in the consolidated balance sheets under the caption Right-of-use assets.
Non-lease components, such as common area maintenance costs, are excluded from the lease liability calculation and expensed as incurred. The Company records a
straight-line monthly rent expense for this lease equal to the sum of all fixed lease payments divided by the number of months in the lease term.

The Company's operating lease agreement for its shared service and manufacturing facility in Brecksville, Ohio (the "Ohio Lease") commenced in June 2024 and expires in
July 2027, and it provides the Company with the option to renew for an additional three-year period at the prevailing market rate at the time of extension. In July 2024, the
Company relocated from its Macedonia, Ohio facility to the new Brecksville, Ohio facility.

The Company has determined that the Ohio Lease constitutes an operating lease under ASC 842 and estimates the lease term as July 2024 through July 2027. The option to
extend for a three-year period lacks significant economic incentives and disincentives, which would make exercise reasonably certain. Fixed lease payments for identified
lease components over the identified term were discounted at the Company's estimated incremental borrowing rate as of the date of contract execution and are reflected in
the condensed consolidated balance sheets under the captions Lease liabilities, current and Lease liabilities, and the corresponding right of use asset is reflected in the
condensed consolidated balance sheets under the caption Right-of-use assets. Non-lease components, such as operating costs, are excluded from the lease liability
calculation and expensed as incurred. The Company records a straight-line monthly rent expense for the Ohio Lease equal to the sum of all fixed lease payments divided by
the number of months in the lease term.
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The Company’s future lease payments as of December 31, 2024, which are presented as Lease liabilities, current and Lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets, are as follows:

Operating

Period Leases

2025 $ 481
2026 431
2027 41
Total lease payments 953

Less: imputed interest (74)

Present value of lease liabilities $ 879
Lease liabilities, current $ 427
Lease liabilities 452
Total lease liabilities $ 879
Weighted-average remaining term (in years) 1.9
Weighted-average discount rate 8.4%

Lease expense under the Company’s operating leases was $588 and $548, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

11. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company administers a 401(k) retirement plan (the "401(k) Plan"), in which all employees are eligible to participate. Each eligible employee may elect to contribute to
the 401(k) Plan. The Company makes matching contributions in the form of shares of the Company's common stock to the 401(k) Plan in an amount equal to 50% of
employee contributions (up to the statutory limit), subsequent to year-end. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company issued 163 and 161 shares of
common stock with a fair value of $237 and $249, respectively, to eligible employees’ deferral accounts for the 401(k) Plan matching contribution, representing 50% of
each eligible employee’s elected deferral (up to the statutory limit) for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The expense for the 401(k) Plan share matching was
$257 and $378 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

12. Capitalization and Equity Structure
Summary

The Company’s authorized capital stock as of December 31, 2024 consisted of 141,429 shares of common stock and 10,000 shares of preferred stock. As of December 31,
2024, there were 22,203 shares of common stock issued and outstanding and no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.

Common Stock

The holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of assets or funds legally available for the payment of dividends at such times and
in such amounts as the Board of Directors may determine. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders. There is no cumulative voting for the election of directors. The common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights and is not subject to conversion or
redemption. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the assets legally available for distribution to stockholders are distributable ratably among the
holders of the common stock after payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding payment of other claims of creditors. Each outstanding share of common
stock is duly and validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable.
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September 2024 Offering

On August 29, 2024, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC as underwriter (the "Underwriter") pursuant to which the
Company issued and sold, in a firm commitment underwritten public offering (the "September 2024 Offering"), 3,100 shares of common stock, a Pre-Funded Warrant to
purchase 2,900 shares of common stock (the "Pre-Funded Warrant"), Series A Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 6,000 shares of common stock (the "Series A
Warrants"), and Series B Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 6,000 shares of common stock (the "Series B Warrants"). The September 2024 Offering closed on September
3,2024. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $5,003 in the September 2024 Offering, after deducting the underwriting discount and commissions and
offering expenses paid by the Company. The Company is using the net proceeds from the September 2024 Offering for general corporate purposes, which includes growth
and expansion of our Personal Health products as the Company works to increase its revenue following the establishment of Medicare CMS reimbursement of the Ekso
Indego Personal device, research and development activities, selling, general and administrative costs, pursuing strategic initiatives, and meeting the Company's other
working capital needs.

January 2024 Offering

On January 10, 2024, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors to sell an aggregate of 2,968 shares of the Company’s
common stock in a registered direct offering (the “January 2024 Offering”) at an offering price of $1.55 per share. The net proceeds of the January 2024 Offering were
approximately $3,932 after deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses paid by the Company. The Company used the net proceeds from the January 2024
Offering for general corporate purposes, which included research and development activities, selling, general and administrative costs, strategic initiatives and to meet
working capital needs.

At the Market Offering

In October 2020, the Company entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement (the "ATM Agreement") with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (the "Agent"), under which
the Company may issue and sell shares of its common stock, from time to time, to or through the Agent. Offers and sales of shares of common stock by the Company
through the Agent may be made by any method deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined under SEC Rule 415 or in privately negotiated transactions, subject to
certain conditions. Such shares may be offered pursuant to the registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-272607) (the “Registration Statement”), which was declared
effective by the SEC on June 20, 2023, and a related prospectus supplement filed with the SEC on July 28, 2023 (the “ATM Prospectus™). Pursuant to the Registration
Statement and the ATM Prospectus, shares having an aggregate offering price of up to $5,000 may be offered and sold, subject to certain SEC rules limiting the amount of
shares of the Company’s common stock that may be sold by the Company under the Registration Statement. In June 2023, the Company entered into an amendment to the
ATM Agreement that removed the requirement that shares of the Company's common stock may not be sold for a price lower than $6.75 per share. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company sold 105 shares of common stock under the ATM Agreement at an average price of $1.43, for aggregate proceeds of $85, net of
commission and issuance costs. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold 451 shares of common stock under the ATM Agreement at an average price
of $1.59, for aggregate proceeds of $661, net of commission and issuance costs. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has $4,134 available for future offerings under the
prospectus filed with respect to the ATM Agreement.

Preferred Stock

The Company may issue shares of preferred stock from time to time in one or more series, each of which will have such distinctive designation or title as shall be
determined by its Board of Directors and will have such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such preferences and relative, participating, optional or
other special rights and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated in such resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such class or
series of preferred stock as may be adopted from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Warrants

Warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were as follows:

Remaining
Exercise term
December December

Source Price (Years) 31,2023 Issued Expired Exercised 31,2024
September 2024 Pre-Funded Warrants $ 0.001 i — 2,900 — (335) 2,565
September 2024 Series A Warrants $ 1.00 4.7 — 6,000 — — 6,000
September 2024 Series B Warrants $ 1.00 0.7 — 6,000 — — 6,000
2021 Warrants $ 12.81 1.1 273 — — — 273
June 2020 Investor Warrants $ 5.18 0.9 127 — — — 127
June 2020 Placement Agent Warrants $ 5.64 0.4 39 — — — 39
December 2019 Warrants $ 8.10 0.5 556 — — — 556
December 2019 Placement Agent Warrants $ 8.44 0.0 52 — (52) —
May 2019 Warrants $ 1.55 0.0 193 — (193) —

1,240 14,900 (245) (335) 15,560

(*) The September 2024 Pre-Funded Warrant exercise term does not expire.

335 warrants were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to no warrants exercised during the same period of 2023. The weighted average exercise
price of the warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2024 was $1.34.
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September 2024 Warrants

In September 2024, the Company issued the Pre-Funded Warrant to purchase 2,900 shares of common stock, with an exercise price of $0.001 per share, for $2,897 in
aggregate cash proceeds, which represents the September 2024 Offering price for the Company's common stock of $1.00, less the per share exercise price. The Pre-Funded
Warrant was exercisable immediately and does not expire.

In September 2024, the Company issued the Series A Warrants, which are exercisable for an aggregate of up to 6,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $1.00 per share. The Series A Warrants were exercisable immediately and expire on September 4, 2029.

In September 2024, the Company issued the Series B Warrants, which are exercisable for an aggregate of up to 6,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $1.00 per share. The Series B Warrants were exercisable immediately and expire on September 3, 2025.

The Pre-Funded Warrant, the Series A Warrants, and the Series B Warrants (collectively, the “September 2024 Warrants™) may be exercised, at the holder’s discretion, by (i)
payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of shares of common stock purchased upon such exercise or (ii) if there is not an effective registration
statement registering, or the prospectus contained therein is not available for the issuance of, the underlying common stock, a cashless exercise, in which case the holder
would receive upon such exercise the net number of shares of common stock determined according to the formula set forth in the applicable September 2024 Warrant.
However, a holder will not be entitled to exercise any portion of the September 2024 Warrants if the holder’s ownership of the Company’s common stock would exceed
4.99% (the “Beneficial Ownership Limitation”). The holder, upon notice to the Company, may increase the Beneficial Ownership Limitation to 9.99%, which increase shall
not be effective until the 61st day after such notice is delivered to the Company.

In the event the Company enters into a Fundamental Transaction, as defined in the applicable September 2024 Warrant, the Pre-Funded Warrant shall be automatically
cashless exercised, and the holders of the Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants will be entitled to receive, upon exercise of these warrants, the kind of amounts of
securities, cash, or other property that the holders would have received had they exercised these warrants immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction without regard
to the Beneficial Ownership Limitation contained in such September 2024 Warrant. In addition, upon a Fundamental Transaction, subject to certain limitations and
exceptions, the holder of the Series A Warrant may put the warrant back to the Company for an amount of cash equal to the Black-Scholes value of the remaining
unexercised portion of the Series A Warrant, however, if such Fundamental Transaction is not considered within control of the Company, and not approved by the
Company's Board of Directors, then the holder of the Series A Warrant would not be able to put the Series A Warrant back to the Company for cash.

The September 2024 Warrants are classified as a component of stockholders’ equity within additional paid-in capital and were recorded at the September 2024 Public
Offering issuance date. The September 2024 Warrants are equity classified because they (i) are freestanding financial instruments that are legally detachable and separately
exercisable from the equity instruments, (ii) are immediately exercisable, (iii) do not embody an obligation for the Company to repurchase its shares, (iv) permit the holders
to receive a fixed number of shares of common stock upon exercise, (v) are indexed to the Company’s common stock, and (vi) meet the equity classification criteria. In
addition, such September 2024 Warrants do not provide any guarantee of value or return.

2021 Warrants

In February 2021, the Company issued warrants ("the 2021 Warrants"), exercisable for up to 273 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $12.81 per
share. The 2021 Warrants were exercisable immediately and expire on February 11, 2026. The 2021 Warrants may be exercised, at the holder’s discretion, by (i) payment in
full in immediately available funds for the number of shares of common stock purchased upon such exercise or (ii) if there is not an effective registration statement
registering, or the prospectus contained therein is not available for the issuance of, the underlying common stock, a cashless exercise, in which case the holder would
receive upon such exercise the net number of shares of common stock determined according to the formula set forth in the 2021 Warrant. However, a holder will not be
entitled to exercise any portion of the 2021 Warrants if the holder’s ownership of the Company’s common stock would exceed the Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The
holder, upon notice to the Company, may increase the Beneficial Ownership Limitation to 9.99%, which increase shall not be effective until the 61st day after such notice is
delivered to the Company.

The 2021 Warrants will be automatically exercised on a cashless basis on their expiration date. The 2021 Warrants also contain a put option, under which, if the Company
enters into a Fundamental Transaction, as defined in the 2021 Warrants, the Company or any successor entity will, at the option of a holder of a 2021 Warrant, exercisable
concurrently with or at any time within 30 days after the consummation of such Fundamental Transaction, purchase such holder’s 2021 Warrant by paying to such holder an
amount of cash equal to the Black-Scholes value of the remaining unexercised portion of such holder’s 2021 Warrant within five trading days after the notice of exercise by
the holder of the put option. Because of this put-option provision, the 2021 Warrants are classified as a liability and are marked to market at each reporting date.

The warrant liability related to the 2021 Warrants is measured at fair value upon issuance and at each reporting date using certain estimated inputs, which are classified
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes Model to measure the fair value of the 2021 Warrants:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Current share price $ 061 § 2.50
Conversion price $ 1281  § 12.81
Risk-free interest rate 3.94% 4.20%
Expected term (years) 1.11 2.11
Volatility of stock 106.7% 76.5%

June 2020 Investor Warrants

In June 2020, the Company issued warrants (the "June 2020 Investor Warrants"), exercisable for up to 874 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$5.18 per share. The June 2020 Investor Warrants were immediately exercisable and expire on December 10, 2025. The June 2020 Investor Warrants may be exercised, at
the holder’s discretion, by (i) payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of shares of common stock purchased upon such exercise or (ii) if there is not
an effective registration statement registering, or the prospectus contained therein is not available for the issuance of, the underlying common stock, a cashless exercise, in
which case the holder would receive upon such exercise the net number of shares of common stock determined according to the formula set forth in the June 2020 Investor
Warrant. However, a holder will not be entitled to exercise any portion of the June 2020 Investor Warrants if the holder’s ownership of the Company’s common stock would
exceed the Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The holder, upon notice to the Company, may increase the Beneficial Ownership Limitation to 9.99%, which increase shall not
be effective until the 61st day after such notice is delivered to the Company.

The June 2020 Investor Warrants will be automatically exercised on a cashless basis on their expiration date. The June 2020 Investor Warrants also contain a put option,
under which, if the Company enters into a Fundamental Transaction, as defined in the June 2020 Investor Warrants, the holders of the June 2020 Investor Warrants will be
entitled to receive upon exercise of the June 2020 Investor Warrants the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property that the holders would have received had they



exercised the June 2020 Investor Warrants immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction. Alternatively, the Company or any successor entity will, at the option of a
holder of a June 2020 Investor Warrant, exercisable concurrently with or at any time within 30 days after the consummation of such Fundamental Transaction, purchase
such holder’s June 2020 Investor Warrant by paying to such holder an amount of cash equal to the Black-Scholes value of the remaining unexercised portion of such
holder’s June 2020 Investor Warrant. Because of this put-option provision, the June 2020 Investor Warrants are classified as a liability and are marked to market at each
reporting date.
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The warrant liability related to the June 2020 Investor Warrants is measured at fair value at each reporting date using certain estimated inputs, which are classified within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes Model to measure the fair value of the June 2020 Investor Warrants:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Current share price $ 061 § 2.50
Conversion price $ 518 §$ 5.18
Risk-free interest rate 4.03% 4.26%
Expected term (years) 0.94 1.94
Volatility of stock 89.7% 78.2%

June 2020 Placement Agent Warrants

In June 2020, the Company issued warrants (the "June 2020 Placement Agent Warrants"), exercisable for up to 122 shares of the Company’s common stock, to the
placement agent for such offering. The June 2020 Placement Agent Warrants have substantially the same form as the June 2020 Investor Warrants, including the put option
described above, except that they have an exercise price per share equal to $5.64, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, and expire on June 7, 2025.

Because of the put-option provision in the June 2020 Placement Agent Warrants, these warrants are classified as a liability and are marked to market at each reporting date.
The warrant liability related to the June 2020 Placement Agent Warrants is measured at fair value at each reporting date using certain estimated inputs, which are classified
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes Model to measure the fair value of the June 2020 Placement Agent

Warrants:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Current share price $ 061 § 2.50
Conversion price $ 564 $ 5.64
Risk-free interest rate 4.47% 4.54%
Expected term (years) 0.44 1.44
Volatility of stock 89.7% 83.0%

December 2019 Warrants

In December 2019, pursuant to a securities purchase agreement (the "December 2019 Offering"), the Company issued warrants (the "December 2019 Warrants") to purchase
556 shares of common stock. The December 2019 Warrants are currently exercisable, have an exercise price of $8.10 per share, and expire on June 21, 2025. The December
2019 Warrants may be exercised, at the holder’s discretion, by (i) payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of shares of common stock purchased upon
such exercise or (ii) if there is not an effective registration statement registering, or the prospectus contained therein is not available for the issuance of, the underlying
common stock, a cashless exercise, in which case the holder would receive upon such exercise the net number of shares of common stock determined according to the
formula set forth in the December 2019 Warrant. However, a holder will not be entitled to exercise any portion of the December 2019 Warrants if the holder’s ownership of
the Company’s common stock would exceed the Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The holder, upon notice to the Company, may increase the Beneficial Ownership
Limitation to 9.99%, which increase shall not be effective until the 61st day after such notice is delivered to the Company.
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The December 2019 Warrants will be automatically exercised on a cashless basis on their expiration date. The December 2019 Warrants also contain a put option, under
which, if the Company enters into a Fundamental Transaction, as defined in the December 2019 Warrants, the holders of the December 2019 Warrants will be entitled to
receive upon exercise of the December 2019 Warrants the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property that the holders would have received had they exercised the
December 2019 Warrants immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction. Alternatively, the Company or any successor entity will, at the option of a holder of a
December 2019 Warrant, exercisable concurrently with or at any time within 30 days after the consummation of such Fundamental Transaction, purchase such holder’s
December 2019 Warrant by paying to such holder an amount of cash equal to the Black-Scholes value of the remaining unexercised portion of such holder’s December 2019
Warrant within five trading days after the notice of exercise by the holder of the put option. Because of this put-option provision, the December 2019 Warrants are classified
as a liability and are marked to market at each reporting date.

The warrant liability related to the December 2019 Warrants is measured at fair value at each reporting date using certain estimated inputs, which are classified within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes Model to measure the fair value of the December 2019 Warrants:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Current share price $ 061 $ 2.50
Conversion price $ 8.10 § 8.10
Risk-free interest rate 4.43% 4.53%
Expected term (years) 0.46 1.47
Volatility of stock 89.3% 82.3%

December 2019 Placement Agent Warrants

In December 2019, in connection with the December 2019 Offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase 52 shares of the Company’s common stock to the placement
agent for such offering (the "December 2019 Placement Agent Warrants"). The December 2019 Placement Agent Warrants had substantially the same form as the December
2019 Warrants, except that they had an exercise price per share equal to $8.44, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, and expired on December 18, 2024.

The warrant liability related to the December 2019 Placement Agent Warrants was measured at fair value at each reporting date using certain estimated inputs, which are
classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes Model to measure the fair value of the December 2019

Placement Agent Warrants:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Current share price N/A $ 2.50
Conversion price N/A § 8.44
Risk-free interest rate N/A 4.82%
Expected term (years) — 0.97
Volatility of stock N/A 85.2%
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May 2019 Warrants

In May 2019, pursuant to an underwriting agreement, (the "May 2019 Offering"), the Company issued warrants (the "May 2019 Warrants") to purchase 444 shares of

common stock. The May 2019 Warrants had a five-year term from the date of issuance and expired in May 2024.

The warrant liability related to the May 2019 Warrants was measured at fair value at each reporting and exercise date using certain estimated inputs, which are classified
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Because of the price protection feature contained in the May 2019 Warrants, the Company used a combination of the Black-
Scholes Model and the Lattice Model to estimate the fair value of the warrants at each reporting period. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes Model

in combination with the Lattice Model to measure the fair value of the May 2019 Warrants:

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2024
Current share price N/A
Conversion price N/A
Risk-free interest rate N/A
Expected term (years) —
Volatility of stock N/A

$
$

1.88
3.52
5.28%
0.40
77.5%

( 1) As of December 31, 2023, management determined that a financing event was likely in the first quarter of 2024, and reduced the share price used in the model

by 25% in order to reflect the total amount that would be realized accordingly.
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13. Stock-based Compensation
2014 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2014, the Board of Directors and a majority of the stockholders adopted the Company's Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2014 Plan"), which
expired on January 31, 2024. Following such expiration and prior to the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting"), no grants were made under the 2014
Plan. On June 6, 2024, the Company held its Annual Meeting, whereby the Board of Directors and a majority of the stockholders adopted, amended, and restated the 2014
Plan (the "Restated 2014 Plan") to extend the term of the 2014 Plan until April 15, 2034, and to increase the total number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance
by 1,000 shares relative to the amount available for issuance at the time the 2014 Plan expired. As of December 31, 2024, the total number of shares authorized for grant
under the Restated 2014 Plan is shown in the table below:

Original share pool 137
2015 increase 111
2017 increase 67
December 2017 increase (ratified in June 2018) 293
2019 increase 233
March 2020 increase 333
December 2020 increase 800
2022 increase 550
2023 increase 1,200
2024 increase 1,000
Total shares authorized for grant as of December 31, 2024 4,724

Under the terms of the Restated 2014 Plan, the Board of Directors may award restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock options, stock appreciation rights and dividend
equivalent rights having either a fixed or variable price related to the fair market value of the shares and with an exercise or conversion privilege related to the passage of
time, the occurrence of one or more events, or the satisfaction of performance criteria or other conditions or any other security with the value derived from the value of the
shares.

Shares available for future grant as of December 31, 2024 under the Restated 2014 Plan was as follows:

Shares Available
For Grant
Available as of December 31, 2023 277
Share pool increase 1,000
Granted (703)
Forfeited 49
Expired 69
Available as of December 31, 2024 692

Restricted Stock Units
The Company issues time-based RSUs and PSUs to employees and non-employees. Each RSU and PSU represents the right to receive one share of the Company’s common
stock upon vesting and subsequent settlement. PSUs vest upon achievement of performance targets based on the Company's annual operating plan. The fair values of RSUs

and PSUs are determined based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

Combined RSU and PSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 is summarized below:

Weighted

Number of Average Grant-

Shares Date Fair Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 1,305 $ 1.67
Granted 703§ 1.08
Vested 934) $ 1.75
Forfeited 49) $ 1.76
Unvested as of December 31, 2024 1,025 g 1.22

The total grant-date fair value of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2024 was $1,204. As of December 31, 2024, $713 of total unrecognized
compensation expense related to unvested RSUs and PSUs was expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.29 years.

Stock Options

The Board of Directors may grant stock options under the 2014 Plan at a price of not less than 100% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date
the option is granted. The maximum term of an incentive stock option granted to participants may not exceed ten years. Subject to the limitations discussed above, the
Board of Directors determines the term and exercise or purchase price of other awards granted under the Restated 2014 Plan. The Board of Directors also determines the
terms and conditions of awards, including the vesting schedule and any forfeiture provisions. Options granted under the Restated 2014 Plan vest upon the passage of time,
generally four years, or upon the attainment of certain performance criteria established by the Board of Directors. The Company may grant options to purchase common
stock to non-employees for advisory and consulting services. Upon exercise of a stock option, the Company issues new shares of common stock.

A summary of the stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2024 is presented below:
Weighted

Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate



Outstanding at beginning of year
Forfeited

Expired

Outstanding at end of year
Vested and expected to vest
Exercisable at year end
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251  $ 36.19
— 3 _
68) $ 48.61
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No stock options were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

As no stock options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there was no related weighted-average grant date fair value. The total
grant date fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0 and $58, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options was $0.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2024:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average
Range of Remaining Weighted Weighted
Contractual
Exercise Number of Life Average Number of Average
Prices Shares (Years) Price Shares Price

$5.55 - 85.70 47 505 §$ 5.69 47 8 5.69
$9.15 - $26.39 62 395 § 16.88 62 $ 16.86
$26.85 - $54.15 47 332§ 31.69 47 8 31.71
$60.00 - $196.35 27 1.03 $ 108.43 27§ 108.43
183 3.63 S 31.53 183 ¢ 31.53
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Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation is included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in general and administrative, research and development, or
sales and marketing expenses, depending on the nature of services provided. Stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs and PSUs was recorded as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Sales and marketing $ 98 § 260
Research and development 220 423
General and administrative 1,055 1,175
$ 1,373 $ 1,858

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"). Under the ESPP, the Company has 33 shares of common stock reserved for issuance, subject to adjustment
in the event of a stock split, stock dividend, combination, reclassification or similar event. The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock at a discount through payroll deductions of up to 25% of their eligible compensation, subject to any plan limitations. The ESPP provides for six-month
offering periods. At the end of each offering period, employees can purchase shares at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the
first trading day of the offering period or on the last trading day of the offering period. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had not initiated employee enrollment to the
plan.

14. Income Taxes
The domestic and foreign components of pre-tax loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Domestic $ (11,576) $ (13,521)
Foreign 246 (1,677)
Loss before income taxes $ (11,330) $ (15,198)

The Company had no current or deferred federal and state income tax expense or benefit for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 because the Company generated
net operating losses, and currently management does not believe it is more likely than not that the net operating losses will be realized. The Company’s non-U.S. tax
obligation is primarily for business activities conducted through Germany and Singapore for which taxes were included in other expenses, net for the years ended December
31,2024 and 2023, and determined to be immaterial, and accordingly, such amounts were excluded from the following tables.

Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 differed from the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of
21% to pretax loss as a result of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023

Federal tax at statutory rate 21.0% 21.0%
State tax, net of federal tax effect — —
Research and development credit (0.1) 1.1
Change in valuation allowance (13.5) (12.5)
Unrealized gain on warrant 0.7 0.2)
Stock-based compensation 4.7) (1.7)
Other (2.8) (0.7)
Foreign (0.6) (7.0)
Total tax expense (benefit) —% —%
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The tax effects of temporary differences and related deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

December 31,

2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:
Depreciation and other $ 119 § 136
Net operating loss carryforwards 54,001 52,448
Research and development tax credits 2,210 2,219
Accruals and reserves 235 311
Capitalized research and development costs 1,817 1,422
Deferred revenue 400 220
Stock compensation expense 1,028 1,493
Lease assets 154 178
Other 48 50
Deferred tax liabilities:
Lease liabilities (133) (152)
Prepaid expenses (54) (56)
Less: Valuation allowance (59,825) (58,269)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ — 3 —

The Company’s accounting for deferred taxes involves the evaluation of a number of factors concerning the realizability of the Company’s net deferred tax assets. The
Company primarily considered such factors as the Company’s history of operating losses, the nature of the Company’s deferred tax assets, and the timing, likelihood and
amount, if any, of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences and carryforwards become deductible. The Company does not believe that
it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized; accordingly, a full valuation allowance was established and no deferred tax assets were shown in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The valuation allowance increased by $1,556 and $4,269 in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 ("TCJA") made a significant change to Section 174 that went into effect for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021. The
change eliminated the ability to currently deduct research and development costs. Instead, these costs must be capitalized and amortized. As a result, the Company
capitalized research and development costs of $3.9 million and $4.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $203,860. The federal net operating loss carryforwards of $120,792 generated
before January 1, 2018 will begin to expire in 2027, and $83,068 will carryforward indefinitely but are subject to the 80% taxable income limitation. The Company also had

federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $2,353 that will expire beginning in 2031, if not utilized.
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As of December 31, 2024, the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of $133,371, which will begin to expire in 2025. The Company also had state research
and development tax credit carryforwards of $752, which have no expiration.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $12,552. The foreign net operating loss carryforwards do not expire.

Utilization of the Company’s net operating losses and credit carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations in the event of a Section 382 ownership change. Such future
limitations could result in the expiration of net operating losses and credit carryforwards before utilization as a result of such an ownership change.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Beginning balances as of January 1, 2024 and 2023 $ 1,894 §$ 716
(Decrease) increase of unrecognized tax benefits taken in prior years (58) 9
Increase of unrecognized tax benefits related to current year — 1,169
Ending balances as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 $ 1,836 § 1,894

If the Company is able to recognize these uncertain tax positions, the unrecognized tax benefits would not impact the effective tax rate if the Company applies a full
valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets, as provided in the Company’s current policy.

The Company had not incurred any material tax interest or penalties as of December 31, 2024. The Company does not anticipate any significant change within 12 months of
this reporting date of its uncertain tax positions. The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various state jurisdictions, Germany, and Singapore. There are
no ongoing examinations by taxing authorities at this time. The Company’s tax years 2007 through 2024 will remain open for examination by the federal and state
authorities for three and four years, respectively, from the date of utilization of any net operating loss credits. The Company’s 2019 to 2024 tax years will remain open for
examination by the German tax authority for four years from the end of the year in which the applicable return was filed. The Company’s 2020 to 2024 tax years will remain
open for examination by the Singapore tax authority for four years from the date of the applicable assessment.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

Material Contracts

The Company has two license agreements with the Regents of the University of California to maintain exclusive rights to certain patents. The Company is required to pay
1% of net sales of licensed medical devices sold to entities other than the U.S. government. In addition, the Company is required to pay 21% of consideration collected from
any sub-licensee for the grant of the sub-license.
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The Company has two license agreements with Vanderbilt University to maintain exclusive rights to patents on the Company's behalf.
Under the Vanderbilt Exoskeleton License Agreement, the Company is required to pay 6% of net sales of licensed patent products and 3% of net sales of licensed software
products. The minimum annual royalty for licensed products is $250. The Vanderbilt Exoskeleton License Agreement will continue until April 29, 2038, unless sooner

terminated.

Under the Vanderbilt Knee License Agreement, the Company is required to pay 3.75% of net sales for licensed patent products and the minimum annual royalty is $75 due
on or before July 31, 2028 and $100 per year thereafter. The Vanderbilt Knee License Agreement will continue until February 15, 2041, unless sooner terminated.

Purchase Obligations

The Company purchases components from a variety of suppliers and uses contract manufacturers to provide manufacturing services for its products. Purchase obligations
are defined as agreements that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed,
minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction.

The Company had purchase obligations primarily for purchases of inventory and manufacturing related service contracts totaling $1,263 as of December 31, 2024, which
are expected to be paid within one year, and $2,783 as of December 31, 2023. Timing of payments and actual amounts paid may be different depending on the time of

receipt of goods or services or changes to agreed-upon amounts for some obligations.

The Company has operating lease commitments totaling $953 payable over the lease terms of the San Rafael Lease, the Ohio Lease and the Hamburg Lease as disclosed in
Note 10. Lease Obligations.

Other Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes the Company's outstanding contractual obligations, including interest payments, as of December 31, 2024 and the effect those obligations
are expected to have on its liquidity and cash flows in future periods:

Payments Due By Period
Less than
Total one year 1-3 Years
Term loan $ 2,260 $ 156 $ 2,104
Promissory note 3,437 1,250 2,187
Facility operating leases 953 481 472
Total $ 6,650 $ 1,887 $ 4,763

Loss Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to various legal matters. In the opinion of management, the resolution of such matters will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

16. Segment Disclosures

Operating segments are defined as components of a public entity for which discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker ("CODM") in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company's CODM is its chief executive officer who reviews financial
information, annual operating plans, and long-range forecasts, presented on a consolidated basis, for purposes of making operating decisions, evaluating financial
performance, and allocating resources. The Company is managed as a single operating segment that primarily serves people with physical disabilities or impairments in both
physical rehabilitation and mobility in the healthcare market. Managing the Company's business activities on a consolidated basis allows the Company to benefit from the
value its healthcare products provide across the care continuum.

The Company’s CODM uses net loss as presented on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss to measure segment loss and assesses financial
performance against expectations for the Company's single reportable segment to decide how to allocate resources. Additionally, the CODM reviews and uses segment
expenses included in net loss to manage the Company’s operations and assess operating performance. The measure of segment assets is reported on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets as total assets. The significant segment expenses regularly provided to the CODM are those presented on the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. These significant segment expenses include cost of revenue, sales and marketing, research and development and general and
administrative expenses. Other segment items that are presented on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss include interest expense, net, gain
(loss) on revaluation of warrant liabilities, loss on modification of warrant, unrealized (loss) gain on foreign exchange and other expense, net. The Company’s entity-wide
disclosures, including the breakout of revenue by major source and geographies, are included in Note 5. Revenue.
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17. Related Party Transactions

On February 4, 2023, the Company entered into a mutual release and settlement agreement with an entity to settle and resolve any and all potential claims brought forth in
connection with a consulting agreement executed between the entity and the Company in July 2017. Under the terms of the consulting agreement, the Company was
required to make milestone payments for the introduction of potential partners for, and the consummation of, a strategic joint venture. A member of the Company's board of
directors is affiliated with one of two entities under common control.

The total settlement amount was $325 and paid in cash over 14 months, with an initial payment of $145 paid in the first 40 days and $15 per month for the remaining 12

months. The total settlement amount was fully paid in April 2024. The Company had a liability of $0 and $60 related to this settlement on its consolidated balance sheets
under the caption Accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of December 31, 2024. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed by us under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the required time periods and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

It should be noted that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and
management necessarily applies its judgment and makes assumptions about the likelihood of future events. There can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote. Management believes that the financial statements included in this Annual Report
fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f). Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair
presentation of published financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013). Our management believes that based on such criteria, as of
December 31, 2024, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding our internal control over financial reporting. Our report was not
subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permits us to provide only management’s
report in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting:

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by (d) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15
that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
None.
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PART III
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, relating to our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, under the
heading “Corporate Governance,” to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2024.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, relating to our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, under the
headings “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation,” to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2024.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, relating to our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, under the
heading “Ownership of our Common Stock,” to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2024.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, relating to our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, under the
heading “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions,” to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2024.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, relating to our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, under the
headings “Audit Committee Report” and “Audit Fees and Services,” to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2024.
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PART 1V
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements and Schedules: The following financial statement documents are included as part of Item 8 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits filed with this Annual Report are set forth in the Exhibit Index.
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Exhibit Index
Exhibit
Number Description

2.1# Asset Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and Parker Hannifin Corporation, dated as of December 5, 2022 (incorporated by, reference
from Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2022)

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on April 26, 2023),

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form §8-K
filed on April 26, 2023)

4.1 Form of specimen certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on June 23,
2015)

4.2 Form of Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 11, 2019),

43 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
December 20, 2019),

4.4 Form of Placement Agent Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed December 20, 2019),

4.5 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 30, 2019),

4.6 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 10, 2020),

4.7 Form of Placement Agent Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 10,

2020)
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Subordinated Promissory Note between Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. and Parker Hannifin Corporation, dated as of December 5, 2022

Form of Series A Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 3, 2024)

Form of Series B Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 3, 2024)

At The Market Offering Agreement, by and among Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc., and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (incorporated by reference

Amendment No. 1 to At The Market Offering Agreement, dated June 12, 2023, between Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by, reference
from Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 12, 2023)

January 23, 2014)

Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed July 29, 2024)

filed January 21, 2022)
Jason Jones Offer Letter dated January 2, 2023

Jerome Wong Officer Offer letter, dated October 26, 2022 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed March 28, 2023)

ExoTech, Inc., d/b/a Berkeley ExoWorks (incorporated by _reference from Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
January 23, 2014)
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amendment dated as of June 15, 2014, the second amendment dated as of December 1, 2018, and the third amendment dated as of May 1,
2019) (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 28, 2023),

Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 28, 2023),

Vanderbilt Assignment and Assumption Agreement between Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc and Parker Hannifin Corporation, dated as of December

on Form 10-Q filed on May 13, 2014)

Form of Executive Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on May 13, 2014)

Form of Amendment to Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
March 11, 2019),

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
December 20, 2019),

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 17, 2020 by and among_the Registrant, EKSO Bionics Holdings, Inc., EKSO Bionics, Inc. and
Pacific Western Bank (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 21, 2020)

First Amendment to Loan Agreement with Pacific Western Bank, dated as of December 24, 2020 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.22 to
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 4, 2024)

to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 4, 2024)

Third Amendment to Loan Agreement with Pacific Western Bank, dated as of March 28, 2023 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed July 27, 2023)

Fourth Amendment to Loan Agreement by and among Pacific Western Bank, Ekso Bionics, Inc. and Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc, dated as of July
3,2023 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed July 27, 2023)

Fifth Amendment to Loan Agreement by and among Pacific Western Bank, Ekso Bionics, Inc. and Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc, dated as of August
17,2023 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 18, 2023)

Lease, dated July 15, 2022, between Don Tornberg and Ekso Bionics Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed March 28, 2023)

from Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed October 29, 2023),

Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. Insider Trading Policy

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 21.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 4, 2024)

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (WithumSmith+Brown, PC),

Power of attorney (included on signature page of this report)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)_under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. Compensation Recovery Policy (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 97.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed March 4, 2024)
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101 Interactive Data Files of Financial Statements and Notes.
101.ins Inline XBRL Instant Document
101.sch Inline XBRL Taxonomy Schema Document
101.cal Inline XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
101.def Inline XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
101.1ab Inline XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
101.pre Inline XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally
a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request.

Filed herewith

Furnished herewith.

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Item 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

The Company has elected not to include summary information.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

By: /S/ Scott G. Davis
March 3, 2025 Scott G. Davis
Chief Executive Officer

POWERS OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and Scott G. Davis and Jerome Wong, and each of
them, as his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities,
to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite
and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or
any of them or their substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/S/ Scott G. Davis Chief Executive Officer March 3, 2025
Scott G. Davis (Principal Executive Officer)
/S/ Jerome Wong Chief Financial Officer March 3, 2025
Jerome Wong (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
/S/ Mary Ann Cloyd Director March 3, 2025
Mary Ann Cloyd
/S/ Corinna Lathan Director March 3, 2025
Corinna Lathan, Ph.D.
/S/ Charles Li Director March 3, 2025

Charles Li, Ph.D.

/S/ Deborah Scher Director March 3, 2025
Deborah Lafer Scher
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Exhibit 10.10

CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM
THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (I) NOT MATERIAL AND
(I) WOULD BE COMPETITIVELY HARMFUL IF PUBLICLY
DISCLOSED. SUCH PORTIONS ARE MARKED AS INDICATED WITH
BRACKETS (“[***]”) BELOW.

101 Glacier Point
Suite A
San Rafael, CA 94901
hr@eksobionics.com

January 2, 2023

Jason Jones
[***]

Promotion Offer by Ekso Bionics, Inc.

Dear Jason,

Ekso Bionics, Inc. is pleased to promote you from the position of Senior
VP of Product Development to the position of Chief Operating Officer (COO)
with Ekso Bionics, Inc. (the "Company"). You will report directly to Scott Davis,
CEO. The terms of our promotion offer letter and the benefits currently provided
by the Company are as follows:

1.__Starting Salary. Your starting salary in this position will be Two
Hundred Ninety-Five Thousand Dollars ($295,000.00) per year and will be
subject to review from time to time by the Company to determine whether, in the
Company's judgment, your base rate should be changed. This position is exempt
from paid overtime as required by state and federal law, and therefore there is no
overtime pay. Base salary is paid per the Company's routine payroll procedures
and is subject to applicable withholding required by law.

2.__Bonus: You will continue to participate in our Short-Term Incentive
(STI) program which you will be awarded a percentage of your base salary based
on Company, Team, and Individual performance against annual milestones. Based
on the classification of your position, you will have a bonus potential of fifty
percent (50%) of your base salary. The Company reserves the right to amend it or
any other bonus plan at its absolute discretion.

3.__Benefits. You are eligible and may continue to participate in regular
health insurance and other employee benefit plans established by the Company for
its employees. The Company offers medical, dental, vision, a 401k plan, in
addition to the Company’s bonus plan, in addition to other benefits (Appendix A).
The Company reserves the right to change or otherwise modify, in its sole
discretion, the preceding terms of employment and company benefits.

4.__Discretionary: You will continue to receive discretionary, paid time
off from work, along with paid time off for Company observed holidays
(Appendix A). DTO can be used for purposes of time away from work, including
sick time. DTO will therefore not be accrued on a go-forward basis.

5.__Confidentiality. As an employee of the Company, you will have
access to certain confidential information of the Company. During your
employment, you may develop certain information or inventions that will be the
Company's property. During the period that you render services to the Company,
you agree to not engage in any employment, business, or activity that is in any
way competitive with the business or proposed business of the Company. You will
disclose to the Company in writing any other gainful employment, business, or
activity you are currently associated with or participate in that competes with the
Company. You will not assist any other person or organization in competing with
the Company or preparing to engage in competition with the Company's business
or proposed business.

6.__No Breach of Obligations to Prior Employers. You represent that
your signing of this promotion offer letter, agreement(s) concerning equity grants
to you, if any, under the Plan (as defined below) and the Company's Employee
Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement and your commencement
of employment with the Company will not violate any agreement currently in
place between yourself and current or past employers.

7.__Equity. The Board has approved an award of restricted stock units
to you, Jason, to be granted under the Company’s Amended and Restated 2014
Equity Incentive Plan for a number of shares to be equal to
$225,000 divided by the closing price of the Company’s common stock as quoted
on Nasdaq on issuing date of January 3nd at market close), which will vest in
thirds (1/3) on each annual anniversary of the issuing date, subject to your
continued employment with the Company. Grants shall be officially assigned
upon the successful refresh of Ekso’s employee equity award pool being voted on
at the 2023 annual shareholder’s meeting. Further details on the Plan and any
specific option grant to you will be provided upon approval of such grant by the
Company’s Board of Directors. It is also expected that you will be eligible to
receive future annual equity grants consistent with the Company’s executive
compensation practices a commensurate with your title and position. At their
discretion, the Board of Directors and the Company may also grant additional
equity for the exemplary achievement of key strategic milestones.

8. Termination By The Company without Cause.

(a) If the Company terminates your employment without
Cause (as defined below) at any time, you shall be entitled to the amounts and
benefits provided below subject to your execution and delivery to the Company a
Release in satisfaction of the Release Condition (as defined below):

(1) The Company shall pay to you severance in the form of
salary continuation at your base salary rate in effect on the
date of your employment termination, subject to the
Company's regular payroll practices and required
withholdings, for a period of six (6) months (the Severance
Period") commencing on the first payroll date on which
the Release Condition is satisfied. To the extent that any
severance payments are deferred compensation under
Section 409A of the Code, and are not otherwise exempt
from the application of Section 409A, then, if the period
during which you may consider and sign the Release spans
two (2) calendar years, the payment of severance will not
be made or begin until the second calendar year; and

(2) For the duration of the applicable Severance Period,
continuation of or reimbursement for your participation in
(1) the Company's group health plan on the same terms
applicable to similarly situated active employees during
the applicable Severance Period provided you were
participating in such plan immediately prior to the date of
employment termination; and (ii) each other Benefit
program to the extent permitted under the terms of such
program.

9.__Termination By The Company for Cause. Upon written notice to
you, the Company may terminate your employment for “Cause” if any of the
following events shall occur:

(a) any act or omission that constitutes a material breach by
you of any of your obligations under this letter;

(b) the willful and continued failure or refusal of you to
satisfactorily perform the duties reasonably required of you as an employee of the
Company, which failure or refusal continues for more than thirty (30) days after
notice given to you, such notice to set forth in reasonable detail the nature of such
failure or refusal,

(c) your conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to, (i) any
felony or (ii) a crime

involving dishonesty or misappropriation or which could reflect negatively upon
the Company or otherwise impair or impede its operations;

(d) your engaging in any misconduct, gross negligence, an
act of dishonesty (including, without limitation, theft or embezzlement),
violence, the threat of violence, or any activity that could result in any material
violation of federal securities laws, in each case that is harmful to the Company
or any of its affiliates;



(e) your material breach of a written policy of the Company
or the rules of any governmental or regulatory body applicable to the Company;

(f) your refusal to follow the directions of the CEO or the
Board, unless such directions are, in the written opinion of legal counsel, illegal
or in violation of applicable regulations; or

(g) any other willful misconduct by you that is materially
harmful to the company's financial condition or business reputation or any of its
affiliates.

10.__At-Will Employment: Your employment with the Company
continues to be for no specified duration and is at the will of both you and Ekso
Bionics, which means the employment relationship can be terminated by either of
us for any reason, at any time, with or without prior notice and with or without
cause. Any statements or representations to the contrary (and, indeed, any
statements contradicting any provision in this letter) should be regarded by you
as ineffective. Further, your participation in any stock option or benefit program
is not to be regarded as assuring you of continuing employment for any particular
period of time. Any modification or change in your at-will employment status
may only occur by way of a written employment agreement signed by you and
Scott Davis, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company.

11.__Entire Agreement. Once accepted, this offer constitutes the entire
agreement between you and the Company concerning the subject matter hereof.
It supersedes all prior offers, negotiations, and agreements, if any, whether
written or oral, relating to such subject matter. You acknowledge that neither the
Company nor its agents have made any promise, representation, or warranty
whatsoever, either express or implied, written, or oral, which is not contained in
this agreement to induce you to execute the agreement. You acknowledge that
you have executed this agreement in reliance only upon such promises,
representations, and warranties as are contained herein.

12.__Acceptance. This promotion offer will remain open until January
2,2023. If you decide to accept our offer and hope you will, please sign the
enclosed copy of this promotion letter in the space indicated and return it to me.

Your signature acknowledges that you understand the responsibilities or your role
as Chief Operating Officer as outlined in Appendix B. In addition, your signature
will acknowledge that you have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and
conditions of this promotion letter and the attached documents if any. Should you
have anything else that you wish to discuss, please do not hesitate to contact me.

We look forward to your success in your new position as Chief Operating Officer
(COO) of the Company.

Sincerely,

/s/ Scott Davis
Scott Davis (Chief Financial Officer)

I have read and understood this promotion offer letter. With this acknowledgment, I
accept and agree to the

terms set forth above and further acknowledge that no other commitments were
made to me as part of my

continued employment offer except expressly set forth herein.

[s/ Jason Jones Date signed: 01/02/2023
Jason Jones

Start Date: Your first day in your new position as Chief Operating Officer (COO)
is scheduled for January 2,

2023.

APPENDIX A
[*%%]

APPENDIX B
[*%%]



Exhibit 19.1
EKSO BIONICS HOLDINGS, INC.
INSIDER TRADING POLICY
(Amended and Restated on February 24, 2025)
A. POLICY OVERVIEW

Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. (together with any subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”) has adopted this Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) to help you
comply with the federal and state securities laws and regulations that govern trading in securities and to help the Company minimize its own legal and reputational risk.

It is your responsibility to understand and follow this Policy. Insider trading is illegal and a violation of this Policy. In addition to your own liability for insider
trading, the Company, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, could face liability. Even the appearance of insider trading can lead to
government investigations or lawsuits that are time-consuming, expensive and can lead to criminal and civil liability, including damages and fines, imprisonment and bars
on serving as an officer or director of a public company, not to mention irreparable damage to both your and the Company’s reputation.

For purposes of this Policy, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer serves as the Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer may designate others, from time to
time, to assist with the execution of his or her duties under this Policy.

B. POLICY STATEMENT

1. No Trading on Material Nonpublic Information. It is illegal for anyone to trade in securities on the basis of material nonpublic information. If you are in
possession of material nonpublic information about the Company, you are prohibited from:

a. using it to transact in securities of the Company;
b. disclosing it to other directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors or advisors whose roles do not require them to have the information;

c. disclosing it to anyone outside of the Company, including family, friends, business associates, investors or consulting firms, without prior written
authorization from the Compliance Officer; or

d. using it to express an opinion or make a recommendation about trading in the Company’s securities.

In addition, if you learn of material nonpublic information through your service with the Company that could be expected to affect the trading price of the
securities of another company, you cannot (x) use that information to trade, directly or indirectly through others, or (y) provide that information to another person in order to
trade, in the securities of that other company. Any such action will be deemed a violation of this Policy.

2. No Disclosure of Confidential Information. You may not at any time disclose material nonpublic information about the Company or about another company
that you obtained in connection with your service with the Company to friends, family members or any other person or entity that the Company has not authorized to know
such information. In addition, you must handle the confidential information of others in accordance with any related non-disclosure agreements and other obligations that
the Company has with them and limit your use of the confidential information to the purpose for which it was disclosed.

If you receive an inquiry for information from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, or a request for sensitive information outside the ordinary
course of business from someone outside of the Company, such as a business partner, vendor, supplier or salesperson, then you should refer the inquiry to the Compliance
Officer. Responding to a request yourself may violate this Policy and, in some circumstances, the law. Please consult the Company’s External Communications Policy for
more details.

3. Definition of Material Nonpublic Information. “Material information” means information that a reasonable investor would be substantially likely to consider
important in deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities or would view as significantly altering the total mix of information available in the marketplace about the issuer
of the securities. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of a security is likely to be material. Either positive or negative

information may be material.

It is not possible to define all categories of “material” information. However, some examples of information that could be regarded as material include, but are not
limited to:

a. financial results, key metrics, financial condition, earnings pre-announcements, guidance, projections or forecasts, particularly if inconsistent with the
Company’s guidance or the expectations of the investment community;

b. restatements of financial results, or material impairments, write-offs or restructurings;

c. changes in independent auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report;

d. business plans or budgets;

e. creation of significant financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation;
f. impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems;

g. significant developments involving business relationships, including execution, modification or termination of significant agreements or orders with
customers, suppliers, distributors, manufacturers or other business partners;

h. significant information relating to the operation of product or service, such as new products or services, major modifications or performance issues,
defects or recalls, significant pricing changes or other announcements of a significant nature;

i.  significant developments in research and development or relating to intellectual property;

j. significant legal or regulatory developments, whether positive or negative, actual or threatened, including litigation or resolving litigation;



k. major events involving the Company’s securities, including calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock repurchase programs, option repricings,
stock splits, changes in dividend policies, public or private securities offerings, modification to the rights of security holders or notice of delisting;

. significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed merger, joint venture or tender offer, a significant investment, the acquisition or disposition of
a significant business or asset or a change in control of the Company;

m. major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or employee layoffs;

n. data breaches or other cybersecurity events;

0. updates regarding any prior material disclosure that has materially changed; and

p. the existence of a special blackout period;

q. operations of the Company;

r. manufacturing of the Company; and

s.  plans of expansion of the Company.

“Material nonpublic information” means material information that is not generally known or made available to the public. Even if information is widely known

throughout the Company, it may still be nonpublic. Generally, in order for information to be considered public, it must be made generally available through media outlets or

SEC filings.

After the release of information, a reasonable period of time must elapse in order to provide the public an opportunity to absorb and evaluate the information
provided. As a general rule, at least one (1) full trading day must pass after the dissemination of information before such information is considered public.

As a rule of thumb, if you think something might be material nonpublic information, it probably is. You can always reach out to the Compliance Officer if you have
questions.

C. PERSONS COVERED BY THIS POLICY

This Policy applies to you if you are a director, officer, employee, consultant, contractor or advisor of the Company, both inside and outside of the United States. To
the extent applicable to you, this Policy also covers your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic
dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control. You are responsible for making sure that these other individuals and entities
comply with this Policy.

This Policy continues to apply even if you leave the Company or are otherwise no longer affiliated with or providing services to the Company, for as long as you
remain in possession of material nonpublic information. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this Policy at the time you leave the Company, you must
abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period.

D. TRADING COVERED BY THIS POLICY

Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), this Policy applies to all transactions involving the Company’s securities or other
companies’ securities for which you possess material nonpublic information obtained in connection with your service with the Company. This Policy therefore applies to:

1. any purchase, sale, loan or other transfer or disposition of any equity securities (including common stock, options, restricted stock units, warrants and preferred
stock) and debt securities (including debentures, bonds and notes) of the Company and such other companies, whether direct or indirect (including transactions made on
your behalf by money managers), and any offer to engage in the foregoing transactions;

2. any disposition in the form of a gift of any securities of the Company;

3. any distribution to holders of interests in an entity if the entity is subject to this Policy; and

4. any other arrangement that generates gains or losses from or based on changes in the prices of such securities including derivative securities (for example,
exchange-traded put or call options, swaps, caps and collars), hedging and pledging transactions, short sales and certain arrangements regarding participation in benefit
plans, and any offer to engage in the foregoing transactions.

There are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction or the type of consideration received.

E. TRADING RESTRICTIONS

Subject to the exceptions set forth below, this Policy restricts trading during certain periods and by certain people as follows:

1. Quarterly Blackout Periods. Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), all directors, officers and employees identified by the
Company must refrain from conducting transactions involving the Company’s securities during quarterly blackout periods. To the extent applicable to you, quarterly
blackout periods also cover your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents, and any entity whose

transactions in securities you influence, direct or control. Even if you are not specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should exercise
caution when engaging in transactions during quarterly blackout periods because of the heightened risk of insider trading exposure.

Quarterly blackout periods will start at the end of the fifteenth day of the third month of each fiscal quarter and will end at the start of the second full trading day
following the Company’s earnings release.

The prohibition against trading during the blackout period also means that brokers cannot fulfill open orders on your behalf or on behalf of your immediate family
members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents, or any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or
control, during the blackout period, including “limit orders” to buy or sell stock at a specific price or better and “stop orders” to buy or sell stock once the price of the stock
reaches a specified price. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements, you should so inform any broker with whom such an open order is placed at
the time it is placed.



2. Special Blackout Periods. The Company always retains the right to impose additional or longer trading blackout periods at any time on any or all of its
directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors. The Compliance Officer will notify you in writing if you are subject to a special blackout period. If you
are notified that you are subject to a special blackout period, you may not engage in any transaction involving the Company’s securities until the special blackout period has
ended other than the transactions that are covered by the exceptions below. You also may not disclose to anyone else that the Company has imposed a special blackout
period. To the extent applicable to you, special blackout periods also cover your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are
your economic dependents, and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control.

3. Regulation BTR Blackouts. Directors and officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction, or
Regulation BTR, under U.S. federal securities laws. In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any director or officer from engaging in certain transactions involving the
Company’s securities during periods when 401(k) plan participants are prevented from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or transferring an interest in certain
securities held in individual account plans. Any profits realized from a transaction that violates Regulation BTR are recoverable by the Company, regardless of the
intentions of the director or officer effecting the transaction. In addition, individuals who engage in such transactions are subject to sanction by the SEC as well as potential
criminal liability. The Company will endeavor to notify directors and officers if they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR. Failure to comply
with an applicable trading blackout in accordance with Regulation BTR is a violation of law and this Policy.

F. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS
You may not engage in any of the following types of transactions other than as noted below, regardless of whether you have material nonpublic information or not.

1. Short Sales. You may not engage in short sales (meaning the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) or “sell short against the box”
(meaning the sale of a security with a delayed delivery) if such sales involve the Company’s securities.

2. Derivative Securities and Hedging Transactions. You may not, directly or indirectly, (a) trade in publicly traded options, such as puts and calls, and other
derivative securities with respect to the Company’s securities (other than stock options, restricted stock units and other compensatory awards issued to you by the Company)
or (b) purchase financial instruments (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds), or otherwise engage in transactions, that
hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of Company equity securities either (i) granted to you by the Company as part of your
compensation or (ii) held, directly or indirectly, by you.

3. Pledging Transactions. You may not pledge the Company’s securities as collateral for any loan or as part of any other pledging transaction.
4. Margin Accounts. You may not hold the Company’s common stock in margin accounts.
G. PRE-CLEARANCE OF TRADES

The Company’s directors, officers, employees and any other persons covered by this Policy who the Compliance Officer determines may have regular or special
access to material nonpublic information (with a list of such other persons being maintained by the Compliance Officer) must obtain pre-clearance prior to trading the
Company’s securities. If you are subject to pre-clearance requirements, you should submit a pre-clearance request in the form provided by the Compliance Officer prior to
your desired trade date. The person requesting pre-clearance will be asked to certify that he or she is not in possession of material nonpublic information about the
Company. The Compliance Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction.

If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or their delegate, must pre-clear or deny any trade.
At the recommendation of the Compliance Officer, trades made by the Chief Executive Officer and other officers also must be approved by a committee of the Company’s
board of directors. All trades must be executed within two business days of any pre-clearance.

Even after preclearance, a person may not trade the Company’s securities if they become subject to a blackout period or aware of material nonpublic information
prior to the trade being executed.

H. EXCEPTIONS TO TRADING RESTRICTIONS

There are no unconditional “safe harbors” for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should exercise good judgment at all times.
Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the Company’s securities because you possess
material nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy.

Other than the limited exceptions set forth below, any other exceptions to this Policy must be approved by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the
Company’s board of directors or an independent committee of the board of directors.

The following are certain limited exceptions to the quarterly and special blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements imposed by the Company
under this Policy:

1. stock option exercises where the purchase price of such stock options is paid in cash and there is no other associated market activity;
2. purchases pursuant to the employee stock purchase plan; however, this exception does not apply to subsequent sales of the shares;
3. receipt and vesting of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock or other equity compensation awards from the Company;

4.  net share withholding with respect to equity awards where shares are withheld by the Company in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x) as
required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the
Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic
information;

5. sell to cover transactions where shares are sold on your behalf upon vesting of equity awards and sold in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x) as
required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the
Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic
information; however, this exception does not apply to any other market sale for the purposes of paying required withholding;

6. transactions made pursuant to a valid 10b5-1 trading plan approved by the Company (see Section I (10b5-1 Trading Plans) below);
7. purchases of the Company’s stock in the 401(k) plan resulting from periodic contributions to the plan based on your payroll contribution election; provided,

however; that the blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements do apply to elections you make under the 401(k) plan to (a) increase or decrease the amount of
your contributions under the 401(k) plan if such increase or decrease will increase or decrease the amount of your contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock



fund, (b) increase or decrease the percentage of your contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock fund, (c) move balances into or out of a Company stock fund,
(d) borrow money against your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in liquidation of some or all of your Company stock fund balance, and (e) prepay a plan loan if the
pre-payment will result in the allocation of loan proceeds to a Company stock fund,

8. transfers by will or the laws of descent or distribution and, provided that prior written notice is provided to the Compliance Officer, distributions or transfers
(such as certain tax planning or estate planning transfers) that effect only a change in the form of beneficial interest without changing your pecuniary interest in the
Company’s securities; and

9. changes in the number of the Company’s securities you hold due to a stock split or a stock dividend that applies equally to all securities of a class, or similar
transactions.

If there is a Regulation BTR blackout (and no quarterly or special blackout period), then the limited exceptions set forth in Regulation BTR will apply. Please be
aware that even if a transaction is subject to an exception to this Policy, you will need to separately assess whether the transaction complies with applicable law.

I. 10B5-1 TRADING PLANS

The Company permits its directors, officers and employees to adopt written 10b5-1 trading plans in order to mitigate the risk of trading on material nonpublic
information. These plans allow for individuals to enter into a prearranged trading plan as long as the plan is not established or modified during a blackout period or when the
individual is otherwise in possession of material nonpublic information. To be approved by the Company and qualify for the exception to this Policy, any 10b5-1 trading
plan adopted by a director, officer or employee must be submitted to the Compliance Officer for approval and comply with the requirements set forth in the Requirements
for Trading Plans attached as Exhibit A. If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or their delegate,
must approve the written 10b5-1 trading plan.

J.  SECTION 16 COMPLIANCE

All of the Company’s officers and directors and certain other individuals are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and
related rules and regulations that set forth reporting obligations, limitations on “short swing” transactions, which are certain matching purchases and sales of the Company’s
securities within a six-month period, and limitations on short sales.

To ensure transactions subject to Section 16 requirements are reported on time, each person subject to these requirements must provide the Company with detailed
information (for example, trade date, number of shares, exact price, etc.) about his or her transactions involving the Company’s securities.

The Company is available to assist in filing Section 16 reports, but the obligation to comply with Section 16 is personal. If you have any questions, you should
check with the Compliance Officer.

K. VIOLATIONS OF THIS POLICY

Company directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors who violate this Policy will be subject to disciplinary action by the Company,
including ineligibility for future Company equity or incentive programs or termination of employment or an ongoing relationship with the Company. The Company has full
discretion to determine whether this Policy has been violated based on the information available.

There are also serious legal consequences for individuals who violate insider trading laws, including large criminal and civil fines, significant imprisonment terms
and disgorgement of any profits gained or losses avoided. You may also be liable for improper securities trading by any person (commonly referred to as a “tippee”) to
whom you have disclosed material nonpublic information that you have learned through your position at the Company or made recommendations or expressed opinions
about securities trading on the basis of such information.

Please consult with your personal legal and financial advisors as needed. Note that the Company’s legal counsel, both internal and external, represent the Company
and not you personally. There may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction because of the
restrictions imposed by this Policy or under securities laws. If you were aware of the material nonpublic information at the time of the trade, it is not a defense that you did
not “use” the information for the trade. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under securities laws and will not excuse
your failure to comply with this Policy. In addition, a blackout or trading-restricted period will not extend the term of your options. As a consequence, you may be prevented
from exercising your options by this Policy or as a result of a blackout or other restriction on your trading, and as a result your options may expire by their term. In such
instances, the Company cannot extend the term of your options and has no obligation or liability to replace the economic value or lost benefit to you. It is your responsibility
to manage your economic interests and to consider potential trading restrictions when determining whether to exercise your options.

L. PROTECTED ACTIVITY NOT PROHIBITED

Nothing in this Policy, or any related guidelines or other documents or information provided in connection with this Policy, shall in any way limit or prohibit you
from engaging in any of the protected activities set forth in the Company’s Whistleblower Policy, as amended from time to time.

M. REPORTING

If you believe someone is violating this Policy or otherwise using material nonpublic information that they learned through their position at the Company to trade
securities, you should report it to the Compliance Officer, or if the Compliance Officer is implicated in your report, then you should report it in accordance with the
Company’s Whistleblower Policy.

N. AMENDMENTS

The Company reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time, for any reason, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, and with or without notice,
although it will attempt to provide notice in advance of any change. Unless otherwise permitted by this Policy, any amendments must be approved by the Board of Directors
of the Company.

EXHIBIT A
REQUIREMENTS FOR TRADING PLANS
For transactions under a trading plan to be exempt from (A) the prohibitions in the Company’s Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.
(together with any subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”) with respect to transactions made while aware of material nonpublic information and (B) the pre-clearance

procedures and blackout periods established under the Policy, the trading plan must comply with the affirmative defense set forth in Exchange Act Rule 10b5-1 and must
meet the following requirements (collectively, the “Trading Plan Requirements”):



1. The trading plan must be in writing and signed by the person adopting the trading plan.
2. The trading plan must be adopted at a time when:
a. the person adopting the trading plan is not aware of any material nonpublic information; and
b. there is no quarterly, special or other trading blackout in effect with respect to the person adopting the plan.

3. The trading plan must be entered in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1, and the person adopting the
trading plan must act in good faith with respect to the trading plan.

4. The trading plan must include representations that, on the date of adoption of the trading plan, the person adopting the trading plan:
e is not aware of material nonpublic information about the securities or the Company; and
e is adopting the trading plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1.

5. The person adopting the trading plan may not have entered into or altered a corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the securities
subject to the trading plan and must agree not to enter into any such transaction while the trading plan is in effect.

6. The first trade under the trading plan may not occur until the expiration of a cooling-off period consisting of the later of (a) 90 calendar days after the adoption
of the trading plan and (b) two business days after the filing by the Company of its financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which
the trading plan was adopted (but, in any event, this required cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the trading plan).

7. The trading plan must have a minimum term of one (1) year (starting from the date of adoption of the trading plan).

8. No transactions may occur during the term of the trading plan (except for the “Exceptions to Trading Restrictions” identified in the Policy and bona fide gifts )
except for those transactions specified in the trading plan. In addition, the person adopting the trading plan may not have an outstanding (and may not subsequently enter
into any additional) trading plan except as permitted by Rule 10b5-1. For example, as contemplated by Rule 10b5-1, a person may adopt a new trading plan before the
scheduled termination date of an existing trading plan, so long as the first scheduled trade under the new trading plan does not occur prior to the last scheduled trade(s) of
the existing trading plan and otherwise complies with these guidelines. Termination of the existing trading plan prior to its scheduled termination date may impact the
timing of the first trade or the availability of the affirmative defense for the new trading plan; therefore, persons adopting a new trading plan are advised to exercise caution
and consult with the Compliance Officer prior to the early termination of an existing trading plan.

9. Any modification or change to the amount, price or timing of transactions under the trading plan is deemed the termination of the trading plan, and the
adoption of a new trading plan (“Moedification”). Therefore, a Modification must be submitted to the Compliance Officer for approval in accordance with Section I of the

Policy and is subject to the same conditions as a new trading plan as set forth in Sections 1 through 8 herein.

10.  Within the one (1) year preceding the adoption or Modification of a trading plan, a person may not have otherwise adopted or made a Modification to a plan
more than once.

11. A person may adopt a trading plan designed to cover a single trade only once in any consecutive 12-month period except as permitted by Rule 10b5-1.

12.  If the person that adopted the trading plan terminates the plan prior to its stated duration, he or she may not trade in the Company’s securities until after the
expiration of 30 calendar days following termination, and then only in accordance with the Policy.

13.  The Company must be promptly notified of any termination of the trading plan, including any suspension of trading under the trading plan.

14.  The Company must have authority to require the suspension of the plan if there are legal, regulatory or contractual restrictions applicable to the Company or
the person that adopted the trading plan, or to require the cancellation of the trading plan at any time, subject to any reasonable broker notice requirements as may be set
forth in the trading plan.

15. If the trading plan grants discretion to a stockbroker or other person with respect to the execution of trades under the trading plan:

a. the person adopting the trading plan may not exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect purchases or sales under the plan;
b. the person adopting the trading plan may not confer with the person administering the trading plan regarding the Company or its securities; and
c. the person administering the trading plan must provide prompt notice to the Company of the execution of a transaction pursuant to the plan.

16. All transactions under the trading plan must be in accordance with applicable law.

17.  Any exceptions to the Trading Plan Requirements must be approved by the Compliance Officer or, in the case of directors and officers who are subject
Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the Company’s board of directors, chair of the board, an independent

committee of the board of directors, or the chair of such independent committee.

18. The trading plan (including any Modification) must meet such other requirements as the Compliance Officer may determine.



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

‘We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-1 (No. 333-195783, No. 333-239679 and No. 333-281081), Form S-3 (No.
333-205168, No. 333-218517, No. 333-220807, No. 333-239203 and No. 333 272607) and Form S-8 (No. 333-198357, No. 333-207131, No. 333-220808, No. 333-222663,
No. 333-226037, No. 333-230404, No. 333-232512, No. 333-236412, No. 333-237527, No. 333-253526, No. 333-253529, No. 333-263035, No. 333-266218, No. 333-
270961, No. 333-272610, No. 333-278030 and No. 333-281086) of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. of our report dated March 3, 2025, which includes an explanatory

paragraph regarding Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.
which appears in this Form 10-K as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

/s/ WithumSmith+Brown, PC

San Francisco, California
March 3, 2025



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Scott G. Davis, certify that:

M
@

3)

“4)

(%)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company
and have:

(2)

(b)

©

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(2)

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2025

/s/ Scott G. Davis
Scott G. Davis
Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Jerome Wong, certify that:

M
@

3)

“4)

(%)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company
and have:

(2)

(b)

©

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(2)

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2025

/s/ Jerome Wong
Jerome Wong
Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION BY THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report™), I, Scott G. Davis, President and Chief Executive Officer and principal executive officer, hereby certify as of the date
hereof, solely for purposes of 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates
and for the periods indicated.

Dated: March 3, 2025

/s/ Scott G. Davis
Scott G. Davis
Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION BY THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ekso Bionics Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Jerome Wong, Chief Financial Officer and principal financial officer, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for
purposes of 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates
and for the periods indicated.

Dated: March 3, 2025

/s/ Jerome Wong
Jerome Wong
Principal Accounting and Financial Officer




